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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

(Loss)/profit for the year ARRIRFEER
attributable to equity holders 2PN
of the Company (B518),/ 5 A (2,646)
HK$
BT

(Loss)/earnings per share SR(ER)/BF (0.33)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The year past has brought major economic pressure to bear
on global markets. Now being referred to in some quarters as
a global ‘tsunami’, the unfolding economic crisis originated
in the United States but has quickly impacted on worldwide
equity markets, while also directly hitting the banking sector.

China’s economy had been riding high, but it slowed
considerably during the year as the global economic crisis
reduced overseas demand for its exports. This has directly
affected the real estate market in China, traditionally sensitive
to wider economic moods. Across the board we have seen
construction projects slowing down, domestic demand for
new properties dropping, and a general decline in property
prices. HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC” or “the Company”,
with its subsidiaries, collectively, “the Group”) has not been
exempt from these trends, and our results for the year do
show a significant decline compared with those for 2007.

One of the major reasons behind the net earnings decline
was the need to adjust the fair value of the Group’s properties
in China to reflect the general fall in property prices. Given the
China property markets are likely to improve, management
believes a repetition of these substantial writeoffs is unlikely.

In addition to the property writeoffs, the Group had to register
a non cash impairment loss on goodwill arising from the
acquisition of Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“HKE”)
(formerly known as J.I.C. Technology Company Limited),
whose securities are listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. With the world markets
and oil prices declining sharply, sentiment towards alternative
energy stocks like HKE also declined.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

There were two other important factors in shaping the
Group’s results for the year. One was the need to provide
the impairment loss related to the Group’s ethanol project in
Chongging. Qil prices, and as a result, ethanol prices have
declined sharply since the plant began operation, resulting in
operating losses. The second was lower than expected traffic
flow for the Group’s toll road in Guilin. However, recently, we
have seen clear signs that traffic flow in Guilin is improving as
the government has encouraged more drivers to use the toll
road.

THE GROUP’S BOOK VALUE PER SHARE
REMAINS HIGH

Despite the earnings loss, and resulting decline in book value,
the value of the Group’s assets remains high in comparison
to the Group’s current market capitalization. The investment

E 3 3E1-E10 )
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properties have a book value per share of HK$0.31, the  0.06/#7T « A FAARATEH 2 BEBME -
property development assets have a book value per share
of HK$0.73; the infrastructure assets have a book value per
share of HK$0.06. Below is a breakdown of the value of our
assets.
Book
Book Value Value/Share
IREE ERIRAE
HK$ Million HK$
BEBT BT
Investment Properties ) EYE 2,582.9 0.31
Properties Under Development @ EREPYEe 6,027.5 0.738
Infrastructure & Alternative Energy EEREBRER 486.1 0.06
Others and unallocated Hib RAHE (26.5) (0.01)
Group’s cash SERE 2,511.8 0.31
Total equity REES1a%E 11,581.8 1.40
(1) Peninsula Beiing Hotel, Shenzhen Jingguang Centre, Shenzhen (1) b REFEEEE  ZINRER L  FIEERES - BMNBE

Shun Hing Square, Guangzhou Citic Plaza, Shenzhen South
Ocean Centre, Hong Kong East Ocean Centre and Beijing
Legation Quarter

(2) Shanghai North Bund, Tianjin Honggi Nan Road, Tianjin
Tuanbo Lake, Nanxun International Building Market Centre,
Shenyang South Lake Park, Shenyang Nanjing Road,
Jiangmen, Yangpu Jing Guang Garden, Shanghai Sichuan
North Road

&% - AYIFEEH L %%i?ﬁ%%u&it?ﬁu?ﬁzafﬁ

@) EEAbINE - RORAERERE - XEBRW - FISERREME -
ESFEMAR  ERERE I FESAER - Bl
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ACHIEVEMENTS

Despite the tough economic conditions of the year past, the
Group successfully completed some projects and neared
completion of others. Presales or operating revenues from
these have begun to contribute to our bottom line. For
example, our development of a complex of approximately
207,628 square metres to centralize suppliers of furniture
and building materials in the Nanxun Economic Development
District in Huzhou City, Zhejiang Province, is now at the final
stages of construction, with advanced rentals and pre-sales
beginning in late 2008. In Heilongjiang, the Group’s large
wind farms are in full operation and generating revenues.
Although the wind resources were lower than expected,
the Group is reviewing the situation and is exploring ways
to better take advantage of the available wind resources.
Meanwhile, in Shandong, our waste-to-energy plant is also
up and running, and in Guilin our toll road has started full
operations.

Furthermore, the Group has been selected as a constituent
stock in the Hang Seng Composite Index, Hang Seng
Mainland Composite Index, Hang Seng Composite Industry
Index — Properties & Construction, Hang Seng Freefloat
Composite Index and Hang Seng Mainland Freefloat
Index, effective from 15th October 2008. This serves as
a recognition of the Group’s rapid progress as a major
China property developer, but also indicates its increasing
importance to the Hong Kong stock market.

OUTLOOK

China’s key challenge for 2009 is to achieve a healthy growth
rate of at least 8% for its economy. The global recession
will not make this easy, but the Chinese government has
spurred growth with its announcement of an RMB4 ftrillion
stimulus package to boost economic expansion. In addition,
the government is also offering tax deductions for companies
purchasing certain local fixed assets such as machinery.

The Group is very positive about the potential of this
government package, and we believe we will start seeing
its effects mainly in the second half of 2009. Our own
industry flourishes when domestic spending is strong. The
stimulus package should encourage that by its massive
investment in infrastructure, which will create more jobs
and boost spending. Besides this, analysts are expecting
the government to consider making further cuts in the
lending rate and the cash reserve ratio to stimulate domestic
spending. These are moves that, if implemented, are also
likely to lead to a faster recovery of China’s property market.

The Group is well positioned to take advantage of the
normal property cycle. HKC has been more conservative in
acquiring land bank without leveraging up its balance sheet.
Most of its major projects are only at the beginning stages
of the development process, and will not be completed until
2010-13. At that point, HKC anticipates that the mainland
property markets will be much stronger, resulting in greater
receptivity for our property launches.

2%
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OUTLOOK (continued)

The Group is particularly well positioned because, unlike
many of its major competitors, we enjoy a low gearing ratio
and are cash-rich. The Group’s current gearing ratio is only
6.0%, excluding loans from minority shareholders. Moreover,
there are no major debts that are coming due. Only
HK$399.0 million is due in 2009, HK$303.8 million is due
in 2010, HK$2,508.2 million is due in 2011 and thereafter.
Given the current cash is at HK$2,511.8 million, HKC’s
balance sheet remains strong.

This puts us in an ideal position to grasp the many opportunities
at the right time when the market rebounds. While we intend
to be cautiously picking projects that have significant merit,
our cash on hand is sufficient to support our requirements
for working capital, as well as to cover the initial development
costs of a number of projects. Backed by major international
shareholders, and with a strong financial base, the Group is
braced to deal with the sharp challenges of the immediate
future and move positively towards its long-term goals.

In the meantime, we are adopting a very prudent strategy
to help us ride out the ongoing downturn. We are limiting
capital expenditures by slowing down expansion and land
acquisition to reflect the current environment, and are
rigorously screening new potential projects to make sure that
only the best and most robust are pursued.

We are also looking to cut costs where possible, which
may include developing Grade A properties at lower
construction costs in certain places where the Group
owns high-grade land bank such as Shanghai, Tianjin and
Shenyang. Elsewhere, certain projects are being postponed
or rescheduled to ensure that they eventually come on to the
market at optimum times. Through measures such as these,
we are embracing prudent policies to complement our low
leverage and strong cash position, and put us in a strong
position by comparison with many other property developers.
| am positive that we can ride out the tough conditions that
face us today and emerge stronger for the future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincerest
thanks to each of our business partners, employees,
management and shareholders for their dedication and
support, so critical to the long-term growth of the Group.

OEI Tjie Goan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 15th April 2009
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the twelve months under review, turnover for the year
ended 31st December 2008 amounted to HK$294.7 million,
a decrease of 58.3% over turnover of HK$706.1 million for
2007. Meanwhile, gross profit for the year of HK$52.1 million
also represented a decrease over gross profit of HK$102.7
million in the previous year. Net loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company amounted to HK$2,646.0 million
for the year under review, whereas net profit in 2007 was
HK$834.6 million. The turnaround in results for 2008 arose
from the downturn in the property market in the Mainland
China and unprecedented volatility across global financial
markets. Basic loss per share amounted to HK32.5 cents,
compared with basic earnings per share in 2007 of HK15.8
cents.

The decline in results for the year under review as compared
with 2007 can be attributed to four main factors:

(1) a decrease in fair value of the Group’s investment
properties and properties under development in Hong
Kong and the PRC;

(2) an impairment loss on goodwill in relation to the Group’s
investment in Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company whose securities are listed on
the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”);

(8) an impairment loss on concession rights and certain
assets in relation to the Group’s toll road project in Guilin,
the PRC. This arose from lower than expected traffic
volumes on the road as it has taken more time than
expected for drivers to realize the cost and time savings
of using the new road; and

(4) an impairment loss on goodwill and certain fixed assets
related to the Group’s ethanol project in Chongqing, the
PRC, as a result of the recent significant drop in ethanol
prices.

HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31st December 2008, the Group’s total borrowings
(excluded loans from minority shareholders) amounted to
HK$3,211.0 million, representing a rise of 18.5% when
compared with the equivalent figure of HK$2,710.2 million
as at 31st December 2007. Total borrowings as at 31st
December 2008 included Hong Kong Dollar borrowings
of HK$59.8 million (2007: HK$63.0 million) and Renminbi
borrowings equivalent to HK$3,151.2 million (2007:
HK$2,647.2 million).

The maturity dates for most of the Group’s outstanding
borrowings are spread over the next five years, with HK$399.0
million repayable within one year or on demand, HK$1,334.5
million repayable within two to five years, and HK$1,477.5
million repayable after five years.

All of the Group’s outstanding borrowings take the form of
interest-bearing loans, with interest rates fixed at market
prices.

As at 31st December 2008, the Group had restricted cash of
HK$674.9 million (2007: HK$1,508.9 million) and unrestricted
cash and cash equivalents amounting to HK$1,836.9 million
(2007: HK$4,416.0 million).

The Group did not use financial instruments for financial
hedging purposes during the year under review.

The Group will continue its efforts to create an optimum
financial structure that best reflects the long-term interests
of its shareholders, and will actively consider a variety of
alternative sources of funding to finance future investments.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

During the year under review, the Group and certain of
its subsidiaries had charged certain properties worth
HK$2,339.6 million (2007: HK$1,815.6 million) as security for
bank and other loans.

Gearing Ratio

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31st December 2008 was
6.0%, compared with the net cash position of approximately
HK$3,214.7 million as at 31st December 2007. This ratio
represents total borrowings (excluding loans from minority
shareholders) less cash and cash equivalents (including
restricted cash) divided by total equity.

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of a housing
facility fund for a property held in the PRC. Details are set out
in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Property Investment, Development and
Management

The Group holds a property investment portfolio made up
of premium commercial and residential developments in
Shenzhen, Guangzhou and Beijing. These continued to
provide the Group with a steady stream of rental revenue
across the year. The Group also holds interests in the
Peninsula Beijing Hotel in Beijing.

During the first half of 2008, the Group acquired a
60% equity interest in Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate
Development Company Limited, at an aggregated
consideration of approximately RMB1.5 billion (equivalent to
approximately HK$1.7 billion). This company is principally
engaged in developing a 26,820 sq. m. site at No. 4 Sichuan
North Road in the Hongkou District of Shanghai. The site
will be developed into an integrated commercial-retail
complex consisting of two office buildings and a ground-level
shopping arcade, and will have an above-ground floor area
of approximately 164,420 sq.m. The Group is currently doing
design work on the project, and working with the government
to obtain the necessary approvals .

In March 2008, the Group entered into an agreement with
CB Richard Ellis Strategic Partners Asia Il, LP (“CBRE”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CB Richard Ellis Group, Inc.
The agreement involved the Group transferring to CBRE an
interest in its property development project at Hong Qi Nan
Road, Nankai District in Tianjin, at a consideration of US$42.2
million (equivalent to approximately HK$329.2 million). This
site was obtained as a swap for another piece of land next to
Tianjin’s Olympic Sports Centre, made with the government
authority of Tianjin Municipality. The site at Hong Qi Nan
Road occupies an area of approximately 77,961 sg.m. and
will be developed into a commercial property consisting of
serviced and regular apartments.

The Group is also in the final stages of constructing its
centralized site for suppliers of furniture and building materials
in Huzhou City. The complex stands on a 207,628 sg.m. site
in the Nanxun Economic Development District in Huzhou
City, Zhejiang Province. The Group is currently accepting
advance bookings for rentable properties and conducting
pre-sales of the saleable part.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Alternative Energy

In the first half of 2008, the Group completed the acquisition
of 74.99% of the issued share capital in Hong Kong Energy
(Holdings) Limited (formerly known as J.I.C. Technology
Company Limited), a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong. The Group intends
to channel any new investment in the alternative energy
businesses through HKE, making it the principal vehicle for
wind power, biofuel and biomass projects. This strategic
move will help secure long-term funding for expanding and
developing high-potential projects.

For practical reasons, however, certain alternative energy
projects remain under the umbrella of HKC for the time
being. These include the Group’s two 30MW wind power
stations in Heilongjiang, where construction was completed
and electricity began to be generated from late 2007.

Another alternative energy project under the wing of HKC
is the Group’s waste-to-energy plant, a joint venture with
the China National Environmental Protection Corporation,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of China Energy Conservation
Investment Corporation (“CECIC”). Located in Shandong,
China, the 25 MW capacity plant has begun operation and
is generating revenue. The Group owns a 40% share, and
CECIC owns the remaining 60%. Besides earning revenue
from the generation of electricity, the plant is also earning
revenue from fees for garbage treatment from the Linyi
municipal government, trading within the Clean Development
Mechanism, and the sale of ash-based materials. In the
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Alternative Energy (continued)

first trial year, profits were lower than expected as high coal
prices resulted in higher than expected costs. The boiler

ESACNHE )
ERER )
NRERE  ZREREREBREIETR S REERER
MEEWRE - CHEBF - mRRRER RSB ERE

has now been modified so that less coal will be needed to  EiAS  HURFMEARTEED - $BIEIR /TS - IR BE
produce power, and should result in an improvement in FIEvERAE MRS EFEESN -
profitability.
Alternative energy projects under HKC and HKE have been EBAREREBHRETZERERER T -
depicted as below:
Expected
Type of Shareholding Commercial
Projects energy (%) Capacity (MW) ~ Wind Turbine Arrangement Operation Under
A HRES FRAE (%) ER (TRE)  BEZH BERABEZE RV
Lunaobao, Hebei Province Wind power 30% 100.5 MW 67 sets of 1,500kW wind turbines 2010 HKE
Tt ESRKE EWIEE 100500F % 67 A1,500F LA “2-%F Bz
Siziwang Qi Phase 2, Inner Wind power 100% 495MW 33 sets of 1,500kW wind turbines 2010 HKE
Mongolia Eh%E 49500FRE 3381500 FEAF R it 32 BRMER
NEANTIEE-H
Mudanjiang, Heilongjiang Wind power 86%-86.6% 2x30MW 70 sets of 52V/850kW wind turbines  September 2007 HKC
REIHT Eh%E 2x30000TRE  708520K% /850 T ALk B “ERENR BERR
Danjinghe, Hebei Wind power 40% 200MW A combination of 750kW, 800kW January 2009 HKC
g BNEE 200,000F L% and 1,500kW wind turbines December 2009/ BhER
750FE - 800F AR December 2010
1500F SR #ES “ITNE-A/
“ZENETZR/
“E-RETCA
Chongma. Phase |, Wind power 40% 201 MW 134 sets of 1,500kW wind turbines 2010 HKC
Gansu Province EWEE 201,000FR% 13481500 F REEHE —T-TF e
HBLERE -1
Siziwang Qi Phase 1, Wind power 100% 495MW 33 sets of 1,500kW wind turbines 4Q.2009 HKC
Inner Mongolia BNEE 49500FRE 3381500 TRk “ETNFENEE BAER
NEENFHEE -5
Linyi, Shangdong Province Waste-to-energy 40% Electricity September 2007 HKC
REET fREE Generation - “ZT+ENA BEER
25 MW Domestic
Garbage Handling -
800 tonnes per day
BEE - 25,00F R
FERERE -
A 80012
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Infrastructure

Located in the Yangpu Economic Development Zone
in Hainan, the Group’s water supply plant continued to
generate good returns. The plant is the sole supplier of raw
water for industrial use in the area, so remains in an excellent
position for achieving reliable long-term revenues. Recently,
the Group entered into a supplemental agreement with the
plant’s largest customer, Jinhai Paper Pulping Industrial
Company Limited, for a further three years of water supply.

The Group’s Build-Operate-Transfer (“BOT”) toll road project
in Guilin, linking up with China’s Western Expressway, has
now been completed and is in full operation. In the earlier
months, traffic flow has been disappointing. However, traffic
flow has been steadily increasing this year, particularly as the
government has been supportive in encouraging drivers to
use the highway. As the economy rebounds, and as travelers
become more accustomed to the new highway, traffic
volumes on the toll road are expected to rise.

Construction

The Group is carrying out drainage improvements in the Tuen
Mun and Sham Tseng areas of Hong Kong, under a contract
from the Drainage Services Department of the HKSAR
government worth approximately HK$68.3 million.

OUTLOOK

Property Investment, Development and
Management

Given the current market situation, the Group intends to
focus for the time being on completing its range of existing
projects. Land acquisition will be a lower priority while the
market remains unsettled.

However, the Group’s strong financial position means that it
can remain open to acquiring distressed properties at good
prices, should such opportunities arise. On the other hand, if
development opportunities arise that require immediate cash
injections, the Group may consider selling certain of its non-
core investment properties as a way of raising the requisite
cash.
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OUTLOOK (continued)
Property Investment, Development and
Management (continued)
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Map of Nanxun Zhejiang China
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Certain projects planned for the coming year will go ahead as
scheduled. The Group’s Nanxun project will be completed
in the first half of this year. Preleasing and presales have
already begun. Construction of a major project in Hongkou
in Shanghai has begun. This follows the Group’s increase
in its shareholding in Shanghai Jingang North Bund Real
Estate Company Limited from 10% to 25%. The Company
will develop a complex comprising a hotel, shopping mall and
office premises on a 56,670 sg.m. site situated along the north
side of Shanghai’s International Cruise Terminal.

Construction of HKC’s residential property project at Hong Qi
Nan Road, in Tianjin’s Nankai District, is estimated to begin in 3Q
2009, with presales targeted for the end of 2010. The government
has expressed strong support for the project, designating it as
one of Nankai District’'s most important projects.
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In Shenyang, construction is expected to begin this year on
an office building on a commercial site located at the centre
of Nanjing North Road in Heping District. Before beginning
construction, HKC is exploring the possibility of acquiring an
adjacent piece of land. The combined site area would further
increase returns on the project.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Property Investment, Development and
Management (continued)

However, reflecting the Group’s conservative stance, HKC
has decided to slow down the pace of development of some
of its projects. The lake reclamation for the Group’s Tuanbo
Lake property project in Tianjin, along the eastern shore of
Tuanbo Lake in Jinhai County has been delayed, and will
now begin in 2009 instead of 2008.

Similarly, construction on the Shenyang Ningbo Road
residential project has been delayed until 2010. Completion
of the relocation of residents has been delayed to summer
of 2009. Therefore, no major capital expenditures will be
incurred for 2009.

Alternative Energy

For practical reasons, a number of alternative energy projects
remain within HKC despite the acquisition of HKE during the
year. As time goes on, the Group will look into options for
further restructuring its alternative energy projects, with the
aim of generating operating synergies and similar benefits.

One of the alternative energy projects with which HKC
is involved is its joint venture with the CECIC. This joint
venture has been set up to invest in, construct and operate
a 200MW capacity wind power plant in Hebei Province.
Total investment in the project will amount to approximately
RMB1.6 billion, with the Group and CECIC contributing
40% and 60% of the registered capital respectively. The first
phase of this windfarm was completed early this year, and is
now generating revenues. Early indications are that the wind
resources are higher than initial projections. Another 50 MW
of capacity will be completed by the end of 2009.

In July 2008, local government authorities accepted a joint
tender submitted by the Group and CECIC for a wind power
project in Jiuguan, Gansu Province. The Group and CECIC
have established a joint venture that will invest in, construct
and operate a wind power plant with a total of capacity of
201 MW. The Group and CECIC contributed 40% and 60%
of the registered capital respectively for the project, with a
total investment of approximately RMB1.7 billion (equivalent
to approximately HK$1.9 billion).

Another alternative energy project that will be launched soon
is a first 49.5MW wind power plant in the Siziwang Qi area of
Inner Mongolia in the PRC.

Employees

As at the end of December 2008, the Group’s operations
in Hong Kong and the Mainland China employed a total of
approximately 400 employees. The Group also appoints
technical and engineering consultants on contract terms
for its ongoing construction projects. All employees are
remunerated according to the nature of their jobs, their
individual performances, the Group’s overall performance,
and prevailing marketing conditions.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to good corporate governance
principles and practices and its board of directors (the
“Directors” or the “Board”) recognizes that it is essential
to safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers and
employees and uphold accountability, transparency and
responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
the code provisions and certain recommended best practices
set out in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) during the year ended 31st
December 2008, save for the deviations with considered
reasons stated in the following relevant paragraphs.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Company has at all time during the year ended 31st
December 2008 maintained a balanced board with strong
independent element. The Board currently comprises
fourteen Directors with four Executive Directors and ten Non-
executive Directors, three of whom are independent. Each
Director possesses expertise and experience and provides
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the
Group and the shareholders as a whole. Biographical details
of the Directors and their relationships, where applicable, are
set out in pages 31 to 36 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three Independent Non-executive Directors with at least
one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The independence
of the Independent Non-executive Directors was assessed
in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the
Company an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of them to be independent.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company were exercised by two different individuals.
Mr. OEl Tjie Goan is the Chairman and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric
is the Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) of the Company.
Their responsibilities had been clearly set out and approved
by the Board. The Board considers that this arrangement
facilitates the execution of the Group’s business strategies
and maximizes effectiveness of its operation. The Board
shall nevertheless review its structure from time to time and
it will consider the appropriate move to take should suitable
circumstance arise.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Group and is collectively responsible for promoting
the success of the Group by directing and supervising
the Group’s affairs and formulating business strategies
with a view to maximizing its financial performance and
shareholders’ value.

All newly appointed Directors are given comprehensive
documentations of the business operations of the Group and
regulatory and statutory requirements as director together
with briefing meetings with senior executives of the Group.
Directors are provided with continuous updates on the latest
changes in the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices
and other relevant laws and regulations and are encouraged
to participate in continuous professional development
seminars to update their knowledge for discharging directors’
responsibilities.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out
of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors
of the Company along with other senior executives, is
delegated with responsibilities for implementing the strategy
and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group.
Executive Directors and senior executives meet regularly to
review the performance of the businesses of various business
units of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources
and make financial and operation decision. The Board also
gives clear directions as to their powers of management
including circumstances where management should report
back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a
periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the
needs of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of
Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of
Directors proposed for re-election at the annual general
meeting are first considered by the Nomination Committee.
The Nomination Committee will assess the candidate or
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and
ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. The recommendations of the Nomination
Committee will then be put to the Board for decision. Details
of the role and function as well as a summary of the work
performed by the Nomination Committee are set out under
the heading of “Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, the nearest
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
but are eligible for re-election by shareholders at the annual
general meeting provided that every Director is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. New
appointments to the Board are also subject to re-election by
shareholders at the next following annual general meeting.

All Non-executive Directors of the Company were appointed
with no specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid rotation
requirement in the Bye-laws. The rotating Directors who
are subject to retirement and re-election at the 2009 annual
general meeting are set out on page 39.

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and
exchange ideas on the affairs of the Company. The Board
has set up five Board Committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Steering Committee and the Investment
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group’s
affairs.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees
(continued)

During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee were held and the attendance of
the individual Directors at these meetings is set out in the
table below:

EEZg)

EFZERESZEEER(E)

N EFE -

BEVELE®
TMes  FEEN

CRERZEER

\ZEGRIHFERE /R%ZB’\\T%%Z

FHER RS

Number of meetings attended/held

BHiE BTEEE
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board committee committee committee
EEE BEREES FMEES REZEES
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric Z il 5t 4 4/4 2/2 (Note Fffz¥) 2/2 (Note Pffz¥) 2/2 (Note Fffz¥)
Mr. CHEN Libo BR~Z )% e 4 4/4 N/A i N/A i N/A T iE A
(resigned on 30th September 2008)
(R=ZEZNFNA=THEHE)
Mr. NG Chi Man, Michael =& 44 1/3 N/A i A N/A N3 F N/A TN3E F
(reS|gned on 15th June 2008)
(R=ZEZENFA+HEHET)
Mr. TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk %2 40 45 4 4/4 N/A i A N/A N3 F N/A “N3E F
Mr. CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph FREIFS o4 4/4 2/2 (Note HffzT) N/A 7~ A N/A 7~ A
Mr. TANG Sau Wai, Tom E8<7{& 54 4/4 N/A i@ A N/A N3 F N/A N3 F
Mr. CHAU Wing Hing &5k #2554 11 N/A g B N/A 7N N/A 7R3 A
(appointed on 15th June 2008 and
resngned on 9th October 2008)
(RZEZNFNA+RBEZIR
RZZZENE+ANBEE)
Mr. SHI Jihua jifs 4= 5 A4 1/1 N/A T~ A N/A A~3E A N/A TN A
(appointed on 15th June 2008 and
resugned on 9th October 2008)
(RZEZEN\FAATHAEZER
RZZZNFE+ANBEE)
Non-executive Directors
FHITES
0/4 N/A i N/A iE N/A T iE A
Mr. OEl Tjie Goan & &R 5%t 4
Mr. WANG Jun EE 4 0/2 N/A i N/A i N/A T iE A
(resigned on 17th April 2008)
(RZZEZNFMOA+HEAFHE)
Mr. LI Xueming ZEE287 4 4 0/4 N/A TiEF N/A 1~ F N/A & F
Mr. XU Zheng 1R1E 5t 4 0/4 N/A T3 N/A i A N/A N3 A
Ms. Teresa YEN B & &+ 2/4 N/A T~ A N/A “1~ i Fi N/A 7R3 F
Mr. WAN Ming Sun FBE L 4 2/3 N/A TiE M N/A i A N/A i A
(appointed on 1st February 2008)
(RZZEZENF_A—HEZE)
Mr. LIU Guolin 218 #k 5 4 2/4 N/A 3 A N/A i@ N/A &
Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip Sg{Z #8544 4/4 2/2 1/2 1/2
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIFPITES
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico &1 5% 7t &= 1/4 2/2 0/2 0/2
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo ZF 05 4 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior 2/4 2/2 2/2 2/2
wE\ELE
Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as MizE @ ITESUAZBBATDLEEESE

invitees.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees
(continued)

Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda
for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda
and accompanying board papers are dispatched to the
Directors or committee members at least 3 days before the
meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time to review
the papers and be adequately prepared for the meetings.
When directors or committee members are unable to attend
a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be discussed
and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairman prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered by
the Board and the committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes
of each board meeting and committee meeting are sent to
the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the
date on which the meeting is held. All Directors have access
to the company secretary who is responsible for ensuring
that the board procedures are complied with and advising
the Board on compliance matters.

Directors could have recourse to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access
and to consult with the Company’s senior management
independently.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiries, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31st December 2008.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the
Company’s securities by relevant employees, who are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive information
in relation to the securities of the Group, on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company had established a Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference. The Remuneration
Committee, chaired by an Independent Non-executive
Director, comprises four members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho
Yee, Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. Albert Thomas DA
ROSA, Junior and Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip, three of whom
are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for Directors and senior
management, and reviewing their remuneration packages.
In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration
Committee will consult with the Chairman and/or the CEO
whenever it thinks fit and take into consideration factors
such as the remuneration paid by comparable companies,
skill, knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities of
Directors.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings and reviewed, inter alia, the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company, the performance-based
remuneration, the Directors’ fees and the remuneration of
the newly appointed Directors. No Director was involved
in deciding his own remuneration at the meetings of the
Committee. The attendance records of each member are
set out on page 23. Details of the Directors’ remuneration for
the year are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company had established a Nomination Committee
with written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee,
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director,
comprises four members namely Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico,
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior
and Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip, three of whom are Independent
Non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee held
two meetings during the year, the attendance details of each
member are set out on page 23.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
suitable candidates for directorship, assessing the
independence of Independent Non-executive Directors,
and making recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed appointment or re-appointment.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination
Committee includes the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board;

° assessing the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors;

° assessing the qualification and experience of
new candidates for directorships and making
recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment of directors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company had established an Audit Committee with
written terms of reference which have been updated from
time to time to align with the code provisions set out in the
CG code. The Audit Committee, chaired by an Independent
Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico, Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo, Mr. Albert
Thomas DA ROSA, Junior and Mr. FAN Yan Hok, Philip,
three of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to,
inter alia, review and supervise the Group’s financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management procedures, as
well as oversee the adequacy of the accounting and financial
reporting resources.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings
together with senior management and external auditor, the
attendance details of each member are set out on page
23. The major work performed by the Audit Committee
during the year included reviewing the interim and annual
financial statements, the continuing connected transactions,
the internal audit reports on the internal controls and
risk management matters, as well as reviewing and
recommending the re-appointment of external auditor.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31st December 2008, the fees in respect
of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
the Company’s auditor amounted to approximately HK$5.6
million and HK$4.5 million respectively. The non-audit
services mainly consist of tax advisory and due diligence
services.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

Internal control environment

The Group has had in place an integrated framework of
internal controls which is consistent with the Committee of
Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission’s
(“COSQO”) framework. Under the framework, the management
is primarily responsible for the design, implementation and
maintenance of internal controls while the Board and its
audit committee oversee the actions of the management and
monitor the effectiveness of the controls that have been put
in place. The framework and activities taken are illustrated

A EBEE 1

A IPEEIEIRIR

7N 5 B B 3% 37 B2 Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission ([ COSO ) 284 — 8z MEBESIE
IRERE - RIBZERE  BEEXZAER  BHERER
NEPEIETE - MESEhHEZZEQRAEEEERE
ZATEREERE R 2 B HIE AR o R R ATERELZ 1R
MERRBRLR T

below:

Framework area

ik

Activities taken

FrRERHE i

Control Environment E542 3855 o

Management takes a hands-on approach and is fully committed to set the
controls environment ensuring that individuals are controls conscious
EREERR2H  BNEYERRE  BREALAEEEEH

The Board has set up relevant committees to ensure regulations are complied
with and internal controls are carried out properly

EXGCRVMEBAEZES  URRSERIIGAEST  MAMEEFUAZLENR
17

A code of conduct exists to guide individuals’ integrity and ethic in daily
operations

WIFErER] > SERIATER B EER 2 HE MaERT - 1EHE3
Management closely monitors the organization structure and the responsibilities
of individuals granting appropriate authorities for them to handle assigned tasks
ERETYERABAEBEREAASE  FHEESRE  NEEEEEKR TIE
Performance evaluations and recruitment procedures are available to ensure
individuals are competent

RERI T RARIER - LHERER A RRER

Risk Assessment &k 5T {d

Management has established clear strategic direction and business objectives
EEERBEWREIES REBBEZ

Formal risk assessment involving the Board and the top management has been
conducted to identify and analyse key risks associated with achieving the Group’s
objectives which form the basis for determining key control activities
EZgheREEE2HEEARRT MG  MKERONMBRERAEEEFEH
ZEZRRE - RMIERETE X EEITAE 2 AH

Control Activities E512 55 c

Policies/procedures on key control activities are established to ensure
management directives are carried out

HEBBEBELEE 2BUR R - UERERRE ZIEREB AT

Ranges of activities including approvals, authorization, verifications,
recommendations, performance reviews, asset security and segregation of duties
are identified and implemented

BAIRHIT—RIE - EPEE e B %8
ERENBEE D

B KRB A
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
Internal control environment (continued)

PR B BE 22 ()
R EBEE IR IR ()

Framework area

RIBER

Activities taken

FrERENIE e

Information and Communication

B RamE

Pertinent information is identified, captured, processed and reported

ARl - REER - BREE N ERARRE A K

Access to internal and external general information is available

AEEER AR R AN — MR E R

Management maintains an open-door policy to allow communication taking place
both across and vertically through the Group

EREBREFARBER - AAFAEERETH R EER 2 ER

Monitoring E5%2

Management closely monitors daily operations and the related controls
BEETYERASEEIREREE

Internal audit function, the Internal Control and Risk Management (“ICRM”)
Department, with adequate resources and well qualified staff conducts annual
internal controls review on major operating units and projects
BEREERREFEI 2 ABEERRARER ([ ABEZES D IELAS
BB AT ENETECEENRIERA < AHEEER

External audit function ensures financial reporting and the related controls are
proper and effective

SN AZ I e R R R I TS IE R AR B IR E R B

External tax advisor is engaged to ensure proper tax treatment and compliance
on tax regulations

ZEINETBER - URRT B EERIEZE RETHBR A

External legal advisor and internal company secretary and in-house legal counsel
function ensures the compliance of regulations, standards and listing rules

SNIEE R AR A R M E R AR AEEEARRETEREAM - Rk E
AR Il

Risk assessment and management BB R R B TR

The Group conducted an annual update on the risk  AEEBESHEETRARKRH o RIZECOSOERE  EREHX LA

assessment. Under the COSO framework, management
identified difference in the objectives of the Group from
last year assessment exercise and defined the related risk
categories impacting those objectives. Four risk categories
were considered: business, operational, financial and
compliance. A systematic “top-down” approach was
adopted to identify, source and evaluate individual risks and
the interrelationships between risks in the key areas under
those four categories, to which high priorities and resources
were given. Mitigation strategies and plans with respect to
each key risk identified were planned and put into action,
which included establishing or enhancing internal controls
and procedures.

Control processes
The Board establishes and maintains a sound internal control
system through the following major processes:

(i) Systems and procedures are in place to identify
and measure risks on an ongoing basis. Senior
management reviews and defines the annual risk
assessment process and monitor the progress of risk
mitigation plans.

(i)  An organization structure with defined lines of
responsibility and delegation of authority is devised.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)

Control processes (continued)

(i)  The Board reviews its strategic plans and objectives on
an annual basis.

(iv)  Financial performance is analysed against budget with
variances being accounted for and appropriate actions
are taken to rectify deficiencies.

(vy Having been aware of the fact that all systems of
internal control can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance, the ICRM department is
required to evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness
of major controls over principal operations of the
Group independently. Full access to all data and
every operation of the Group is granted to the ICRM
department. A risk-based approach is adopted which
concentrates on areas of significant risks or where
significant changes have occurred. Major findings and
recommendations, if any, are reported to the Board
and the audit committee after each review.

Annual internal control assessment

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal
controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. The ICRM
department conducts reviews of the effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal controls, including those of its
subsidiaries. The Board and the Audit Committee review the
findings and recommendations of the ICRM department in
the effectiveness after such reviews.

In respect of the year ended 31st December 2008, the
Board considered the internal controls system effective and
adequate.

Price-sensitive Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of price-sensitive information, the
Group has performed the following actions:

(i) Management and relevant personnel are made aware
of the Group’s obligations under the Listing Rules
and the overriding principle that information which is
expected to be price-sensitive and/or the subject of a
major decision should be announced immediately.

(i)  Management and relevant personnel are required to
conduct the Group’s affairs with close regard to the
“Guide on Disclosure of Price-sensitive Information”
issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
in 2002.

(i)  Members of the Group’s top management are identified
and authorised to act as the Group’s spokespersons
and respond to external enquiries.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements for the year ended 31st December
2008 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the
Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash
flows. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors
have adopted generally accepted accounting standards in
Hong Kong and suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgments and estimates that
are prudent, fair and reasonable and prepared the financial
statements on the going concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 63 to
64.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our
shareholders understand our business better. Copies of
the annual reports and interim reports of the Company are
distributed to its shareholders in accordance with statutory
and regulatory requirements and also to interested parties
recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The publications
of the Company, including financial reports, circulars and
announcements, are also available on the Company’s
website at www.hkcholdings.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general
meeting, each substantially separate issue will be considered
by a separate resolution, including the election of individual
directors, and the poll procedures will be clearly explained.
The CEO attended the annual general meeting in the absence
of the Chairman of the Board. Other members of the Board
and the Chairmen of the relevant Board Committees are
available to attend the annual general meeting to inter-face
with, and answer questions from the shareholders.
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MR. OEI TJIE GOAN

(Chairman and Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since April 2004, 64-year old. Mr. OEI
was a graduate of the Mathematics & Dynamics Department
of Beijing University where he majored in Computational
Mathematics. Involved in Asia’s pulp and paper, finance,
banking, property and agricultural industries since 1974, Mr.
OFEl sits on the board of two listed companies in Indonesia:
PT. Indah Kiat Pulp & Paper Tbk. and PT. Pabrik Kertas Tjiwi
Kimia Tok. Mr. OEl Tjie Goan is the father of Mr. OEl Kang,
Eric, an executive director and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

MR. LI XUEMING

(Deputy Chairman and Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since March 1999, 61-year old.
Mr. LI holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Industrial Automation
from Tsinghua University. Mr. LI was formerly the Vice-
president of China Aerospace International Holdings Ltd.
Mr. LI is also currently an executive director and Deputy
General Manager of China Everbright Group Limited and
China Everbright Holdings Company Limited. Mr. LI is the
Chairman of Shanghai Everbright Convention and Exhibition
Center Co., Ltd., Vice-chairman of China Everbright Industry
Group Limited and China Everbright Investment Management
Corporation. Mr. LI is also an executive director and Vice-
chairman of China Everbright International Limited, a publicly
listed company in Hong Kong.

MR. XU ZHENG

(Deputy Chairman and Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since April 2004, 48-year old. Mr.
XU holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.
A Senior Engineer (Professor Grade) in China, Mr. XU was
formerly the Assistant Manager and Deputy Manager of
Shanghai No. 2 Construction Co., Ltd. He has also served as
Assistant to the General Manager, Deputy Chief Engineer and
Deputy General Manager of Shanghai Construction (Group)
General Corporation, and as General Manager of Shanghai
Construction Co., Ltd. Mr. XU is currently an executive
director and General Manager of Shanghai Construction
(Group) General Corporation and Chairman of Shanghai
Construction Co., Ltd.
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MR. OEIl KANG, ERIC

(Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer)

A director of the Group since April 2004, 38-year old. Mr.
OEl also holds several directorships in other members
of the Group. Mr. OEI was educated in the USA and
obtained a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics (with a minor in
Electrical Engineering), and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration. Earlier in his career, Mr. OEl worked with
Peregrine Securities Ltd. and PCCW in Hong Kong, the LG
Group in Seoul and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles, USA.
Mr. OEl was appointed as the Chairman of the Steering
Committee of the Group since February 2008. Mr. OEl is a
son of Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, the Chairman of the Group. Mr. OEl
is also the sole director and the sole shareholder of Creator
Holdings Limited (“Creator”), the controlling shareholder of
the Company. Mr. OEI currently is the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited
(“HKE”), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

MR. TSANG SAI CHUNG, KIRK

(Executive Director and Company Secretary)

A director of the Group since April 2004, 45-year old. Mr.
TSANG also serves as a director of several other members
of the Group. Mr. TSANG graduated from The University
of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of Arts and also
holds a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the same
university. A qualified solicitor in Hong Kong, he has more
than 15 years’ experience in private practice and as an in-
house counsel for various listed companies. Mr. TSANG was
appointed as the Company Secretary and Legal Counsel of
the Group since April 2004. Mr. TSANG was also appointed
as the Chief Operation Officer of the Group since February
2008. Mr. TSANG currently is the Legal Counsel of Creator
and an Executive Director and Company Secretary of HKE.

MR. CHAN KWOK FONG, JOSEPH

(Executive Director)

A director of the Group since June 2007, 49-year old.
Mr. CHAN also serves as a director of several other members
of the Group. Mr. CHAN holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics from York University in Canada. He has over 20
years’ solid experience in banking and finance field. He was
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer of the Group since
August 2006. Mr. CHAN currently is an Executive Director of
HKE.
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MR. TANG SAU WAI, TOM

(Executive Director)

A director of the Group since April 2004, 51-year old. Mr.
TANG also sits on the boards of several other members of
the Group. A graduate of the University of Saskatchewan,
Saskatoon, Canada, Mr. TANG holds a B.Sc. (Civil
Engineering) and is both a Chartered Engineer and a
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil, Geotechnical). His
other qualifications include memberships of The Institution
of Civil Engineers (MICE) and the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers (MHKIE). He joined the Group in August 2000 and
was appointed as the Chief Technical Officer of the Group
since February 2008. Before joining the Group, Mr. TANG
worked with the Hip Hing Construction Group for 20 years.
During his time with the Hip Hing Construction Group, he
served as a Consulting Geotechnical Engineer of Paul Tong &
Associates from 1980 to 1988 and as a director of Vibro (H.K.)
Ltd., a civil engineering contractor specialising in foundations,
from 1988 to 2000.

MS. TERESA YEN

(Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since October 2007, 39-year old.
Ms. YEN is a Senior Advisor to Cerberus Asia Capital
Management, LLC (“Cerberus”), a substantial shareholder
of the Company. In her capacity as Senior Advisor, Ms.
YEN is responsible for advising the Cerberus group on all
of its investments in the Greater China region, including the
PRC, Hong Kong and Taiwan. Moreover, Ms. YEN brings
particular expertise to real estate and real estate related
transactions. Prior to joining Cerberus, she was part of the
KPMG real estate consulting practice where she managed
real estate consulting engagements involving United States,
Japan, Korea and Taiwan, and worked extensively in the
distressed debt market in Japan between 1999 and 2001.
She also has corporate and real estate banking background
from her earlier career with Sumitomo Bank, Long-Term
Credit Bank of Japan and Heller Financial. Ms. YEN received
her undergraduate degree from University of California at
Berkeley and her master degree in business administration
from University of Southern California, Marshall School of
Business.

MR. WAN MING SUN

(Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since February 2008, 35-year old.
Mr. WAN holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics
from lllinois Wesleyan University in U.S.A. Mr. WAN is a
Senior Equity Analyst for Penta Investment Advisers Ltd.
(“Penta”), a substantial shareholder of the Company. He has
over 10-years investment experience. Prior to joining Penta,
Mr. WAN worked for UBS AG, Hong Kong as a Director of
Sales Trading and was responsible for trading Asian equities
and generating investment ideas for clients. Asiamoney’s
annual poll named Mr. WAN The Best Regional Sales Trader
in 2003. Mr. WAN'’s knowledge of the real estate sector is
extensive.
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MR. LIU GUOLIN

(Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since July 2001, 58-year old. Mr.
LIU is a graduate of Shanghai University of Finance &
Economics where he majored in Infrastructure Financing.
A Senior Accountant, Mr. LIU currently serves as a director
and General Accountant of Shanghai Construction (Group)
General Corporation and is also the Vice President of
Shanghai Construction Co., Ltd. His career to date includes
extensive experience in finance and corporate matters.

MR. FAN YAN HOK, PHILIP

(Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since November 1999, 59-year
old. Mr. FAN is presently an executive director and general
manager of China Everbright International Limited, a Hong
Kong listed company. Prior to joining China Everbright
International Limited, Mr. FAN had been an executive director
of CITIC Pacific Limited in charge of industrial projects in the
PRC. His main academic qualifications include a Bachelor’s
Degree in Industrial Engineering and a Master’s Degree in
Operations Research from Stanford University, together
with a Master’s Degree in Management Science from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology.

MR. CHUNG CHO YEE, MICO

(Independent Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since April 2004, 48-year old. Mr.
CHUNG graduated from the University College, University of
London, England with a Law Degree in 1983. After qualifying
as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1986, Mr. CHUNG spent 2
years working with the commercial department of a local
law firm. He subsequently joined the corporate finance
department of Standard Chartered Asia Ltd., the investment
banking arm of Standard Chartered Bank, in 1988. In 1990,
Mr. CHUNG became a director and General Manager of
Bond Corporation International Ltd., leaving to join China
Strategic Holdings Limited in 1992. In March 1999, he
joined the Pacific Century Group as executive director with
responsibility for the group’s merger and acquisition activities.
Mr. CHUNG is currently an executive director of PCCW
Limited and a non-executive chairman of Capital Strategic
Investment Limited, both companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. CHUNG was also a director of E2-Capital
(Holdings) Limited (now known as CIAM Group Limited)
and Pacific Century Insurance Holdings Limited (a company
formerly listed on the Stock Exchange).
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MR. CHENG YUK WO

(Independent Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since July 2004, 48-year old. Mr.
CHENG holds a Master of Science Degree in Economics,
Accounting and Finance and a Bachelor of Arts (Hons.)
Degree in Accounting. He is a fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and
a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
Ontario. His career includes more than 20 years’ accounting
and corporate advisory services expertise in several listed
companies in Hong Kong. The co-founder of a Hong Kong
merchant banking firm, Mr. CHENG is the proprietor of a
certified public accountancy practice in Hong Kong. Mr.
CHENG is currently an independent non-executive director
of Capital Strategic Investment Limited, South China Land
Limited, 21 Holdings Limited (formerly known as “GFT
Holdings Limited”), Goldbond Group Holdings Limited, Chia
Tai Enterprises International Limited and Chong Hing Bank
Limited, all being Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. CHENG
was also a non-executive director of Henry Group Holdings
Limited until August 2008.

MR. ALBERT THOMAS DA ROSA, JUNIOR
(Independent Non-executive Director)

A director of the Group since September 2004, 55-year
old. Mr. DA ROSA holds both Bachelor’s and Master’s
Law Degrees from the University of Hong Kong. He was
qualified as a solicitor in Hong Kong in 1980. He currently is a
practicing solicitor and a partner of Messrs. Cheung, Tong &
Rosa, Solicitors, Hong Kong. Mr. DA ROSA is a fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators and the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and also a member of the Hong Kong Securities
Institute and the Society of Registered Financial Planners.
He is a non-executive director (formerly independent non-
executive director, redesignated on 30th September 2004)
of TCL Multimedia Technology Holdings Limited (formerly
known as TCL International Holdings Limited before 25th
February 2005) and the company secretary of Y.T. Realty
Group Limited and Yugang International Limited, all of which
are companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. DA ROSA
serves as a Deputy Convenor and a member of the Solicitors
Disciplinary Tribunal Panel and as a member of the Panel of
the Board of Review (Inland Revenue) respectively. He also
served as a member of the Academic and Accreditation
Advisory Committee of the Securities and Futures
Commission from February 2003 to March 2009.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors” or the
“Board”) have pleasure in presenting to shareholders their
report together with the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for
the year ended 31st December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL
ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS

The principal activities of the Group are property development
and investment, alternative energy investment and
management, infrastructure and construction. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities are set out in pages 194 to 204 of the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31st December 2008 by geographical and business
segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December
2008 are set out in the consolidated income statement on
page 65.

The Directors resolved not to declare any final dividend for
the year ended 31st December 2008 (2007: HK1.5 cents
(final) and HK2.0 cents (special)).

The Company and its non-wholly owned subsidiary,
Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited (“HKE”), each of
them proposed to make a bonus issue of warrants to
its shareholders whose names appear on each of their
Registers of Members on 30th April 2009 on the basis of
1 bonus warrant for every 10 shares held. Their respective
subscription prices will be determined on 22nd April 2009
at a discount to the average closing price of their respective
shares for the 5 consecutive trading days (up to and including
22nd April 2009).

The Company also proposed to reduce certain amount in its
share premium account and transfer the reduced amount to
the credit of its contributed surplus account for distribution
to its shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members on 30th April 2009 on the basis of one HKE bonus
warrant for every approximately 144 shares held, which will
be satisfied wholly by way of distribution in specie of the HKE
bonus warrants to the Company. The proposed reduction
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (continued)

of certain amount in its share premium account and the
distribution will be subject to the approval of the shareholders
at the special general meeting of the Company to be
convened.

For details, please refer to the respective announcements of
the Company and HKE both dated 15th April 2009 which
were separately published on the websites of the Company,
HKE and the Stock Exchange.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in
Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PROPERTIES

Details of the principal properties held for development and
investment purposes are set out on pages 206 to 208.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws of the Company (“Bye-Laws”) and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of Bermuda.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and
the Group during the year are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31st December 2008, the Company had no
distributable reserve to the shareholders in accordance with
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) (2007:
HK$334.6 million).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page
205.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations amounting to approximately HK$5.0 million (2007:
HKS$0.7 million).
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

*  OEl Tjie Goan (Chairman)

*  WANG Jun (Honorary Chairman)
(resigned on 17th April 2008)

* LI Xueming (Deputy Chairman)

* XU Zheng (Deputy Chairman)

#  OEl Kang, Eric (Chief Executive Officer)

CHEN Libo (resigned on 30th September 2008)

NG Chi Man, Michael (resigned on 15th June 2008)

TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk

CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph

TANG Sau Wai, Tom

#  CHAU Wing Hing (appointed on 15th June 2008 and
resigned on 9th October 2008)

#  SHI Jihua (appointed on 15th June 2008 and
resigned on 9th October 2008)

* YEN Teresa

* WAN Ming Sun (appointed on 1st February 2008)

* LIU Guolin

FAN Yan Hok, Philip

CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico

CHENG Yuk Wo

Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior

H*

*= oW oW

® ® ® *

=

Executive Director
Non-executive Director
@ Independent Non-executive Director

*

In accordance with Bye-law 87, Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, Mr. XU
Zheng, Mr. TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk, Mr. LIU Guolin and
Mr. CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as Directors of the Company.

The Company has received from each Independent
Non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) and the
Company considered all of them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Share Options of the Company

The Company’s existing share option scheme (the “Option
Scheme”) was adopted on 16th June 2006. Particulars of the
Option Scheme are set out below:

@

(®)

(©

(@)

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high
caliber Eligible Persons (as defined below) and attract
human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds an
equity interest (“Invested Entity”) or Invested Entities,
to recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible
Persons to the growth of the Group or Invested
Entities by rewarding them with opportunities to obtain
ownership interest in the Company and to further
motivate and give incentives to these Eligible Persons
to continue to contribute to the long term success and
prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior
executive or officer, manager, director (including
independent non-executive director) or consultant of
any members of the Group or any Invested Entity who,
in the sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or
will contribute to the growth and development of the
Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue
The total number of shares of the Company available
for issue under the Option Scheme is 646,079,383
shares which represent approximately 7.83% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of
this Annual Report.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person
The total number of shares of the Company issued
and to be issued upon exercise of options (whether
exercised or outstanding) granted in any 12-month
period to:

(i) each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the
shares of the Company in issue;

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate
value.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share Options of the Company (continued)

(e

®

)

(h)

U

Period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

An option must be exercised within 10 years from the
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as
the Board may specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option
must be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must
specify the minimum period(s), if any, for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and
amount payable upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for
acceptance for a period of 10 business days from the
date of offer and a consideration of HK$1.0 must be
paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of
an option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of grant;
(i) the average closing prices of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Remaining life

The Option Scheme has a life of 10 years and will
expire on 16th June 2016 unless otherwise terminated
in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

RS ()

Share Options of the Company (continued) AAT 2 HBRE(E)
Movements of share options during the year are as follows: FNBIESE) BT
Number of share options
EREHA
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Natureof ~ 1stJanuary Cancelled/ 31t December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZBENF
—-A-H BH#/ TZA=t-H B
i BHEME AE BRYE BAR  BAX AME RIEAS T8 {8
(HKS)
(B7)
Directors
g2
OEl Kang, Eric Personal 562,500 = = = 562,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1420
(‘M. OEI") A “ERET-ATER 14th December 2016
EL(Evia) “ETLETZATRAR
“EETZATRE
937,500 = = = 937,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1420
“EENET-AtAR 14th December 2016
“ZZN\E+-A+RAZ
T RETZATEA
- 300,000 - - 300,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1,656
—ZZ)\EZA-H 31st January 2018
“ZTNE-F-HZ
- )\f-A=1-H
- 450,000 - - 450,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
ZET\5ZA-H 31st January 2018
“T-FF-A-BE
2 \§-A=1-H
- 750,000 - - 750,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
“ZE\&-f-H 31st January 2018
“Z-—-f-f-H%
ZE-N\§-A=T-H
Famiy 562,500 - - - 562,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420
Rk “EEAET-ATEA 14th December 2016
“ZEtET-ATRAZ
“TRETZATEA
987,500 - - - 937,500 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1420
“EEF+-AtEA 14th December 2016
“ZZ\E+-AtHAZ
T RETZATHA
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) BRESTE (@)

Share Options of the Company (continued) RATZ2BREE)
Number of share options
BREHE
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Natureof ~ 1stJanuary Cancelled/  31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZZENE
-B-H Bi#/ t-A=t-A B
#e BEME A ERM  BE  BAX ARfE KBS e B
(HKS)
(B7)
- 300,000 - - 300,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
—EE\EZA-H 31st January 2018
“ZENF-_A-HZ
ZE-\§-A=T-H
- 450,000 - - 450,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1,656
“ZZ)\5-p-H 31st January 2018
“2-%F-f-HZE
5 \E-A=T-H
- 750,000 - - 750,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1,656
“ZZ\E-A-H 31st January 2018
“5——%-f-H%
- \§-A=1-H
TSANG Sai Chung,  Personal 3,000,000 - (1,000,000) - 2,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1420
Kirk (‘Mr. TSANG) fELA (note 3) 5 F+-A1ER 14th December 2016
es(grE]) (RfzE3) “EELEL-ATRAE
3 FtZATRA
5,000,000 = = = 5,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420
“EENEt-F+RA 14th December 2016
“ZZ\ETZATRAZ
“EEtZATRE
- 1,600,000 - - 1,600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1,656
“ZZ)\5-B-H 31st January 2018
“TENE-A-HE
5 \E-A=T-H
- 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1,656
“ZZ\E-A-H 31st January 2018
“Z-%%-f-H%
- )\§-A=1-H
- 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
“ZZ\E-f-H 31st January 2018
“F——%-f-HE
2 \§-A=1-H
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

RS ()

Share Options of the Company (continued) RATZBREE)
Number of share options
BREHE
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Natureof ~ 1stJanuary Cancelled/  31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZZENE
-A-H Bi#/ +ZR=1-8 B
#e BEIE A ERY  BE  BAX AfE KBS e {8
(HKS)
(A7)
CHAN Kwok Fong,  Personal 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1420
Joseph fEA ZEENFTZATER 14th December 2016
(‘Mr. CHAN") “ZStETATRAZ
REF(BREE]) “EErZATRE
1,500,000 = = = 1,500,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1420
“EENET-AtAR 14th December 2016
“ZZ\E+-A+RAZ
“TRETZATEA
2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2009 to 1420
“EEET-ATLA 14th December 2016
“EENET-AtRRR
T RETZATHA
- 1,600,000 - - 1,600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
“ET\5ZR-H 31st January 2018
“ZENE-A-HZ
—Z-\§-A=1-H
- 2,400,000 - - 2,400,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
“ZE\$-f-H 31st January 2018
“Z-ZF_f-H%
ZE-\§-A=1-H
- 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1,656
“2Z)\F-f-H 31st January 2018
“2——%-f-H%
5 \§-A=T-H
TANG Sau Wai, Personal 3,600,000 = = = 3,600,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1420
Tom ('Mr. TANG') fHLA “25\5+-AtHA 14th December 2016
BrE(HxE]) “EELE+ZATRAE
T RETZATHA
5,900,000 - - - 5,900,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1420
—EENFTZATER 14th December 2016
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

BT E(®)

Share Options of the Company (continued) AATZEBREE)
Number of share options
BREHE
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Natureof ~ 1stJanuary Cancelled/  31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZZENE
-B-H Bi#/ t-A=t-A B
#e BEME A ERM  BE  BAX ARfE KBS e B
(HKS)
(B7)
1,500,000 = = = 1,500,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2009 to 1420
“ZENEt-FtRA 14th December 2016
“EENET-ATRRE
“EErZATRE
- 800,000 - - 800,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1,656
“ZZ)\5-p-H 31st January 2018
“SENE-A-HE
5 \E-A=T-H
- 1,200,000 - - 1,200,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1,656
“ZZ\E-A-H 31st January 2018
“Z-%%-f-H%
- \§-A=1-H
- 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
“ZZ\E-R-H 31st January 2018
“E—%f-HF
- \§-R=1-H
FAN Yan Hok, Personal - 600,000 - - 600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
Phillp ('Mr. FAN') - {E.A “ZZ\E-f-H 31st January 2018
o= ((Feyit: A “EENF-A-HE
ZE-\§-A=T-H
- 900,000 - - 900,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1,656
“ZZ)\5-p-H 31st January 2018
“2-%F-f-HZF
5 \E-A=T-H
- 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1,656
“ZZ\E-A-H 31st January 2018
“Z——%-f-H%
- /\§-A=1-H
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) BRESTE (@)

Share Options of the Company (continued) RATZBREE)
Number of share options
BREHE
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Natureof ~ 1stJanuary Cancelled/  31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
R-FENE R-FBNE
-A-H Bi#/ t-A=t-A B
#e BEIE A ERY  BE  BAX AfE KBS e e
(HKS)
(A7)
CHUNG Cho Yee,  Personal - 600,000 - - 600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.696
Mico fHA “ZZ)\5-F-R 31st January 2018
(*Mr. CHUNG) “TENE-A-HZ
gtz ((ExL)) “2-\f-H=1-H
- 900,000 - - 900,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1,656
“2Z)\F-A-H 31st January 2018
“2-%F-F-HZ
5 \§-A=T-H
- 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1,656
“ZZ)\5-h-H 31st January 2018
“T——F-f-H%
- )\§-A=1-H
CHENG YukWo  Personal - 600,000 - - 600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
(‘Mr.CHENG) ~ fAA “2E\§-A-A 31st January 2018
BEn(BEE]) “EINE-A-HE
2 \§-R=1-H
- 900,000 - - 900,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
“ZE\&-f-H 31st January 2018
“$-ZF_f-H%
ZE-N\§-A=T-H
- 1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1,656
“23)\f-f-H 31st January 2018
“2——%-f-H%
5 \E-A=T-H
Albert Thomas Personal - 600,000 - - 600,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.696
DAROSA, Junior  {AA —FZ)\&-fA-H 3ist January 2018
(‘Mr. DA ROSAY) “EENE-A-RE
Bkt “T-\¥-A=t-H
([&%4))
- 900,000 - - 900,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to 1.656
“EF\&-A-H 31st January 2018
“T-FF-A-RE
—Z-\§-A=1-H
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

B IR R T &) ()

Share Options of the Company (continued) AATZEBREE)
Number of share options
RlEHE
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Nature of 1st January Cancelled/ 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZBENE
-fA-A Bi#/  tZA=t-H 8k
i BEME A BRY  BAE  BAX AME BHEH e e
(HKS)
(1)
1,500,000 - - 1,500,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1.656
“TTN\§2A-H 31st January 2018
“ET——%-f-A%
ZF-\§-A=1-H
Sub-total 27,000,000 35,000,000  (1,000,000) - 61,000,000
Nt
Employees and 26,900,000 - (3,500,000) (3,100,000) 20,300,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1420
other participants (note 4) —Z5Et-AtRA 14th December 2016
(Note 1) (PizE4) “ZEHET-ATEAR
EEREM B RETZATHER
SEAL
(RizH1) 46,050,000 - - (10,100,000) 3950000 15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1420
“EEFT-ATEA 14th December 2016
“ZE\FT_ATRAZ
2 RETZATER
36,750,000 - - (6,000,000) 30,750,000 15th December 2006 15th December 2009 to 1420
“ERNETZATLA 14th December 2016
“TENET-ATRAR
B ETATEA
3,330,000 - - (3,330,000 - Tth June 2007 Tth June 2008 to 1,948
“EECESALA 6th Jung 2017
“E5\ERALAE
S I
3,330,000 - - (3,330,000 - 7th June 2007 7th June 2009 to 1.948
“TRHERALA 6th June 2017
ZETNERALRE
ZE-tERARA
3,340,000 - - (3,340,000 - Tth June 2007 7th June 20100 1,948
“ERERALA 6th June 2017

“2-%E AtAZ
“E—+ExBRH
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

RS ()

Share Options of the Company (continued) AAT 2 HBRE(E)
Number of share options
EREHE
QOutstanding at QOutstanding at
Nature of 1st January Cancelled/ 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZEBNE
-A-A Bi#/ tZR=t-H 8k
i BEME A BRY  BAE  BAX A RLEH i &
(HKS)
(%7m)
5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 3rd July 2007 16th December 2007 to 2.300
“TRHELAZR 2nd July 2017
ZERtETZATRAR
“2-tELAZE
2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 3rd July 2007 16th December 2008 to 2.300
“STrETA=R 2nd July 2017
“ZE\E+ZATRAR
“2-tEtAZH
2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 3rd July 2007 15th December 2009 to 2.300
S 2nd July 2017
“IEAET-ATRAR
“E-tEEAZA
1,800,000 - - (1,800,000) - 3rd July 2007 3rd July 2008 to 2.300
s 2nd July 2017
“3T\§tAZRZ
ZE-t5tAZA
2,700,000 - - (2,700,000) - 3rd July 2007 3rd July 2009 to 2.300
“TRHELAZR 2nd July 2017
“ZENELAZAR
“2-+ELAZE
4,500,000 - - (4500,000) - 3rd July 2007 3rd July 20100 2.300
“ETrETA=R 2nd July 2017
“E-ZELAZRE
“2-+E+AZH
- 35,980,000 - (3400,000) 32,580,000 1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to 1.656
“%Z)\f-f-H 31st January 2018
“STNE-A-RZ
Z2-\§-A=1-H
- 53,970,000 - (5,100,000) 48,870,000 st February 2008 1st February 2010t 1,656
“EE/\5Zh-H 31t January 2018
“R-FECf-RE
Z5-\§-A=1-H
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Company immediately before the dates on which the share
options were exercised was HK$1.757.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) R IR AES 8 ()
Share Options of the Company (continued) AATZERAEGE)
Number of share options
FlEHE
Outstanding at QOutstanding at
Nature of 1st January Cancelled/ 31st December Exercise price
Name interest 2008  Granted Exercised  Lapsed 2008 Date of grant Exercise period per share
RZBENE RZEENE
-B-8 Bi#/  tZR=t-H gl
i ERitE A BRE EAE B&M AE RLEH s e
(HKS)
(%7m)
- 89,950,000 - (8500,000) 81,450,000 st February 2008 1st February 2011 to 1,656
“EE/\EZfA-H 1st January 2018
“ET——%-f-A%
ZE-\§-A=1-H
Sub-total 138,700,000 179,900,000  (3,500,000) (55,200,000 259,900,000
Nt
Total 165,700,000 214,900,000  (4,500,000) (55,200,000 320,900,000
a5t
Notes: B 3E
1. Mr. CHENG Sum Hing, Sam, Mr. NG Chi Man, Michael, Mr. 1. EBZRESEA - RENELE - RIIKFEE - FAXRELELERNE
CHEN Libo, Mr. CHAU Wing Hing and Mr. SHI Jihua resigned BEXEDHIN=_ZZTLFA=ZtTNE ZZTZTN\F<A
as executive directors of the Company with effect from 29th ‘T’fli A ZEENFNLA=+H  ZTEZENF+ALBER=
June 2007, 15th June 2008, 30th September 2008, 9th ZNFETANABELRRRRITES - FABREREE=
October 2008 and 9th October 2008 respectively. Details of ggl\iJriﬂ =T —HIEFEREZRITHEREEMES
the outstanding share options held by them during the year &Eﬁﬂ%iﬁ/\jﬂ* DERE R E - BB ZATRAR ﬂ@i
ended 31st December 2008 were accounted and described ERRAF+ AT HIEFEZFBRURBE_ZT
under the heading “Employees and other participants”. Such NERNA=FTBEERNEARZTHREAESTEER THER
details were previously accounted and described under the it o
name of the respective Directors in the Company’s annual
report for the year ended 31st December 2007 and interim
report for the six months ended 30th June 2008.
2. The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately 2. EBR-ZTNF-A—-BRHEREN—H - ARFRKRS
before the options granted on 1st February 2008 was ZWTH{EA1.638T
HK$1.63.
3. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the 3.  ERBEEETER—R - KRB 2 IEFHRTHER
Company immediately before the date on which the share 2187
options were exercised was HK$2.18.
4. The weighted average closing price of the shares of the 4.  REBREETEA—H - AAFRG 2 NEFHKHES

175787 ©
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share Options of the Company (continued)

Using the Binomial Valuation model, the fair value of
214,900,000 share options granted on 1st February
2008 was HK$112.1 million for the year under review.
The significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$1.64 at the grant date, exercise price of HK$1.656,
volatility of 56.0%, dividend yield of 6.3%, an expected
option life of 10 years and risk-free interest rate of 2.6%. The
volatility measured at the standard deviation of continuously
compounded share returns is based on statistical analysis
of weekly share prices over the last 12 months. The vesting
period is between 1st February 2008 to 31st January 2011.
The value of the share options is subject to a number of
assumptions and with regard to the limitation of model.
Therefore, the value may be subjective and difficult to
determine. The assumptions of calculation of fair value of
HK$56.6 million granted on 15th December 2006 were
described in Note 11 (c) of the annual financial statements
for year ended 31st December 2006. The assumptions of
calculation of fair value of HK$19.7 million of share options
granted on 7th June 2007 and 3rd July 2007 respectively
were described in Note 10 (c) of the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31st December 2007.

Share Options of the subsidiary of the Company

At the annual general meeting of HKE held on 27th May
2008, its old share option scheme adopted on 16th April
2002 (the “Old HKE Option Scheme”) was terminated and a
new share option scheme (the “New HKE Option Scheme”)
which contains terms substantially similar to the one adopted
by the Company, was adopted. Details of these two share
option schemes of HKE are summarized below.

HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share Options of the subsidiary of the Company

(continued)

R IR AES 8 ()
RO TIHE A R 2 R ()

New HKE Option Scheme
BB IR B R AT 8l

Old HKE Option Scheme
BBIEREBRETE

(@) Purpose

B #Y

(b) Eligible Persons
BEBAL

() Maximum number of
shares available for
issue
AHBEITRMD 2 &S

2iH

The principal purposes are to recruit and
retain high calibre Eligible Persons (as defined
below) and attract human resources that
are valuable to the HKE Group or any entity
in which any member of the HKE Group
holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity”
or “Invested Entities”), to recognise the
significant contributions of the Eligible Persons
to the growth of the HKE Group or Invested
Entities by rewarding them with opportunities
to obtain ownership interest in HKE and to
further motivate and give incentives to these
Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to
the long term success and prosperity of the
HKE or Invested Entities.
TEZANREBERBEEFZAERAL(E
FER T URREIHEBHMEREELET
ERIKE RRFAERNE R 2 ERIER (R
BERDBEBEZANER  FHhREHEKS
FEEBRATEREGEERBNEREGERE
7 REESFHEEMEREENIRETR
ZERFEHEXRER @ WiE—TEE &R
BZECEBATHERTEINERIIRE
ERZREKDIELER

Any employee (whether full time or part
time), senior executive or officer, manager,
director (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive director)
or consultant of any members of the HKE
Group or any Invested Entity who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, have contributed or
will contribute to the growth and development
of the HKE Group or any Invested Entity.

EEE2RMNERREMNGLIBGHEE
Mt REEREAREEB CERRERE
HER BB REERE T EAKE QT
IREBRBZTBIARBES  SMITHA
BREEAE K18 B2(BEHTES
FERMITEE MBI IENITES )M -

The total number of shares of HKE available
for issue under the New HKE Option Scheme
is 76,353,475 shares which represent 10% of
the issued share capital of HKE as at the date
of this Annual Report.
REBEEREFERAERES BRI HEIT A
BT AL IR AR (0 48 B R 76,353,475 % + B E
REBFRERNAFERB 2 2 BITREALN
10% °

The purposes are to provide incentives and
rewards to those who contribute to the success
of the HKE’s operations.

B 8 RS & SR B ST RLIR 2 BN B B Bk
AT e

Eligible participants of the Old HKE Option
Scheme include, among others, any employee of
the HKE Group (including any Director of HKE or
any of its subsidiaries) and those companies in
the equity share capital of which HKE, directly or
indirectly, had a 20 percent or greater beneficial
interest but excluding HKE’s subsidiaries.

BN REBREAZEZAERALBERE (R
hRF)EENEREEEMAES ETEEE
R RERSEEMIMEARIERES - REBHH
RUREE AR B SR AR #5520%30 A £
2R\ T BEEEMERIMELRR -

The maximum number of ordinary shares might
be granted under the Old HKE Option Scheme
cannot exceed 18,254,446 ordinary shares
and this Old HKE Option Scheme has been
terminated on 27th May 2008.
REZBFCREBREABIRLBRES N2
TRl Rm A M5iH8iR18,254,446 0 EiEAR -
WEEFEREBREAZEN _ZT/N\FHA
o o = 3
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share Options of the subsidiary of the Company

(continued)

R AESH 8 ()
RO TIMIE A R 2 R ()

New HKE Option Scheme
BBITRERAT R

Old HKE Option Scheme
EBMERERRERTS

(d) Maximum entitlement

of each Eligible

Person
BEEBALTZES
[R=8

(e) Period within which

=

the shares must be
taken up under an
option

RIE B AR R I AR
9 2 HAfE

Minimum period, if
any, for which an
option must be held
FABERE KA
PR ()

Period open for
acceptance of an
option and amount
payable upon
acceptance

B AR BB ASHE 2 BARR LA
RMERFENZ 28

The total number of shares of HKE issued
and to be issued upon exercise of options
(whether exercised or outstanding) granted
in any 12-month period to:

PRI H 2 Ef/+ ZE A HE - (TEEREE
P (T am B BT REARTTR) FEETR
1T EITZBEENRRMDBE -

() each Eligible Person must not exceed
1% of the shares of HKE in issue;
BEAEBAL T SRBATENERDE
TTRAD1%

(i) a substantial shareholder or an
Independent Non-executive Director
of HKE must not exceed 0.1% of the
shares of HKE in issue and not exceed
HK$5 million in aggregate value.
FERRIBEEFERBILIERITEST
FERAESHEREETRG01% KA
165,000,000 7T ©

An option must be exercised within 10 years
from the date on which it is granted or such
shorter period as the Board may specify at
the time of grant.

BREANKE AREA10FHEFTS A4
PR R 1R PR 2 BUR AR AT THE o

At the time of the grant of an option, the
Board must specify the minimum period(s),
if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.
REERER AR - ERGARIAEATEA]
FAEZBRESEHR(ME) -

An offer of the grant of an option shall
remain open for acceptance for a period
of 10 business days from the date of offer
and a consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid
upon acceptance.

REFXH 2 BRER BIEE B HIR +EE
FEHHRARHER - FARAEM1.087T
HKIE -
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The total number of shares of HKE issued and
to be issued upon exercise of options (whether
exercised or outstanding) granted in any
12-month period to:

PR 2 A+ ZfE A B - ITEER L ERE
(T im B BT RARTTER) R E BT M TETT
ZEBIRLRIR D S

() each Eligible Person must not exceed 1%
of the shares of HKE in issue;
BHREERATNMGHAEEFEIRE T

&9 1% ¢

(i) a substantial shareholder or an Independent
Non-executive Director of HKE must not
exceed 0.1% of the shares of HKE in issue
and not exceed HK$5 million in aggregate
value.
FTERFRABBHERBIIEATESZD
FEBEBMEREETRGH0.1% REE
5,000,000/ 7T °

An option must be exercised within 10 years
from the date on which it is deemed to have
been granted.
REIREZAN R B EIRRET10F ATTfE -

An option might be exercised subject to the
minimum period, if any, specified in the terms
of grant.
IR D AR R RET R 2 SR AR (1)
ATT{E ©

An offer of the specified grant of share options
would be deemed to have been accepted
when the counterpart of the offer and
acceptance letter is duly signed by the grantee
together with a remittance in favour of HKE
in the amount specified in the offer, being the
consideration for the grant of the option, is
received by HKE at the place specified in the
option agreement within 28 days from the date
of the offer or such other period as the Board
may specify in writing.
EARAEAZZREERE AR - ARR
R gZ ARt s ANEEE A e A ER
B HMEREA - BEMEREBRE R R
T2 B B R PRET B A B B R BEIR A X
mAZ IR (BIR L ERE 2 R EB)% - KREBKR
BB AR RN -



SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
Share Options of the subsidiary of the Company

(continued)

R IR AES 8 ()
RO FIHE A R 2 R (D)

New HKE Option Scheme
BBITRERAT RS R

Old HKE Option Scheme
EBMERERRERTS

(h) Basis of determining
the subscription
price of an option
EEBRERBEZ
B

() Remaining life

The exercise price must be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of grant; (ii)
the average closing prices of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (i) the nominal value of a share.
THEEARLIRATESE  (RHPKE R
HITE R 2 P g B B RPADIKTIE : ()RR
BERRE BRI AEE % B EBRI SRR
BRMATITFHWTE « K(i)iXHEE -

The New HKE Option Scheme has a life of

The exercise price of the option shall be
determined by the Board, provided that it
would not be less than the higher of: (i) the
closing price of the HKE’s ordinary shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of option,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average
of the closing share price of the HKE's ordinary
share as stated in the Stock Exchange for the
five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
ordinary shares of HKE.
BRETEEREFSET  MERDAUTR
mE () BEEER T BN ERER L BB (K
AREFER)EBMREE A RERMFKHE (i)
BANERETRREENEL AR AEE3A
TEB AT PR DI T B ¢+ K (i) BB FTaeRE 3@
f&mE1E o

The Old HKE Option Scheme was terminated

T FH 10 years and will expire on 27th May 2018  on 27th May 2008.

unless otherwise terminated in accordance  HEF L REBREFE N _EZENFRA
with the terms of the New HKE Option  —++B&IE -
Scheme.
RIRE BB IR AT B RST8] 2 1650 - BRIE
SITEIE - BRIE BRI B RE S F
HAETE  BRZ=ZZ—/\FREA=-+T+tHE
m e

No option has been granted by HKE under the Old HKE BE SN EEERE AR EER - EENERA

Option Scheme since inception up to its termination on 27th

May 2008.

No options had been granted by HKE under the New HKE
Option Scheme since inception up to the year ended 31st

December 2008.

“t+HEBRRIEER - BFEREE

TR AR L 15 (R AT R A

BREF RN BREF ARG EEE_TT/\F+ A
=T—RLEFE  BEHEE

TR AR (TR AR

BBER (ER) ARLARD-ZZN\FER

53



54

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

At 31st December 2008, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”))
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
adopted by the Company were as follows:

() Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company:

EENEF 2 ER

REZZBZENFHZA=1+—H  FEFRARAEBTERA
BRARRREEMEREE (E&REF KPR (T
FREIE D)) EXVERZ D - R RESTHEE
RO &S M E RPIZE 352 R EFE M B L 2 e Fox
B RBARRERA 2 LR RIS+ PR EHETAE
FETEFRXZNERETRI(RETR DR EANEARAT
B P2 Hegs FORRIAT

() RAEIDROGRAEBRDZER

Approximate
percentage of
the existing issued

Nature of Number of share capital of
Name of Director interest Shares the Company
HARATRELE
BITIRAEL
EEns REmEE R EE HNED
Mr. OEI Personal 192,940,410! 2.337%
|mRAE A
Corporate 3,393,811,5902 41.113%
AF]
Joint 10,916,7358 0.132%
Gl
Family 3,000,000* 0.036%
ENI
Mr. TSANG Personal 17,687,6425 0.214%
bt &l A
Mr. CHAN Personal 13,000,0006 0.157%
PR SE A4 A
Mr. TANG Personal 15,127,9857 0.183%
BlSE fEA
Family 180,0578 0.002%
ENI
Mr. FAN Personal 3,000,000° 0.036%
BEAE &l A
Mr. CHUNG Personal 3,000,00010 0.036%
Bt & A
Mr. CHENG Personal 3,000,000 0.036%
Ep5e A EA
Mr. DA ROSA Personal 3,000,00012 0.036%
EESE & A
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(continued)

Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of associated corporation of the

(ii)

ESRESF2ERE @

(i) REQXREEEEROREABRD TR

Company:
Approximate
percentage of
the existing issued
share capital of
Name of associated Name of Nature of Number of the associated
corporation Director interest Shares corporation
ERESEEREE
BATIRZAEL
HECEE AR EEpE EmtE RHEE NEDH
HKE Mr. OEl Corporate 572,598,29813 74.99%
BAEEIR s NS
Notes: MIsE -

The personal interest of Mr. OEl represents an interest
in 172,673,100 shares of the Company, an interest in
17,267,310 underlying shares in respect of warrants
issued by the Company and an interest in 3,000,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes”
section above.

The corporate interest of Mr. OEl represents an interest
in 2,904,637,037 shares of the Company and an
interest in 278,443,244 underlying shares in respect
of warrants issued by the Company held by Creator
Holdings Limited (“Creator”), a company beneficially
and wholly owned by Mr. OEI, and an interest in
191,573,918 shares of the Company and an interest
in 19,157,391 underlying shares in respect of warrants
issued by the Company held by Genesis Capital Group
Limited (“Genesis”), a company owned as to 50% by
Mr. OEl and as to the remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs.
OEl Valonia Lau (“Mrs. OEI").

The joint interest of Mr. OEIl represents an interest in
5,454,305 shares of the Company and an interest in
5,462,430 underlying shares in respect of warrants
issued by the Company jointly held with his wife, Mrs.
OEl.

The family interest of Mr. OEl represents an interest
in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options
granted by the Company to Mrs. OEIl as detailed in
“Share Option Schemes” section above.

The personal interest of Mr. TSANG represents an
interest in 2,507,302 shares of the Company, an interest
in 180,340 underlying shares in respect of warrants
issued by the Company and an interest in 15,000,000
underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company as detailed in “Share Option Schemes”
section above.

The personal interest of Mr. CHAN represents an interest
in 13,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options
granted by the Company as detailed in “Share Option
Schemes” section above.

1. EREZEAERIERAREFN72,673,1000% 815D 2 4
= EARNFBEITRRER B 217,267,3100% 8%
B R X[ R AR E] | — BT Rf il AR R Bl Fri%
BB 78 2 3,000,000 H A% (0 #E 25 o

2. EAEZARERERARESEEMEZEAESES
RARI([EIE |)#E 22,904,637,037 AR BN 2
R RARAET 2 RIRER BB 2 278,443,244 1%
BRI  UERRAEXERECETFRIZELLE (=
A EBHEBS0%ER 2 EAIEBERAR (L DR
B.2191,573,918 AR A D 2 #em M AR A FTEE 1T
RAER AR 219,157,391 BRARRIA (7 #E2s ©

3. EiAZHREZIENAR G 5,454,305 i 10 2 #
0 URBEARRBFEITRIREEE B 25,462,430
RO ER - FTERDBEEES FEALREFS -

4, EEEZREREFE L EREE ] —fATEiA
NEIRFEAZER#ES 23,000,000 8% 48 B8 A% 17 #

vy
2%
m °

5. B4 ZEAREREIER 2,507,302 AR F M AD 2
%~ BN A FTETTRIRERE B 2 180,340 M #E AR
iR - AR E X[ BEAERTE] | — Tt il AR A AlFT
% H BB RSB R 215,000,000 FR BB A (D425 ©

6. PRELEZEARIIENE X[ EREE | —&ipTsFil
RN B BT IR H B AR A 45 B8 2 13,000,000 F% 48 78 A% 17 4

Ny
zS o
m

BBER (EZR) ARARD-ZZN\FER
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

(continued)
(ii) Long positions in the shares and underlying
shares of associated corporation of the

Company: (continued)
Notes: (continued)

7. The personal interest of Mr. TANG represents an interest
in 116,351 shares of the Company, an interest in 11,634
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company and an interest in 15,000,000 underlying
shares in respect of options granted by the Company as
detailed in “Share Option Schemes” section above.

8.  The family interest of Mr. TANG represents an interest
in 163,536 shares in the Company and an interest in
16,521 underlying shares in respect of warrants issued
by the Company held by his wife.

9.  The personal interest of Mr. FAN represents an interest
in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options
granted by the Company as detailed in “Share Option
Schemes” section above.

10. The personal interest of Mr. CHUNG represents an
interest in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of
options granted by the Company as detailed in “Share
Option Schemes” section above.

11. The personal interest of Mr. CHENG represents an
interest in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of
options granted by the Company as detailed in “Share
Option Schemes” section above.

12.  The personal interest of Mr. DA ROSA represents an
interest in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of
options granted by the Company as detailed in “Share
Option Schemes” section above.

13. The corporate interest of Mr. OEl represents an interest
in 572,598,298 shares held by the Company in HKE.
Since the Company is held as to approximately 35.187%
by Creator, a company wholly-owned by Mr. OEl, he is
deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares in
which the Company is taken to be interested in HKE.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2008, none
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained
in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement that enabled the Directors of the Company
or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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EENEF 2 EE @)

(i) RAEQXREEEERORAEABRD TR
(%)

BisE - ()

7. BRAEA 2 A ARERRIEN116,351 AR A BRI < RS
BN B FTE TR AR A EE B B 2 11,634 A AR BE A% 10 1
a5 AR F X[ B E] | — &Rt A R R FTIR
BER% 17 78,2 15,000,0000% A8 AR (D #E2S ©

8. MAAEZREEZZIEN 163,536 AR B kD 2 ek
MR EFTHARANARETZRAREEGBAZ
16,521 I AHRA AR (D #E % ©

9. SBEAZEAREIEE EX[ B S| ST
XA PR L FE AR i 7 8 2 3,000,000 A% HE BB AR 17 #E 2%

10. $ERAZEAESIEE X BIRERT S| —fiprsfl A
N A FT BB AR HE 7S 78 2 3,000,000R% A8 R (D A 25 ©

11, BG4 2 ARG F 30 BEARAERT 8 | —FTsEa A
N A FT R BB RS HE S 78 2. 3,000,000R% AR AR (D A 2S ©

12, BRAEZEARERSIEE X B S — /AR
XA P F AR i 7 8 2 3,000,000 A% HE A AR 17 #E 25

18. BAEZRAAEERARARNEE LRI
572,598,208 k{2 # s - MM E L 2 2B R AA
EFFA#)35.187 % s - REAARBERNE —HAR
ARG 2 BB AR A s -

BREXHEEN R_ZZN\F+_A=+—H #EES
FARBEETBRABRAR B LA EAHREEZE(EER
&5 LB RGIFEXVER) 2 E - BRI REHTH#
BERNEF M RGRDIFEI5216F EFENE LM 2 EA
RRIOAR  IRBELETRRFAEFEETAREANSAR
A KB R P2 (R SRR -

EERERODES 2EF

B EXHEEIN  RAFREAERE - AR A HE RIS
NEE LML FRERRREFTLRES B ZEBK
18BRIA T F 2 A FE B AL RS (] A Al A A B B 2 A 3k
B o



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

Mr. OEI Tjie Goan is the chairman and a director of PT. Sinar
Mas, a company together with its subsidiaries, associates,
including Asia Pulp & Paper Company, Ltd., and its holding
companies (if any) (the “Sinar Mas Group”) are engaged
in, among other things, general trading and, property
development and investment. One of the business activities
of the Sinar Mas Group is property development and
investment in the PRC.

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, a member of the Oei family and a son
of Mr. OEl Tjie Goan, does not have any directorship in the
Sinar Mas Group.

Mr. LI Xueming is a director of China Everbright Group
Limited and China Everbright Holdings Company Limited,
together with their subsidiaries, associates, and holding
companies (the “China Everbright Group”) and Mr. FAN Yan
Hok, Philip is a director of China Everbright International
Limited, a member of the China Everbright Group. Part of
its business activities include (i) property development and
investment; (i) alternative energy business; (iii) infrastructure
business; and (iv) construction.

Mr. LIU Guolin and Mr. XU Zheng are directors and senior
management in Shanghai Construction (Group) General
Corporation (together with its subsidiaries, associates and
holding companies (if any), the “Shanghai Construction
Group”) which is a former substantial Shareholder (as defined
in Part XV of the SFO) as well as a sub-contractor and a
joint venture partner for certain construction projects of the
Group. One of its business activities is construction business
in the PRC.

Having considered that the Company itself has its own
management supervising the daily operation and making
financial and business decisions, the Company can operate
its business independently of, and at arm’s length from the
businesses of the Sinar Mas Group, China Everbright Group
and the Shanghai Construction Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or their
respective associate(s) was interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.

EEREREHN S

REEEFRERERE - AR T HEME QB ERT L ER
ARBEFERIARRAEAEDRCEREH

EEAEHRFRE 2D

FHHIRCHEBPT. Sinar MasEEFRE = © PT. Sinar MasiE [
HBAE  BEAR(BEEMBERESRAR) RELRK
AR(IE)(FEIEXERDRB(EFBE) —REHUAR
MEBREREER - SHEEEBH 2 —ARFELEYZE
ERRIEE -

BN EERERREIKXERFTSRTEZT » TERENX
SEEEEMERRS -

TERLEAPENKR(EE)BRARMTREEAERERA
RI(EREMBAR BEARMEER AR GHE PE
AEEDES  MeCBLEAATFBREAEEKE AFH
Bl RBBRERARES - HADEFRE()WERRIK
B (VERAERETR « (NEREES - Rv)iESE-

BIEMELERIMELET A BRI (RE) @ARGERE
MEBLAR  BMEARRERAR(MA)SE LEETE
BHEERFAEEENXE - LERTEER/NEIERR
(E&ABFNHERAIEXVER) FRAEEE TEEBERZD
HEREEEH - DERTEEET —BEBRNTENEE
BREERFE -

ERARTEEAS 2 ERERAEE R HEBBIE R
BT REEORSE - AR R Z RSB BI N S KK
B PEEARER LSRTEEYRRSATL EHAT
B -

BREXHEEIN  EFIWESTBIHEAIRERSE BN
R AR ERE BRI BA G T 2 R

BBER (ER) ARLARD-ZZN\FER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

IN SECURITIES

At 31st December 2008, the following persons (other than
a director or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company as recorded in the register required to be kept KB
under section 336 of Part XV of of the SFO:

N-—TT

N—==

FERRAES 2R

NE+ZA=+—8B A TAL(EFHARAE
ZITHRABKRIN RAR B Z B0 RAAERO FHEE LN
& 7 M EAE R BIFEXVERF 336 15 Efr B R B refit 2 s sk

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares  RAZRA T RGO REERGOZEFE
of the Company
Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
Nature of Number of share capital of
Name of Shareholder interest shares the Company
EARARREE
BITIRAEE
RRME S HE EmtE R EE HWEDH
Mrs. OEl Personal 3,000,000 0.036%
'EA EA
Corporate 210,731,3092 2.553%
NG]
Joint 10,916,735 0.132%
[
Family 3,376,020,6914 40.898%
ENI
Creator Beneficial owner 3,1883,080,2815 38.560%
Bl BHEAA
Stephen A. FEINBERG Corporate 1,569,511,900 19.013%
NG]
Cerberus Institutional Associates, Corporate 1,569,511,9006 19.013%
L.L.C. (“Cerberus”) NG]
Promontoria Europe Investments Corporate 1,569,511,900 19.013%
Xl LDC NC]
Promontoria Holding Cooperatie Corporate 1,569,511,900 19.013%
U.A. NC]
Penta Investment Advisers Investment manager 1,5630,873,3397 18.545%
Limited (“Penta”) 155 4238
John ZWAANSTRA Corporate 1,530,873,339 18.545%
NG]
Mercurius GP LLC Founder of a discretionary trust 755,123,648 9.148%
EFEESEIHA
Penta Asia Fund, Ltd. Corporate 755,123,648 9.148%
NG]
Todd ZWAANSTRA Trustee 755,123,648 9.148%
EFEA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES (continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

of the Company (continued)
Notes:

1. The personal interest of Mrs. OEl represents an interest in
3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options granted by
the Company to her.

2. The corporate interest of Mrs. OEl represents an interest in
191,673,918 shares and an interest in 19,157,391 underlying
shares in respect of warrants issued by the Company held by
Genesis, a company owned as to 50% by Mrs. OEl and as to
the remaining 50% by Mr. OEI.

3.  Thejoint interest of Mrs. OEl represents an interest in 5,454,305
shares and an interest in 5,462,430 underlying shares in
respect of warrants issued by the Company jointly held with
Mr. OEl.

4. The family interest of Mrs. OEl represents an interest in
2,904,637,037 shares and an interest in 278,443,244
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company held by Creator, an interest in 172,673,100 shares
and an interest in 17,267,310 underlying shares in respect
of warrants issued by the Company held by Mr. OEl, and an
interest in 3,000,000 underlying shares in respect of options
granted by the Company to Mr. OEl.

5.  The beneficial interest of Creator includes an interest in
2,904,637,037 shares and an interest in 278,443,244
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company. Mr. OEl is a director of Creator.

6. The beneficial interest of Cerberus includes an interest
in 1,426,829,000 shares and an interest in 142,682,900
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company held by certain funds of Cerberus which are
managed by Penta on a discretionary basis.

7. The investment manager interest of Penta includes an interest
in 1,415,016,586 shares and an interest in 115,856,753
underlying shares in respect of warrants issued by the
Company held by certain funds of Cerberus which are
managed by Penta on a discretionary basis.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st December 2008, the
Company had not been notified by any person, other than
directors and chief executive of the Company, who had
interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which are required to be recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 336 of Part XV
of the SFO.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Details of the continuing connected transactions are set
out in Notes 43a and 43b to the consolidated financial
statements.

FERRAE S 2 (%)

REQZTARDREBRD ZHR © (&)
EE

1. BAZBAARSZEEARARTEAZERERR 2
3,000,000/ t8 B3R °

2. Ej(z@ﬂﬁé¥¢aﬁ/\191 573,918 fn 2 2k - PARERA

RAFBETREEEEEMAEL (HEAEB0%ERZ A

A - HERo0% s T AR A ) FH 219,157,391 B IERIAX
fofEs °

3. BEAZHRAEZIEEEFELEERRAFE 25,454,305 1%
&EﬁiZlK R FTEE T RRRR M 35 B [ 2 5,462,430 IR 4R B8 AR 17 #E

E\

4, BEARZRIEHE=EHEEMRFE 22,904,637,037 RAR 1D 2 #E
I RARRRIFTEITRIREE B 2 278,443,244 % HEARX 15
ﬁE# - BEEERA 2172673, 1ooﬂxﬂx1’ﬁ2ﬁ¢éﬁé&$ ﬂﬁﬁ

BITRBAEE B 217,267, 310MB AR HERE © ARAR
[ E 2 A P I BB AR i A5 B8 2 3,000, oooﬂﬂafﬁﬂxfﬁﬁg/\ °

5. ABEZEZREEIEN2904,637,037RARM 2 B - AR
AR R B TR AR RERE A B 2 278,443,244 % HERE AR (D #E S ©
BAERRIEZES -

6. CerberusZ Bzt B1E1,426,829,0000% B0 Z #Ezs + MA
KM EARR R FTEITRREREF @M A Cerberusa TES (A
Penta B8 )15 2 142,682,900 8 FHREM (D 2 #E s

7. PentaZ REKIBRER B IEN1,415,016,586 % A% 1D 2 HES -
VAR BEZK A R AT B 1T iR AR HERE B B M A Cerberus® T A% (M
Penta® & 12 )14 2 115,856, 7530 AN D < #E2S o

BREXHEEN R_TTN\F+_HA=1t—H AQFL
TRFEEAMAL(ARREERTBTHRABRINRAR
A2 B fn RABRRR (A B LN E 5 M E IR HIEXVERE
3B6IEMEFERE M 2 ERIOKR -

KEBREXS

SEMBER 5 2 FBENERE M HRK M E43a%430 ©
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Opinion from the Independent Non-executive
Directors on the continuing connected transactions
In accordance with rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules, the
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed and approved the continuing connected
transactions described in Notes 43a and 43b to the
consolidated financial statements (“Continuing Connected
Transactions”) and confirmed that the Continuing Connected
Transactions were carried out in accordance with the
following principles:—

(@ inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms no less favourable than
terms available to (or from) independent third parties;

(c) inaccordance with the terms of the relevant agreements
governing the Continuing Connected Transactions; and

(d) on a fair and reasonable basis and in the interest of the
Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Report from the auditor on the continuing
connected transactions

In accordance with rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditor of the Company, has
performed certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the
Continuing Connected Transactions and reported that the
transactions entered into:—

(@ were approved by the Board of the Company;

(b) have been carried out in accordance with the terms
of the relevant agreements governing the Continuing
Connected Transactions; and

(c) have not exceeded the relevant annual caps.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of the Group’s purchases and sales for the
year attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as
follows:

Purchases

The largest supplier 17%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 44%
Sales

The largest customer 30%
Five largest customers in aggregate 87%

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or
shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers
or customers noted above.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2008, the Company
repurchased its ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as
follows:

FEEFRAER
ITEHERREFRENEAEBBEERNER 2B L
o -

BEH

A ER 17%
ﬁj('f ’EFﬁD/\ 44%
HEE

BAEP 30%
ﬁj(%}glﬂ/\ 87%
%% BEEMBMBATHARRRR(BESMAEB R

RAEBITRAEIBS%E ) BER D ANEE A A H R
P A EA s -

BE  HEFEEARQF LHES

REBEZE-ZTTZN\FT_A=1—"HLFE  "AAERHR
FfEEZ Es@Aan T

Total number of Price paid per Aggregate

ordinary shares ordinary share Consideration

Date of repurchase repurchased Highest Lowest paid

EBE BREBER2ENER

LEAERER:G EEREH RS RE SNREZH

HK$ HKS HKS

BT BT BT

16th January 2008 21,126,000 1.81 1.61 36,249,260
—EZEN\F—A+~H

17th January 2008 6,533,000 1.87 1.73 11,750,540
—EENF-HA++H

22nd January 2008 33,607,000 1.77 1.52 57,002,710

—EEN\F-HAZ+=H

18th March 2008 51,932,000 1.67 1.20 81,063,050
—TT/\F=A+NH

19th September 2008 587,000 0.73 0.72 423,640
—EZN\FHATNH

113,785,000 186,489,200

The repurchased shares were cancelled during the year and
the issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the
nominal value thereof.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

BOROHENFAZE  MARFDETRANTEAMEZE
Befp 2 EERD

%LY&%%%*K”ﬁ&EEHW%Q
s HERBEEAD RIEE L THES o
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 20 to 30.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own
code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions.
Specified employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information of the Group are also
subject to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code. A Code for Securities Dealings
by Employees has also been adopted in this regard.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES
Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is
set out in Note 12a to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at
the date of this report, there is sufficient public float of more
than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required under
the Listing Rules.

REVIEW OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS BY AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company comprises three
independent non-executive directors and one non-executive
director with written terms of reference in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports to
the Board. The audit committee has reviewed the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December 2008.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for reappointment. A resolution for the
reappointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the
Company is to be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the board
OEIl Kang, Eric
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 15th April 2009
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PRICEWATERHOUSE(COPERS

K R St B A AT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together, the “Group”) set out on pages 65 to 204, which
comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets
as at 31st December 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that
are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

PricewaterhouseCoopers BEORMKERSEER
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building s B
Central, Hong Kong KFRE |

Telephone: (852) 2289 8888
Facsimile: (852) 2810 9888

G (852) 2289 8888
fH E (852) 2810 9888
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at 31st December 2008 and of the Group’s
loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 15th April 2009
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For the year ended 31st December 2008
BE_TT/\F+-_A=+—RBIFE

Revenues
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other and general expenses

Impairment losses on assets

Fair value adjustments on
investment properties

Administrative expenses

Selling and distribution costs

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Share of losses less profits of
associated companies

Share of losses less profits of
jointly controlled entities

Gain on disposal of associated companies

(Loss)/profit before income tax
Income tax credit/(expense)

(Loss)/profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

(Loss)/earnings per share for
(loss)/profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company, expressed
in HK cents per share

Basic
Diluted
Dividends

Interim and special
Proposed final and special

a2

SHERAR

E7

HAdg A
Hit e —f &M
BERERE
BREMERAHEFE

TR E

#E(ER)/ &%

LR LN

BB AR

FEAGEE '~ R B RIBUE A
FEIER & A RIBEREN
RS QR ek

P RA (BIR)/ &%l
PRSHER, (S H)
FEE(BR)/ &

LUF (S -
ARABRESFEA
DB R

ENFIRREZIFEA
P& (BIR)/ BFlZ
HR(ER) 2
LIy R

A
BB

o R R Rl LR,
BORRH R A RIS

Note
FI5E

10
10

10

26

27

13

14

15

16

2008 2007
—EENF —ERLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT AHEBTT
294.7 706.1
(242.6) (603.4)
52.1 102.7
900.1 574.4
(260.5) (84.3)
(2,335.0) (833.9)
(473.0) 536.8
(454.2) (278.3)
(10.1) -
(2,580.6) 817.4
63.2 81.4
(237.2) (162.3)
(174.0) (80.9)
(85.5) 33.7
(81.1) 6.2)
- 181.2
(2,921.2) 945.2
111.5 (95.5)
(2,809.7) 849.7
(2,646.0) 834.6
(163.7) 15.1
(2,809.7) 849.7
(32.5) 15.8
(32.5) 15.7
121.6 543.3
- 283.7
121.6 827.0
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As at 31st December 2008
R-ZTE\F+-A=+—H

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment properties
Prepaid land lease payments
Property, plant and equipment
— Other property, plant and equipment
— Construction in progress
Intangible assets
Properties under development
Derivative financial instrument
Available-for-sale financial assets
Investments in associated companies
Investments in jointly controlled entities
Other non-current receivables

Total non-current assets

Current assets

Inventories

Properties held for sale

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Trade and other receivables

Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

wE
FRBHEE
wEM*
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M - WA
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fis

(=

Note
Bi5E

17
18

19
19
21
20
22
24
26
27

28
29

30
31
33
34

2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT BEET
2,827.4 2,922.2
5,969.7 2,259.8

937.1 921.0

160.3 820.4

1,217.2 62.9
624.3 1,358.8
5.0 5.0
23.8 25.8
1,233.1 1,014 .1
1,024.0 1,023.8
- 37.0

14,021.9 10,450.8

43.2 -

9.1 7.1

391.4 93.3

443.8 978.2

674.9 1,508.9

1,836.9 4,416.0
3,399.3 7,003.5
17,421.2 17,454.3




EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Proposed final and special dividends

Equity attributable to equity holders
of the Company

Minority interest

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Other non-current payables
Deferred income tax liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Current income tax liabilities
Total current liabilities
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

OEIl Kang, Eric
CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph
Directors

e
FLFBRRERFAA
R ER &R

[N
G
BURRH R A5 BB

FAFIRRESZBEA
E{aEa

PHEFRER

fHaRes

RfR
FRBRR
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HAIEREN A
BEIEFTEIRAE
FRBAREH

mENRER
JRE 18 B AR e LA B A1 35K
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HIFPSHAE

RENRREE

RAfRRE

H#aRARRS

RENRE RS

REMTBRADAR
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BRENFS
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Note
FI5E

35
36
16

37
39
38

39
37

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
AEBTT BEET
82.5 82.2
10,756.4 13,029.1
- 283.7
10,838.9 13,395.0

742.9 (9.6)

11,581.8 13,385.4
3,197.1 2,458.7
299.3 112.7
776.9 431.5
4,273.3 3,002.9
1,154.6 720.6
399.0 330.5
12.5 14.9
1,566.1 1,066.0
5,839.4 4,068.9
17,421.2 17,454.3
1,833.2 5,937.5
15,855.1 16,388.3
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As at 31st December 2008
RZZEZENF+=-_A=1+—H

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Other receivables

Restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to
equity holders of the Company

Share capital

Reserves

Proposed final and special dividends

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Amount due to a subsidiary

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

OEIl Kang, Eric
CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph
Directors
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Note
Bi5E

25

25

30
31
33
34

35
36
16

39
25

2008 2007
—EENF —EBELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT BEET
18.4 150.0
9,451.2 8,164.0
63.5 81.3

- 0.7

- 440.8

131.1 1,933.2
9,645.8 10,620.0
9,664.2 10,770.0
82.5 82.2
9,411.2 10,401.0
- 283.7
9,493.7 10,766.9

74.1 3.1

96.4 -

170.5 3.1

9,664.2 10,770.0




For the year ended 31 st December 2008

Attributable
to equity
holders of Minority Total
the Company interest equity
PAYNSI & iy
REAENL DEREER RS 4aEE
Note HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BisE BEAT BEATT BEAT
Balance at 1st January 2007 R_ZTZLEF
—RA—B %k 3,903.4 (63.7) 3,839.7
Currency translation differences [ 5 e =R 36 428.6 6.4 435.0
Available-for-sale financial assets: AIEHESREE -
— fair value gain — N EWE 36 0.2 - 0.2
Net income recognised directly BHEAERERZ WA ESE
in equity 428.8 6.4 435.2
Profit for the year ARE i F 834.6 15.1 849.7
Total recognised income O ARSI EE
and expense 1,263.4 21.5 1,284.9
Employee share option benefits 2 B BARREE R 36 36.7 - 36.7
Issue of new shares BITHARAD 35 45.8 - 45.8
Share premium arising from issue BITRMMEEZ
of shares Petn s (8 36 9,011.7 - 9,011.7
Exercise of bonus warrants TR AL GRS i & 36 0.2 - 0.2
Exercise of share options 1T RER R 36 3.1 - 3.1
Share issue expenses TR E A 36 (565.3) - (565.3)
Repurchase of shares Bﬁﬁﬂxf’\ 35, 36 (14.2) - (14.2)
2006 final dividend T RNFREME 16 (288.8) - (288.8)
2007 interim dividend :%’ég‘ti‘?ﬁﬂﬁx@ 16 (543.3) - (543.3)
Dividends paid to minority BT DERRERR S
shareholders - (1.1) (1.1)
Write off minority shareholder HEH B R MR
receivable - 32.9 32.9
Repayment of amounts due from VYRR REEEN
minority shareholders - 0.8 0.8
Release of reserves upon disposal  HEE N ARG G
of associated companies 36 36.2 - 36.2
Release of reserves upon further — S IE— R B A R By
acquisition of a subsidiary % [EYEE 36 (3.9) - (3.9)
8,228.2 32.6 8,260.8
Balance at 31st December 2007 R_ZZtfF
+-A=1+—HB#eR 13,395.0 (9.6) 13,385.4

ERER (BR)ERAT-ST/\EER 69



For the year ended 31st December 2008
BE_TT/\F+_A=+—RHIFE

Balance at 1st January 2008

Currency translation differences
Available-for-sale financial assets:
— fair value loss

Net income recognised directly
in equity
Loss for the year

Total recognised income
and expense

Employee share option benefits

Issue of scrip dividends

Share premium arising from issue
of scrip dividend

Exercise of bonus warrants

Exercise of share options

Repurchase of shares

Contribution from minority
shareholders in subsidiaries

2007 final dividend

2008 interim dividend

Dividends paid to minority
shareholders

Acquisition of subsidiaries

Repayment of amounts due to
minority shareholders

Balance at 31st December 2008

Note
BT
R_ETNFE
—B—H iR
[ 5 e =R 36
AHHESTEE
— R EEE 36

BEENEaRER BN FE

REEEE
CHRRBKARMAZEE

B B BB ERF 36
LARE A B 52 35
BITUBRR BB ELZ

f& a8 36
ITRAFIRAREE 36
TR AR AE 36
AR 35, 36
WEARLEREEE
—ETLFREEE 16
R N\FHERE 16
B L ERRERE
G D= NG]

IR N D BBIRFIA

BR-ZE)\F
+=RA=+—H%&E#®
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Attributable
to equity
holders of Minority Total
the Company interest equity
KRR FIRRE =S
BEANEE LEREER g G
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT BEBTT
13,395.0 (9.6) 13,385.4
562.8 22.4 585.2
(8.7) - (8.7)
5541 22.4 576.5
(2,646.0) (163.7) (2,809.7)
(2,091.9) (141.3) (2,233.2)
69.0 - 69.0
1.4 - 1.4
50.1 - 50.1
0.6 - 0.6
6.4 - 6.4
(186.4) - (186.4)
- 375.7 375.7
(283.7) - (283.7)
(121.6) - (121.6)
- (2.9) (2.9)
- 519.1 519.1
- 1.9 1.9
(464.2) 893.8 429.6
10,838.9 742.9 11,581.8




For the year ended 31st December 2008
BE_TT/\F+-_A=+—RBIFE

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Income tax paid, net

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Dividend received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Purchase of available-for-sale
financial assets
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from disposal of
— Property, plant and equipment
— Associated companies
Prepaid land lease payments
Investments in associated companies
Investment in a jointly controlled entity
Decrease/(increase) in net advances to
associated companies
(Increase)/decrease in net advances to
jointly controlled entities
Dividend received from an associated
company
Profit distribution from jointly controlled
entities

Purchase of subsidiaries (net of cash and

cash equivalent acquired)

Note
FI5E

EEREFMEAARE
LR/ (BB 44(a)
ENFETEE

e, ()
REFH

RETHZRERE
EHFLE

EHAE

BEWE  HENRE
BERAHEERRRIIRZ
TREE
BEAHRLESREE

BEENEE

HE TS HIR
—¥% - WERERRE
NG

FEf LA E R

KB E R 2 E

R—EEERAZRE
[FIBE 2 QR B SOFER
B, (480)

AR ZEREBSIFR
(#&hn),/mD

Bl — AR E QAR

BEREEN DK

WREHTE AR (2 MERBA
ZHRERREEFED) 44(c)

Payment of outstanding cash consideration -4 & Y 88 i1 B A 7]

for acquisition of subsidiaries in prior year

Net cash used in investing activities

AXMNBEEREZ K

KREGRBMARSFRE

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million

BEET AEBT
365.4 (2,146.9)
(5.5) (0.8)
350.9 (2,147.7)
63.2 81.4
2.6 -
(691.9) (665.6)
(242.6) (77.7)
(5.6) (21.5)
(31.7) -
1.6 0.5

- 505.0

- (197.9)
(321.3) (45.2)
- (582.0)

29.4 (66.0)
(23.6) 0.8
- 2.0

- 22.9
(1,736.1) (532.7)
- (563.0)
(2,956.0) (1,627.0)
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For the year ended 31st December 2008
BE_TT/\F+_A=+—RHIFE

Cash flows from financing activities REEBZHERE
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 2517 @R PS50 18
Proceeds from exercise of share warrants  17{F ;2R & N BE AR 4
and options 2 FTiS5RIE
Payment for repurchase of ordinary shares & [al & @A% 2 50
Share issue expenses BT ER
Repayment of bank and other loans BERITREMER
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SIREIIR A, (18h0)
Increase in new bank and other loans FGIRIT R EME R
Contribution from minority shareholders BB AT Z D ERRETE
in subsidiaries
Dividends paid to Company’s shareholders B {752 &% 5% &
(Net of the impact of scrip dividends) (R ARR BETEI 2 2 2)
Dividends paid to minority shareholders B &R A% 2,

Interest paid BFE
Net cash (used in)/generated from mEEE (P, A5
financing activities R& 55

Net (decrease)/increaseincashand RERBEELEEM
cash equivalents (D), BneHE

Cash and cash equivalents at 1st January #R—B—HZ¥H %
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes — [EREE) 2 &

®+=R=+—H
ZEERBESERY

Cash and cash equivalents at
31st December

HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

2008 2007
—EENF —EBELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT BEET
- 8,517.8

7.0 -
(186.4) (14.2)

- (55.3)
(1,382.9) (622.0)
834.0 (1,214.7)
894.4 951.8
375.7 —
(353.8) (289.1)
(2.9) (1.1)
(237.2) (258.0)
(52.1) 7,020.2
(2,648.2) 3,245.5
4,416.0 1,062.5
69.1 108.0
1,836.9 4,416.0




GENERAL INFORMATION

HKC (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” or “HKC”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The
address of its registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the business of
property development and investment, alternative
energy investment and management, infrastructure,
and construction. The Group has investments and
construction contracts mainly in Hong Kong and the
Mainland China.

The shares of Company are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in million of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ Million),
unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements have been approved for issue by the Board
of Directors on 15th April 2009.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements
are set out below. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

In 2008, the Group has changed the functional currency
of the Company from Hong Kong dollars to Renminbi
starting from December 2008 onwards. The details
and impact on the financial statements are described in
Note 2.4(a) below.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of HKC
(Holdings) Limited have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”). They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified
by the revaluation of investment properties,
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial instrument.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 4.

(a Amendments and interpretations
effective in 2008
HKAS 39, “Financial instruments: Recognition
and measurement”, amendment on
reclassification of financial assets permits
reclassification of certain financial assets out
of the held-for-trading and available-for-sale
categories if specified conditions are met. The
related amendment to HKFRS 7, “Financial
instruments: Disclosures”, introduces
disclosure requirements with respect to
financial assets reclassified out of the held-
for-trading and available-for-sale categories.
The amendment is effective prospectively
from 1st July 2008. This amendment does
not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements, as the Group has not reclassified
any financial assets.

HK(IFRIC) — Int 12, “Service Concession
Arrangements” applies to contractual
arrangements whereby a private sector
operator participates in the development,
financing, operation and maintenance of
infrastructure for public sector services. The
adoption of the interpretation does not have
any significant effect on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) Interpretations effective in 2008 but not

relevant
The following interpretations to published
standards are mandatory for accounting
periods beginning on or after 1st January
2008 but are not relevant to the Group’s
operations:

e HK(FRIC) — Int 11, “HKFRS 2 - Group
and Treasury Share Transactions”

e HK(FRIC) — Int 14, “HKAS 19 - The
Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset,
Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction”
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2. FESHBEHBE@)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 21 mEEE(E)

(c) Standards, amendments and (c) BE-EENF+ZA=1+—HILEFEDNEK
interpretations to existing standards that EMIEE —EENF-A—HRZEHEN
are not yet effective for the year ended AEEE A B2 F R 58 i B 1T 1 &
31st December 2008 and are mandatory B - BEERZISTRZENT

for the Group’s accounting periods
beginning on or after 1st January 2009 or
later periods as follows:

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTEHR 2%
Rz St BEEN
New or revised standards, interpretations and amendments
FAIS BT RR| - 2R R ERERT
HKAS 1 (Revised) “Presentation of Financial Statements” 1st January 2009
BERGERIE1R(EEET) [ & 240 —ZENF-A-H
HKAS 23 (Revised) “Borrowing Costs” 1st January 2009
BEEFERIE235 (KERT) [EFAAR] —ETNF-A—H
HKAS 27 (Revised) “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” 1st July 2009
BRETERIE27R (ERT) [476 KBV B BRE] —EENF+A-H
HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 “Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations 1st January 2009
Amendments Arising on Liquidation”
ARG EAERRRAER [MEEeMmIARFRMELRE] —ZEENE-A-H
SHEEIRETA
HKAS 39 (amendment) “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - 1st July 2009
Eligible hedged items”
BEEGIEREINE (BFIA) [ERIA  BAKTE-SEREIER ] “EENFLA—H
HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 “Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, 1st January 2009
Amendments Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate”
BRERBRSEANE TR [RERMBAT - ABRAISHE AR KA —ETNF-A—H
BRETEAE2IRET R
HKFRS 2 Amendment “Share-based Payment Vesting Conditions and Cancellations” 1st January 2009
BERBREEREIR B [RRp (TR — SR Rt 8 | —ZENF-A-A
HKFRS 3 (Revised) “Business Combinations” 1st July 2009
BERUBRERAEIR(KET) [RBEH] —EENELA-H
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” 1st January 2009
BRUBREEAET [sEna) —EENE-A—H
HK(FRIC)-Int 13 “Customer Loyalty Programmes” 1st July 2008
EE(ERIBERERERZES) [BERESHE] —EE\F+LA-H
—REEI1%
HK(FRIC)-Int 15 “Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate” 1st January 2009
ER(ERMERERBEZES) [FHERERHZ] “ETNE-A—H
—2EE15%
HK(FRIC)-Int 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation” 1st October 2008
EE(ERMERERERES) [BIEBEREFE] —EZ\F+A-H
- ZEBZ16%
HK(IFRIC)-Int 17 “Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners” 1st July 2009
ER(ERMERERBZEE) [AEBADEREEE] —EENF+A-H
—REF17H
HK(FRIC)-Int 18 “Transfers of Assets from Customers” 1st July 2009
EE(ERUERERBEEE) [REEFPCEEEE] —EENFELA—H
—REE18%
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

2. FESTBERME@®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(c) Standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards that

are not yet effective for the year ended rEHFS

31st December 2008 and are mandatory

for the Group’s accounting periods
beginning on or after 1st January 2009 or
later periods as follows: (continued)

Improvements to existing standards

RAER 2z vk

HKAS 1 Amendment

E ﬁ/’iﬁ‘ﬁﬁhf /HTZ'S
HKAS 16 Amendment
ARG ERE16RETTAR
HKAS 19 Amendment
ARG TERNE19REIIR
HKAS 20 Amendment

ARG ERE0RETTR
HKAS 23 Amendment
BREGERE3HEITA
HKAS 27 Amendment
ARG ERETRETTR
HKAS 28 Amendment
BREGERE8H ST A
HKAS 29 Amendment
AR E0RETTAR
HKAS 31 Amendment
ARG TERESIREIR
HKAS 36 Amendment
AR EBRETT R
HKAS 38 Amendment
%% n“”ﬁﬁw%385f§{ ,JZ]K
HKAS 39 Amendment
AR E39RETT AR
HKAS 40 Amendment
é}% qu’EH‘JéﬁélOSfﬁf u]—$
HKAS 41 Amendment
BRETENENRETR
HKFRS 5 Amendment

AR BREENESFIETA
Amendment to HKFRS 7

BRUMBRERETRET A
Amendment to HK(IFRIC)-Int 9
and HKAS 39
ER(ERABRERBEES)
—REERAE g
KR ER9EFTA

“Presentation of Financial Statements”
[ H& 240
“Property, Plant and Equipment”
RN GG
"Employee Benefits”
[E 8727
“Accounting for Government Grants and
Disclosure of Government Assistance”
[HRES @REREN A RE
“Borrowing Costs”
[fERAA |
“Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements”
[476 KBV B BRE]
“Investments in Associates”
[BtEARRE]
“Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies”
[ BERARCES 2 HRE]
“Interests in Joint Ventures”
[GEAAER]
“Impairment of Assets”
[EERE]
“Intangible Assets”
[BIVBE]

“Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”

[&RIE : BARkE]

“Investment Property”

[REMZ]

“Agriculture”

[B%]

“Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations”

[BEHERRBDEERD L EEK]

“Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Improving
Disclosures about Financial Instruments”

[GRTE: FE-EERTI A HE]

“Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives and

Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”

[EMFEASITETAR
TRTR  EARE]

2.1 wBEE(H)
(c) §§:§§A$+:ﬁ£+—ﬁiﬁgw*
ENEFE—F—HASKZEBBH
#ﬁﬁjféﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ# THYE
B - BEEB LT RZEUT : (#)

EXMMEE—

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after
RUTRHH 2%
Rz St BEEN

1st January 2009
—TENF-HA—-H
1st January 2009
“ZENE-A-A
1st January 2009
—TENF-A—H
1st January 2009

“EENE-A—H
1st January 2009
“ETNF-A—H
1st January 2009
“EENE-A—H
1st January 2009
“ETNF-R—H
1st January 2009
“EENE-A—H
1st January 2009
“ETNF-R—H
1st January 2009
“EENE-A—H
1st January 2009
“ETNF-A—H
1st January 2009
“EENE-A—H
1st January 2009
“ETNF-A—H
1st January 2009
—EENF-A-H
1st July 2009

“EENFLAA
1st January 2009

ZEENE-A—H
1st July 2009

—TENFLA-H
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(c) Standards, amendments and

interpretations to existing standards that
are not yet effective for the year ended
31st December 2008 and are mandatory
for the Group’s accounting periods
beginning on or after 1st January 2009 or
later periods as follows: (continued)

The Group has not early adopted the above
standards, amendments and interpretations
and is not yet in a position to state whether
substantial changes to the Group’s
accounting policies and presentation of the
financial statements will result.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries made up to 31st December.

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group
has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies generally accompanying
a shareholding of more than one half of
the voting rights. The existence and effect
of potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

2. FESTBERME@®)

2.2 IERE(H)
(a) HEBLE(E)

The purchase method of accounting is used
to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries
by the Group. The cost of an acquisition
is measured at the fair value of the assets
given, equity instruments issued and liabilities
incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
plus costs directly attributable to the
acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured
initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable net assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is
less than the fair value of the net assets
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement (Note 2.11).

Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealised gains on transactions
between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary in the consolidated
financial statements to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the
investments in subsidiaries are stated at
cost less provision for impairment losses
(Note 2.11).The results of subsidiaries are
accounted by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(b) Transactions with minority interests

(c)

The Group applies a policy of treating
transactions with minority interests as
transactions with parties external to the
Group. Disposals to minority interests result
in gains and losses for the Group and
are recorded in the consolidated income
statement. Purchases from minority interests
result in goodwill, being the difference
between the consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary.

Associated companies

Associated companies are all entities over
which the Group has significant influence
but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of
the voting rights. Investments in associated
companies are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting and are initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s investment
in associated companies includes goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss)
identified on acquisition (Note 2.11).

The Group’s share of its associated
companies’ post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves is recognised in
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying
amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associated company
equals or exceeds its interest in the associated
company, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise
further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of
the associated company.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)
(c) Associated companies (continued)

(d)

Unrealised gains on transactions between
the Group and its associated companies
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associated companies.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associated companies
have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

In the Company’s balance sheet the
investments in associated companies are
stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses (Note 2.11). The results of associated
companies are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Jointly controlled entities

A jointly controlled entity is a contractual
arrangement whereby the Group and other
parties undertake an economic activity which
is subject to joint control and none of the
participating parties has unilateral control over
the economic activity.

Investments in jointly controlled entities
are accounted for by the equity method
of accounting. The consolidated income
statement includes the Group’s share of the
results of jointly controlled entities for the
year, and the consolidated balance sheet
includes the Group’s share of the net assets
of the jointly controlled entities and goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment loss) on
acquisition (Note 2.11).

In the Company’s balance sheet, the
investments in jointly controlled entities are
stated at cost less provision for impairment
losses (Note 2.11). The results of jointly
controlled entities are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivables.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.3 Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and
operation engaged in providing products or
services that are subject to risks and returns
that are different from those of other business
segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular
economic environment that are subject to risks and
returns that are different from those of segments
operating in other economic environments.

In accordance with the Group’s internal financial
reporting and operating activities, the Group has
determined that business segments be presented
as the primary reporting format and geographical
segments be presented as the secondary reporting
format.

Inter-segment transfers or transactions are entered
into under the normal commercial terms and
conditions that would also be available to unrelated
third parties.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses.
Segment assets consist primarily of investment
properties, toll road and electric/water utility plant
and equipment, properties under development,
properties held for sale, prepaid land lease
payments. Unallocated assets comprise of
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents,
available-for-sale financial assets and other
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Segment liabilities comprise financial liability at fair
value through profit or loss and operating liabilities.
Unallocated liabilities comprise item such as
taxation and borrowings.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to
intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment, including additions resulting from
acquisitions through purchases of subsidiaries.
Sales are based on the region in which the
customers are located.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
[tems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The Company’s
functional currency is Renminbi. The
consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars to facilitate
analysis of the financial information of
the Group, which is listed in Hong Kong.
Following the commencement of the food and
beverages business, pre-sale of properties
under development and the operation in toll
road in 2008, management considers the
revenue income stream from PRC investment
to the Company will start to outweight Hong
Kong and therefore changed the Company’s
functional currency from Hong Kong dollar to
Renminbi with effect from December 2008
onwards. The change of functional currency
has no significant financial impact to both the
Group and the Company.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are
remeasured. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b) Transactions and balances (continued)

(c)

Changes in the fair value of monetary
securities denominated in foreign currency
classified as available-for-sale are analysed
between translation differences resulting from
changes in the amortised cost of the security,
and other changes in the carrying amount of
the security. Translation differences related to
changes in the amortised cost are recognised
in profit or loss, and other changes in the
carrying amount are recognised in equity.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation difference
on non-monetary financial assets such as
equities classified as available for sale are
included in the available-for-sale investments
reserve in equity.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

() assets and liabilities for each balance
sheet presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that balance
sheet;

() income and expenses for each
consolidated income statement are
translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

2. FESTBERME@)
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(c) Group companies (continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of the net
investment in foreign operations are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign
operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded
in equity are recognised in the income
statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the closing rate.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Properties are interests in buildings other than
investment properties are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Water utility plant and equipment, electric utility
plant and equipment, other plant and equipment,
comprising plant and machineries, motor vehicles
and furniture and fixtures are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

No depreciation is provided on properties under
development.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method, to write
off their cost over their estimated useful lives or
remaining useful lives for those second-hand assets
and the estimated useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Water utility plant

and equipment 15 years
Electric utility plant

and equipment 20 years
Other plant

and equipment 3to 15 years
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date.

All direct and indirect costs relating to the
construction of property, plant and equipment,
including borrowing costs during the construction
period are capitalised as the costs of the
assets, which are classified as properties under
construction. No depreciation is provided on
properties under construction.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying
amount of the asset or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated will flow to
the Group and the cost of item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part
is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance
are charged in the consolidated income statement
during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.12).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income/(expenses)
in the consolidated income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.6 Investment properties

2. FESTBERME@®)

2.6 REME

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group, is classified as investment
property.

Investment property comprises land held under
operating leases and buildings held under finance
leases.

Land held under operating leases are classified
and accounted for as investment property when
the rest of the definition of investment property is
met. The operating lease is accounted for as if it
were a finance lease.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, investment property is carried at fair
value. Fair value is based on active market prices,
adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the
nature, location or condition of the specific asset.
If this information is not available, the Group uses
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices
on less active markets or discounted cash flow
projections. These valuations are reviewed annually
by Knight Frank Petty Limited (“Knight Frank”), an
independent professional valuer.

The fair value of investment property reflects,
among other things, rental income from current
leases and assumptions about rental income
from future leases in the light of current market
conditions.

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis,
any cash outflows that could be expected in
respect of the property. Some of those outflows
are recognised as a liability, including finance
lease liabilities in respect of land classified as
investment property, others, including contingent
rent payments, are not recognised in the financial
statements.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Investment properties (continued)
Subsequently expenditure is included in the
asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement during the financial
period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at
cost and subsequently are amortised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease or when there
is impairment, the impairment is expensed in the
consolidated income statement. During the course
of the properties development, the amortisation
charged is included as part of the costs of the
properties under development.

Completed properties held for sale
Properties held for sale are initially measured at
the carrying amount of the property at the date of
reclassification from properties under development.
Properties remaining unsold at the end of the year
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost comprises development costs attributable to
the unsold properties.

Net realisable value represents the management’s
estimated selling price based on prevailing market
conditions less costs to be incurred in selling the
property.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.9 Properties under development

2. FESTBERME@®)

29 BRPYE

Properties under development comprises
development cost of properties and the costs paid
to acquire land use rights which are stated at cost.

Development cost of properties comprises
construction costs, borrowing costs and
professional fees incurred during the development
period. Upon obtaining the land use right
certificates, the costs paid for land use rights are
transferred to prepaid land lease payments. On
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to either completed properties held for
sale or investment properties.

2.10 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost
of an acquisition over the fair value of the
Group’s share of net identifiable assets of the
acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is
included in intangible assets. Separately
recognised goodwill is tested for impairment
at every reporting balance sheet date based
on the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell and carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. Impairment
losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains
and losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the
entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that
are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which the goodwill arose
identified according to operating segment.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.10 Intangible assets (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Concession rights

The costs incurred for the construction
or upgrade work or the acquisition of the
toll road under the service concession
arrangements of the Group with relevant local
governments were accounted for intangible
asset if the Group receives a right to charge
users of the toll road.

These expenditures were depreciated on an
units-of-usage basis, making reference to the
proportion of actual traffic volume achieved
for a particular period over the total projected
traffic volume throughout the periods within
which the Group is granted the rights to
operate these toll road.

Land use rights acquired in conjunction with
the service concession arrangement which
the Group has no discretion or latitude to
deploy for other services other than the use
in the service concession are treated as
intangible assets.

Biomass technology

Separately acquired Biomass technology is
shown at historical cost. Biomass technology
has a finite useful life and is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment and
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using
the straight-line method over their estimated
useful live of 5 years.

Other intangible assets

Other intangible assets acquired in a business
combination are recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Other intangible assets
have a finite useful life and are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful live of 5 years.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Impairment of investments in subsidiaries,

2. FESTBERME@®)

211 RBAT - BMERQR - SEQARFER

associated companies, jointly controlled
entities and non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have not
yet available for use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
which are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows (cash-generating units). Assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
each reporting date.

212 Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, finite lived intangible assets
and investments in subsidiaries and non-
financial assets

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent, if any, of the impairment loss. Where it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset or cash generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in the income statement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
212 Impairment of property, plant and

equipment and finite lived intangible assets
(continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset or cash-
generating unit is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, not to exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

2.13 Construction contracts

Contract costs are recognised as expense in
the period in when they are incurred. When the
outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred that
are likely to be recoverable. When the outcome
of a construction contract can be estimated
reliably and it is probable that the contract will be
profitable, contract revenue is recognised over
the period of the contract. When it is probable
that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
payments are included in contract revenue to
the extent that may have been agreed with
the customer and are capable of being reliably
measured.

The Group uses the “percentage of completion
method” to determine the appropriate amount
to recognise in a given period. The stage of
completion is measured by reference to contract
costs incurred up to the balance sheet date as
a percentage of total estimated costs for each
contract. Costs incurred in the year in connection
with future activity on a contract are excluded
from contract costs in determining the stage of
completion. They are presented as inventories,
prepayments or other assets, depending on their
nature.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.13 Construction contracts (continued)

The Group presents as an asset the gross amount
due from customers for contract work for all
contracts in progress for which costs incurred plus
recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed
progress billings. Progress billings not yet paid by
customers and retention are included within “trade
and other receivables”.

The Group presents as a liability the gross
amount due to customers for contract work for all
contracts in progress for which progress billings
exceed costs incurred plus recognised profits (less
recognised losses).

2.14 Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and receivable and available-for-
sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determine the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are financial assets held for trading. A
financial asset is classified in this category if
acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the short term. Derivatives are classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Assets in this category are classified
as current assets.

(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12
months after the balance sheet date. These
are classified as non-current assets. The
Group’s loans and receivables comprise
‘trade and other receivables’, ‘cash and
cash equivalents’ and ‘restricted cash’ in the
balance sheet (Note 2.19).
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.14 Financial assets (continued)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in
this category or not classified in any of the
other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless management intends to
dispose of the investment within 12 months
of the balance sheet date.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade-date - the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised
at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial
assets not carried at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value,
and transaction costs are expensed in the
consolidated income statement. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the investments have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value
of the “financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” category are presented in the consolidated
income statement within other income/(expenses),
in the period in which they arise. Dividend income
from financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.14 Financial assets (continued)
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Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in a foreign currency and classified as
available-for-sale are analysed between translation
differences resulting from changes in amortised
cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. The translation
differences on monetary securities are recognised
in profit or loss; translation differences on non-
monetary securities are recognised in equity.
Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available for sale
are recognised in equity.

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognised in equity are included
in the consolidated income statement as other
income or expenses.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated
using the effective interest method is recognised in
the consolidated income statement as part of other
income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity
instruments are recognised in the consolidated
income statement as part of other income
when the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

For the purposes of assessing the fair value of
unlisted securities, the Group established fair value
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to other instruments that are substantially the
same, discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models, making maximum use of market
inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.14 Financial assets (continued)

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In
the case of equity securities classified as available
for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of the security below its cost is considered
as an indicator that the securities are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on
that financial asset previously recognised in the
income statement — is removed from equity and
recognised in the consolidated income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated
income statement on equity instruments are
not reversed through the consolidated income
statement.

2.15 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined using
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The cost of
finished goods comprises raw materials, direct
labour, other direct costs and related production
overheads (based on normal operating capacity).
It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16

217

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables, including deposit
paid for a property development project, are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables is established when there is objective
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the original terms
of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties
of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and
default or delinquency in payments are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The
amount of the provision is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the original effective interest rate. The amount
of the provision is recognised in the consolidated
income statement within other expenses. When
a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against other expenses in the consolidated income
statement. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to other income
in the consolidated income statement.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings
are subsequently stated at amortised cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Borrowings (continued)

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to
the extent that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is
deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent
there is no evidence that it is probable that some
or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is
capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services
and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to
defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.

2.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction
of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the
period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use. Other
borrowing costs are expensed.

2.19 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities on the balance sheet.

2.20 Share capital

2.21

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.22 Financial liability at fair value through

2. FESHHEEHME@)
222 BAFEEEERIERZESHERE

profit or loss

Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss is
financial liability held for trading. A financial liability
is classified in this category as designated by the
Group upon initial recognition.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of the ‘financial liability at fair value through
profit or loss’ category are presented in the
consolidated income statement in the period in
which they arise.

2.23 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises
current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in
equity.

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries
where the Group’s subsidiaries and associated
companies and jointly controlled entities operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

223 Current and deferred income tax
(continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associated companies and jointly controlled
entities, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

2.24 Employee benefits
(a) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and
long service leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance
sheet date. Employee entitlements to sick
leave and maternity leave are not recognised
until the time of leave.

(b) Defined contribution plans
The Group operates a mandatory provident
fund scheme (“MPF”) and employee
pension schemes established by municipal
government in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”) for the eligible employees in Hong
Kong and the PRC respectively.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.24 Employee benefits (continued)
(b) Defined contribution plans (continued)

(c)

The Group’s and the employees’
contributions with the MPF are complied to
the related statutory requirements. The Group
has no further payments obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF are expensed as
incurred and are not reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave MPF
prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is
available. The asset of MPF is held separately
from those of the Group in independently
administered funds.

The Group’s contribution to the
employee pension schemes in the PRC
is at a percentage in compliance with
the requirements of respective municipal
government.

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan under which the
entity receives services from employees
as consideration of equity instruments of
the Group. The fair value of the employee
services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The
total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the
fair value of the options granted, excluding
the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets). Non-market service and
performance vesting conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to become exercisable. At
each balance sheet date, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to become exercisable. It
recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated
income statement, and a corresponding
adjustment to equity over the remaining
vesting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share
premium when the options are exercised.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.25 Provisions 2.25 B

2. FESTBERBE@®)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events, it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Where the Group expects a provision
to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The
increase in the provision due to passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

2.26 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale
of goods, properties and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown
net of business tax and after eliminating sales
within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow to the entity
and specific criteria have been met for each of
the Group’s activities as described below. The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably
measurable until all contingencies relating to
the sale have been resolved. The Group bases
its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Revenue recognition (continued)

U)

(i)

(i)

(vi)

Revenue from infrastructure and alternative
energy are generated from water supply,
electricity supply and toll road. They are
recognised based on the following:

(@) Revenue arising from water supply is
recognised based on water supplied
as recorded by meters read during the
year.

(b) Revenue arising from electricity supply is
recognised when electricity is supplied
to the provincial grid companies.

(c) Revenue arising from toll road is
recognised when services are rendered.

Rental income from investment properties is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the
terms of the respective leases.

Revenue from individual construction contract
is recognised under the percentage of
completion method (Note 2.13).

Sales of foods and beverages are recognised
in the income statement at the point of sale to
customer.

Revenue from sales of properties held for
sale is recognised upon completion of the
sale and purchase agreements or the issue
of an occupation permit, by the relevant
government authorities, whichever is the
later. Deposits and instalments received on
properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the balance sheet
under “trade and other payables”.

Revenue from provision for software
development service is recognised when the
services are rendered.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.26 Revenue recognition (continued)

(vi)

Dividend income is recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.

(viii) Interest income is recognised on a time

(x)

(x)

proportion basis using the effective interest
method.

Property fee income is recognised when the
services are rendered.

Consultancy fee income is recognised when
the services are rendered.

2.27 Leases

(i)

(ii)

Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the
Group all the risks and rewards of ownership
of assets are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding.
The corresponding rental obligations, net of
finance charges, are included in liabilities. The
finance charges are charged to the income
statement over the lease periods so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability for
each period.

Operating leases

Leases in which a significant portion of the
risks and rewards of ownership are retained
by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the
lease.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.28 Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
arises from past events and whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence of one or
more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. It can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that the outflow is probable, it will then
be recognised as a provision.

2.29 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s
shareholders is recognised as a liability in the
Group’s financial statements in the period in which
the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk, commodity price risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, cash and bank balances,
derivative financial instruments, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss, available-for-
sale financial assets, trade and other payables and
bank loans. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into
derivative transactions for speculative purposes.
The derivatives held are not for speculative
purpose and cannot be traded in the market. They
are part of an embedded investment rights to
investment assets and are not exposed to market
risk (including commaodity pricing risk) since the
gains and losses on the derivatives are offset by
the losses and gains on the underlying assets.

The Group’s Board of Directors focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. The Board of Directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below.

(a) Market risk
()  Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s operations are mainly
in Hong Kong and the Mainland
China. Entities within the Group are
exposed to foreign exchange risk from
future commercial transactions and
monetary assets and liabilities that are
denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have
any foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group
monitors the foreign exchange exposure
closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

If Renminbi had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against Hong Kong dollar with
all other variables held constant, the
Group’s loss before income tax would
have been HK$45.2 million higher/lower.

106 HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

MR EE ()
3.1 BEEREEE)

AEBZBRATEETITERZERKRHEA
® o HAMTETAWIEREAE - T 8E
EmiELEE - ZFTADNREEEZHMAAR
BHERN - I AF WIS ER(BREEmERR
%) REARTTETAZBEBEREEZBEM
HEH o

AEMEFRMIARLIANZSBDS X7
FREHAEBNBRAZ BEEAEYE - EF
BREEEARRETRE RETRE - LT
M -

(a) mHEE
() SMNERR
AEEEXERFBRFRABELE - K
EEASERAIRERRFERH R
N BRI BB LAINERET R 2 B
BEMBEMELINERR

AR ER (B3R B A AT AT SME SRR » R
- AEEEERERERINERR
WHTH BEEBEIFEAINERR

i AR S BT HE,B2{E5%  ME
HEMEAESHZTE - KEBEGRATSEA
BB A, 445,200,000/ 7T, ©



3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i)

(i)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk of
investment fund because investment
held by the Group are classified on the
consolidated balance sheet as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.

As at 31st December 2008, if the price
of the investment fund held by the
Group had increased/decreased by
5%, loss before income tax would have
been decreased/increased by US$0.4
million (equivalent to approximately
HK$3.2 million) (2007: profit for the year,
increased/decreased by US$0.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$3.9
million)).

Commodity price risk

The Group’s exposure to commodity
price risk relates primarily to the ethanol
price and cost of raw materials which
are influenced by supply and demand
conditions. The Group historically
has not entered into any commodity
derivative instruments to hedge the
exposure. Management will monitor such
risk and consider hedging significant
commodity price risk exposure should
the need arise.

3.

MR EE ()
3.1 BEEREE @)
(a) mHmEbE(E)

(i)

(i)

BEmE

HRARERBE CRENGREERE
OB RBAHERBRRERIIRZ S
BE SASBHHEREESERR

G o
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R-BZNF+_A=+—8 " fixsE
EEFA 2 RERESERIEM RI5%
B BT 15 B4 A1 &5 18 FE R 3 11 400,000
E 7L (48,200,000 TT) (= F
+F - FREFIE M, E 4 500,000%
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Aan B 15/
AEERHzARERARETZEZH
KERFEZ LEEBEARFEM KA
B - AEBEIBEN EEAEMERLT
ETAAEERE - EEEBNEER
ERZEFRRYEBEPERBRER
[\ o

BBER (ER) ARLRA-ZZENFFR 107



3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

MR EE ()
3.1 BEEREEE)
(a) m5mEpE(E)

(iv) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest-rate risk arises from
bank borrowings. Borrowings issued at
variable rates expose the Group to cash
flow interest rate risk due to fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rates.
The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially dependent of
changes in market interest rates.

The Group does not use any derivative
contracts to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the
management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposures should
the need arise.

As at 31st December 2008, if interest
rate had been increased/decreased
100 basis points with all other variables
held constant, the Group’s loss before
income tax would have been increased/

() FIFER
AREE 2 MR R ERIRIIRITE K

e EEARYES RBAE
% o AEBMZIARELHSREA
ETETISFI RSB E -

A E BT A Y E A
U2 FIEAR - AT - EREBREE
B R B AR A -

R-FENFT-A=+—A - flE
#hn, WA 100EE T - mATE A
REFTE - ANEEZKREITEHATEE
JE 2 0,38 4> 26,000,000 7T ( — B E
+F + FREFED18508,500,0007%

decreased by HK$26.0 million (2007: JT) °
profit for the year, decreased/increased
by HK$8.5 million).

(b) Credit risk (b) =EREE

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables and deposits paid
for a property development project.

The carrying amount of restricted cash, cash
and cash equivalents and trade and other
receivables, represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
To manage the credit risk associated
with restricted cash and cash and cash
equivalents, most of the deposits are mainly
placed with certain state-owned banks in the
PRC which are high-credit quality financial
institutions and banks with high credit
rankings in Hong Kong.

To manage the credit risk associated with
trade and other receivables and deposits
paid for a property development project, the
Group adopts risk control to assess the credit
quality of the customers and debtors, taking
into accounts their financial positions and
past experience.

There is no concentration of credit risk with
respect to trade receivables from third party
customers as the customer bases are widely
dispersed in different sectors and industries.

In addition, the Group and the Company
monitor the exposure to credit risk in respect
of the financial assistance provided to
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and
associated companies through exercising
control or significant influence over their
financial and operating policy decisions and
reviewing their financial positions on a regular
basis.

(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is
unable to meet its current obligations when
they fall due. The Group measures and
monitors its liquidity through the maintenance
of prudent ratio regarding to the liquidity
structure of the overall assets, liabilities, loans
and commitments of the Group. The Group
also maintains a conservative level of liquid
assets to ensure the availability of sufficient
cash flows to meet any unexpected and
material cash requirements in the course of
ordinary business.

3. MBEREE@)
3.1 MBEREE @)

(b)

(c)

=B (E)
REBZRFBeULRERREEEYZ
HEREERR  AMAFEREBERRET
TEBEART - REEERZVHHE
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. BIiSESEE (@)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BEEEEGE)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) WmEEZELELRE)
The table below analyses the Group’s and TERIMAEEVHBEEZEHEEHR - T
the Company’s contractual maturity for its EBRBRIRBEN2EREBANAZEER

financial liabilities. The amounts disclosed in P BEBECRERReRERR
the table has been drawn up with reference
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay.
Between Between
Less than 1and?2 2and 5 Over
1 year years years 5 years Total
—FR —Z@F “EREF AFEHRE et
HKS$ Million  HK$ Milion  HKS$ Million  HK$ Million  HK$ Million
BEET BEET BEET BEERT  RAEAT
Group F%E
At 31st December 2008 RIBBNE
+=B=1+—-H
Borrowings B 606.4 486.0 1,440.0 2,208.8 4,741.2
Finance lease liabilities MEHEER 9.7 10.0 31.7 90.3 141.7
Trade and other payables JEMBEZ L E b FER 3R 1,154.6 - - - 1,154.6
Other non-current payables HihIEREEN T - - 237.9 61.4 299.3
At 31st December 2007 RIZELHE
+Z-A=+—-H
Borrowings EE:0 501.0 338.9 1,201.6 1,797.0 3,838.5
Trade and other payables ERBRR M B AR 720.6 - - - 720.6
Other non-current payables HMEREENT - - - 112.7 112.7
Company FAF
At 31st December 2008 A_EENE
+-A=+-H
Other payables and accruals HiENZRELER 74.1 - - - 741
Amount due to a subsidiary R —TEM B AR A 96.4 - - - 96.4
At 31st December 2007 RIZZELHE
+=-A=+—-H
Other payables and accruals HipER TR EAER 3.1 - - - 3.1
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, issue new shares or conduct
shares buy-back.

The Group monitors its capital structure by
reviewing its gearing ratio and cash flows
requirements, taking into account its future financial
obligations and commitments for this purpose, the
Group defines gearing ratio as net debt divided
by total equity. Net debt is calculated as total
borrowings less loans from minority shareholders
(including current and non-current borrowings
shown in the consolidated financial statements)
less cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash. Total equity is shown in the consolidated
balance sheet.

The gearing ratios at 31st December 2008 and
2007 were as follows:

Current borrowings MBNE K
Non-current borrowings IERENE

Total borrowings (excluding loans & 448 (a1
from minority shareholders) DVHIREER)

3.

Less: Cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted cash)

Net debt/(cash) position
Total equity

Gearing ratio

R A LR EEY
(BRZRFERE)

&%,/ (R &) FEMRR

Fagct

i

BERRELE

B 765 L e S BB (4)
3.2 EXEKRER

AEEEEREAZRE RREAEEFELLE
BZReS) - BRBBREMHE R N A E A
FAE SRR - YEFHENERNRERLME D

RRBRFABEARE  ARERERHEARR
IR 2B 2R - BITHRSETRERD -

AEEEERNEEERBLERRERERK
ERHEEARE RIAKEZEERRYBKEL
FoAgE - gl - ARBEREERBLERAERE
BFRER AR AR - B FRIRERNEER D
FRRER(BRESVBBRRATRE LIRS
EFR)BRRE LR EEMARZRIBESHE -
RoBENEEBEERBERIIR -

R-TENFR-FTLET-A=t—B2ZE
ERELENT

Group

r&EH
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
399.0 330.5
2,812.0 2,379.7
3,211.0 2,710.2
(2,511.8) (5,924.9)
699.2 (3,214.7)
11,581.8 13,385.4
6.0% N/AN3E
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active market is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the Group is the
current bid price.

The unquoted financial instruments that are not in
an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques and arm’s length transactions.
The Group takes reference to recent market
transactions, professional valuations where
necessary and uses a variety of methods such
as estimated discounted cash flows, and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of
trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables approximate their fair values due to
their short maturities. The fair value of financial
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at
the current market interest rate that is available to
the Group for similar financial instruments.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions
concerning the future. The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. E KEiH{&st R H (&)
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(@) Valuation of investment properties/

(@) REWE FANTHHEERTREREZMH

recoverable amount of prepaid land lease
payments

The fair value of each investment property
and recoverable amount of prepaid land lease
payments of which having impairment indicators
is individually determined at each balance sheet
date by independent valuer based on a market
value assessment. Knight Frank was engaged
to carry out the independent valuation of the
Group’s investment property and prepaid land
lease payments portfolio as at 31st December
2008. This valuation was carried out in accordance
with the Valuation Standards on Properties of the
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors which defines
market value as “the estimated amount for which a
property should exchange on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an
arm’s-length transaction after proper marketing
wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably,
prudently and without compulsion”.

Knight Frank has derived the valuation of
the Group’s investment property portfolio by
capitalising the rental income derived from existing
tenancies with due provision for reversionary
income potential and where appropriate, by
reference to market comparable transactions.
The assumptions are based on market conditions
existing at the balance sheet.

For the prepaid land lease payments, management
determined the recoverable amount based on the
valuation report prepared by Knight Frank. Knight
Frank has adopted a direct comparison approach
whenever market comparable transactions are
available and assumed sale of the interests with
the benefit of vacant possession.

Management has reviewed Knight Frank valuation
and compared it with its own assumptions, with
reference to comparable sales transaction data
where such information is available, and has
concluded that Knight Frank valuation of the
Group’s investment portfolio and prepaid land
lease payments is reasonable.

=1

EREME 2 AFERAFRERRZEN L
MERA KO SEREEE R RBIAEERMRT
BEFFEERETE - RICHAKER_TTN\F
TZA=+—HZEREVMERBEN LA ETA
BETEUMEE - ZHENREEBIEMNES
ZEMEERETT - REAEMEZEERIZ
MERBERLEEMSHIER  AERETR
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DN RABETR B M A B2 Rt 2R -

HOERBEAROMBHZESWRAERNE - A
SEmEFIHSBEZ(CRERERRT2E
MISA LB ZMIELEERE  MEHAKHE
KREMERa 2ME - BRIOREEERFEZ
mSERMIEL -

AIEMNIHEERME - KR EAILER S
FE - IERESRETHEREAERLELBOXE
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(@

(b)

Valuation of investment properties/
recoverable amount of prepaid land lease
payments (continued)

If the valuation of the investment properties and
recoverable amount of the prepaid land lease
payments had been 10% higher or lower than the
value stated on the valuation report, the fair value
deficit and impairment loss of the year arising from
the Group’s investment properties and prepaid
land lease payments, in aggregate, would have
been decreased/increased by HK$811.0 million
(2007: HK$292.2million).

Estimated impairment of concession right-
toll road

The Group tests annually whether intangible assets
have suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.11. The
calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by
management.

The unit prices used for the analysis are
determined by management with reference to
the agreements approved by the government
authorities. The weighted average growth rates
used are consistent with the forecasts expected
in the industry. The discount rates used are pre-
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
segments.

If the discounted rate used in the value-in-use
calculation had been 10% higher or lower than
management’s estimates at 31st December 2008,
the loss of the year for the Group’s concession
right (toll road) would have been increased by
HK$154.2 million or decreased by HK$186.1
million.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

()

(d)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill is
subject to any impairment losses, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.11. The
recoverable amounts of cash-generating units with
goodwill being allocated have been determined
based on the higher of fair value less cost to sell
and value-in-use calculations.

If the recoverable amount of these cash generating
business units had been 10% higher than
management’s estimates, the loss of the year for
the Group’s goodwill would have been decreased
by HK$65.6 million.

Estimated of impairment of plant and
equipment

Plant and equipment are reviewed by management
for impairment losses whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The recoverable amount is
the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in
use of the plant and equipment. The management
makes judgements on whether such events or
changes in circumstances have occurred, and
makes estimates in determining the recoverable
amount. In the situation where value in use of
plant and equipment cannot be assessed due
to the uncertainties of the operation model in the
future, management has assessed the respective
recoverable amount solely based on the fair value
less costs to sell. Provision is made when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be realised.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)
(d) Estimated of impairment of plant and

(e)

(f)

equipment (continued)

If the recoverable amount of the plant and
equipment had been 10% higher or lower than
management’s estimates, the loss of the year for
the Group’s plant and equipment would have been
decreased by HK$35.2 million or increased by
HK$45.8 million.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in the
Mainland China. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations
for which ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for potential tax exposures
based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will affect the
income tax and deferred tax provision in the period
in which such determination is made.

Fair value of derivatives, financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market is determined by
using valuation techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select a variety of methods and make
assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at each balance sheet date.
The Group uses discounted cash flow analysis for
various available-for-sale financial assets that were
not traded in active markets.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(9)

(h)

0)

Revenue recognition

The Group uses the percentage-of-completion
method in accounting for its fixed-price contracts
to deliver construction services. The use of the
percentage-of-completion method requires the
Group to estimate the services performed to
date as a proportion of the total services to be
performed.

Determination of fair value of share-based
compensation

The Group uses the Binomial Model to determine
the fair value of share options issued during the
year. Under this model, the value of the share
options is subject to a number of assumptions
such as risk-free interest rate, expected life of the
options and historical volatility based on annualised
volatility of the closing price of the share. Therefore
the value may be subjective and would change
should any of the assumptions change.

Allowances for bad and doubtful debts
The policy for allowance of bad and doubtful
debts of the Group is based on the evaluation of
collectability and ageing analysis of receivables
and on management’s judgment. A considerable
amount of judgement is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including
the creditworthiness and the past collection history
of each customer.

Allowances for inventory

The management of the Group reviews the ageing
analysis at each balance sheet date, and makes
allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items identified that are no longer suitable for use
in production. The management estimates the net
realisable value for such finished goods and work
in progress based primarily on the latest invoice
prices and current market conditions. The Group
carries out an inventory review on a product-by-
product basis at each balance sheet date and
makes allowance for obsolete items.
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REVENUES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

Revenues consists income from infrastructure and
alternative energy projects, rental income from
investment properties, revenue of contracting work from
third parties, sales of properties held for sale and other
operations, which are HK$294.7 million and HK$706.1
million for the years ended 31st December 2008 and
2007 respectively.

Infrastructure and alternative B REREERIA
energy

Rental income HaA

Contract revenue EXOL G

Sales proceeds from properties ESHERB ZEHE
held for sale TS 5UA

Others EAth

(@ Primary reporting format - business
segments
The Group is organised into five main business
segments:
(1) Infrastructure and alternative energy;
(2) Property investment and leasing;
(8) Construction;

(4) Property development and sales; and

(6) Other operations.
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5. WEKDHER

WHBEEENERERBEE ZBA - REMEZH
DA REBFE=ZFAHNITRZWE  EHEREY
MEHEREMEYR  REE_ZEZENFR_ZTZ+
F+ZA=1+—HLEFE» 5 5E294,700,000% T &
706,100,000 7T °

2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETLERF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEAT BEAT
137.0 55.4
86.6 716
36.7 495 1

- 84.0

34.4 -
294.7 706.1

(@) FE2HEK XK
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5. REVENUES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Primary reporting format — business

segments (continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31st

December 2008 are as follows:

Total segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenues

Operating loss

Finance costs - net (Note 10)

Share of losses less profits of
associated companies

Share of losses less profits of
jointly controlled entities

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit (Note 13)

Loss for the year

bEDEL
AHEME

Wi

BEER

BENATFE (HH0)

ElhBENTER
vl
EEALLARE
Ak

FRRNES
FERES(HEH13)

EERR

5. WEKDWER )

(@) FE2HEN B2 @)

BE_ZZENFT_A=1T—RHILFEZHEZE

B
Infrastructure
and Property Property
alternative  investment development Other
energy  andleasing  Construction andsales  operations  Unallocated Group
EER NERE NRER
ERER RHE B4 Rig Hih AOE 558
HKSMilion ~ HKSMillion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HKSMilion ~ HK$ Million ~ HKS Million
FEER BEER BEER BE#R BE#T BERR REER
137.0 88.1 267.6 - 344 - 5211
- (1.5) (2309) - - - (2324)
137.0 86.6 36.7 - 344 - 204.7
(1,186.5) (451.0) (92.8) (560.9) (105.5) (183.9) (2,580.6)
(174.0)
(102) (75.3) - - - - (85.5)
- - 30 (84.1) - - (81.1)
(2,921.2)
115
(2,809.7)
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5. REVENUES AND SEGMENT 5.
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Primary reporting format — business
segments (continued)

W s K 7 BRE A ()

(@ FEEHEA -

EB o (E)

The segment results for the year ended 31st BE_ZTLFT_A=T—RHLEFEZHHE
December 2007 are as follows: g N
Infrastructure
and  Property Property
alternative  investment development Other
energy andleasing Construction  and sales  operations  Unallocated Group
Bk ERE NEER
EReER kg e RBE Atk AE AEE
HK$ Milion  HKS$ Milion  HKS Milion  HK$ Milion  HKS$ Milion  HKS Milion  HKS$ Million
BEST BEAT BEAT EBBT  BEET BEAT BB
Total segment revenue Stk aEHE 55.4 73.0 588.6 84.0 - - 801.0
Inter-segment revenue e - (1.4) (93.5) - - - (94.9)
Revenues Wiz 55.4 71.6 495.1 84.0 - - 706.1
Operating profit b4 it 8.1) 562.7 (819) 511.3 - (166.6) 8174
Finance costs - net (Note 10) AN ATFE(M:E10) (80.9)
Share of profits less losses of [ERE SN RIRR
associated companies mé‘i} - 33.7 - - - - 337
Share of losses less profits of ELALARER
jointly controlled entities ,mnﬂ - - 16.8 (23.0) - - 6.2)
Gain on disposal of associated HEBEN T W&
companies - 181.2 - - - - 181.2
Profit before income tax FrFRana 945.2
Income tax expense (Note 13) PRt (Pifs13) (95.5)
Profit for the year FEERT 849.7
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5. REVENUES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

(a)

Primary reporting format - business

segments (continued)
Other segment items included in the consolidated
income statement are as follows:

Depreciation
Amortisation

Provision for impairment losses on:

- prepaid land lease payments
- infangiole assets

- goodwil

- property, plant an equipment
- other receivables

- frade receivables

Depreciation
Amortisation

Provision for impairment losses on;

- other receivables

- frade receivables

Write back of provision for
impairment loss on properties
held for sale

&
25
RESHRE:
Bt LeRRR
~§FaE

&8

% BERAE
KR
B

ik

g3
HEFRRE:
—EA R
~BARERS
IFHERE L
HERRRRDR

5. WEKDWER )

(@)

FTEEHFEA -EH B @)

FAAGREEBRER CE MO EEBIT

Year ended 31st December 2008
HE-FEN\Ft-A=T-ALEE

Infrastructure
and Property Property
alternative  investment development Other
energy  andleasing  Construction andsales  operations  Unallocated Group
EER NERE IE£35
BiaR k& BE kg HipxH Ei 158
HKS Milion ~ HKSMilon ~ HKSMilion ~ HK§Million ~ HKSMilion ~ HKS Million ~ HKS Million
AEER BEER BEER BERER BEET BEET AEER
(57.5) - - @27) (6.8) (85) (75.5)
(11.7) - - (107.9) (5.2) (4.1) (128.9)
(10.1) - - (982.2) - - (1,052.3)
(462.4) - - - (16.6) - (479.0)
(223.1) - - (10.6) (42.0) - (375.7)
(341.5) - - - - - (341.5)
(9.3) - - (16.1) - - (85.4)
- (1) - - - - (1.1)
Year ended 31 December 2007
BE-TRLEtCRt-ALER
Infrastructure
and Property Property
altemative investment Oevelopment Qther
energy  andleasing  Construction and sales operations  Unallocated Group
2R VESE nRER
BRER RiE e Rifg Hft¥H AR 158
HkSMilion  HKSMilon  HKSMilon ~ HK§Miion  HK§Millon  HKMilion  HKS Millon
BEET BERT BEET BEET BE#T BERT BERT
(25.1) - - - - (1) (32.2)
(16) - - (14.7) - (16) (17.9)
- - - (329) - - (329)
- (t0) - - - - (t0)
- - - 1243 - - 1243
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5. REVENUES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Primary reporting format — business
segments (continued)
The segment assets and liabilities at 31st
December 2008 and capital expenditure for the
year then ended are as follows:

5. WERDEER @)
(@) FEEHRER -—XB2IBE)

R-ZZFZENF+-_A=1T—HZoHEEREE
ARBEZRIFEZERFNT

Infrastructure
and Property Property
alternative  investment development Other
energy  andleasing  Construction andsales  operations  Unallocated Group
BER NERE NERE
BRER kg Bg R#E RthEH AAR 150
HKS Milion ~ HKSMillion ~ HKSMillion ~ HK$Million ~ HKSMillion ~ HKS Millon ~ HKS Million
BEER BEER BEER BEER BE#ER BE#R BEER
Assets Bz 2,330.6 28736 213 6,381.7 150.1 3,196.8 15,164.1
Associated companies and SEDNARAE
jointly controlled entities NS 4161 816.7 (9.9) 1,033.9 - 03 2,251
Total assets BELH 2,746.7 3,690.3 214 7,415.6 150.1 3,197.1 17,421.2
Liabilities ff 197.3 156.0 2138 401.7 8.0 4,796.6 5,839.4
Capital expenditure BERX 628.6 268 14 418 127 158 733.1
Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to NEEERAEHEEREENAGBYRNOT
entity assets and liabilities as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE aE
HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEER BEER
Segment assets/liabilities PNEEE/AE 11,967.3 1,042.8
Associated companies and BANRIRAE AT
jointly controlled entities 2,257.1 -
Unallocated: ROMEL
Prepaid land lease payments ﬁﬁj:iﬁﬁﬁ‘f?k 185.5 -
Property, plant and equipment WIE - R ERE 59.1 -
Derivative financial instrument TESRIA 5.0 -
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESLRMEE 23.8 -
Financial assets at fair BAFEEBRRYE
value through profit or loss JEMEE 391.4 -
Other receivables Hfh FEUR 20.2 -
Restricted cash XRHRE 674.9 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeRIELZEY 1,836.9 -
Non-current borrowings EREER - 3,197.1
Other non-current payables HMIEmEEN - 264.0
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFMEHEE - 776.9
Other payables HEEM - 147.1
Current borrowings REER - 399.0
Current income tax liabilities ENHAFRBFi B & - 125
Total A=t 17,421.2 5,839.4
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5. REVENUES AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)
(@) Primary reporting format — business
segments (continued)
The segment assets and liabilities at 31st
December 2007 and capital expenditure for the
year then ended are as follows:

5. Wk 2 EER @)
(@) FE2HF K -5 (@)

R-EZLFE+_A=1T—HZoHEEREE
AEBEZRIEFEZERFNT

Infrastructure
and Property Property
altemative investment Oevelopment Qther
energy  andleasing  Construction and sales operations  Unallocated Group
BRR kg o2 R#E A% Iy e ]
HKS$ Milion HKS Milion HKS Milion HKS Milion HKS Milion HKS Milion HKS Milion
BERTL BEAT BEATL BEATL BEATL BEAT BERTL
Assets EE 2,216.1 2,925.1 419 3214 - 6,586.1 15,415.6
Associated companies and BENARAE
jointly controlled entities NS 150.3 863.8 41 1,020.5 - - 2,038.7
Total assets BEAH 2,365.4 3,788.9 4220 42919 - 6,586.1 17,4643
Liabilities Rk 44 2012 4758 32 - 3,347.3 40689
Capital expenditure BER% 5485 - - 96 - 284 7865
Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to NEEERAEREREENAGYRNOT
entity assets and liabilities as follows:
Assets Liabilities
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
Segment assets/liabilities PEEE/BE 8,829.5 721.6
Associated companies and B T NAE AT
jointly controlled entities 2,038.7 -
Unallocated: RO
Prepaid land lease payments i‘éiﬁiﬂﬂﬁf?k 183.8 -
Property, plant and equipment WIE - R RERE 51.2 -
Derivative financial instrument TEERIA 5.0 -
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ FIftHESRIEE 25.8 -
Financial assets at fair BATETERERSER
value through profit or loss JeMEE 93.3 -
Other receivables HhfEUER 302.1 -
Restricted cash RRERE 1,508.9 -
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeEEY 4,416.0 -
Non-current borrowings EREER - 2,458.7
Other non-current payables HMIEmEERN - 25.3
Deferred income tax liabilities EEFEHRAaE - 4315
Other payables Hib BT - 86.4
Current borrowings REER - 330.5
Current income tax liabilities BNEAFrEfaE - 14.9
Total st 17,454.3 4,068.9
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5. REVENUES AND SEGMENT 5. WRKkDEHER @)
INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Secondary reporting format — geographical (b) REZ2HEN - HESDEB
segments \ ) N k
The Group is organised into two main geographical ARBADNB AT RWE S - B BERT
segments, comprising Hong Kong and the P AR - 3 R H AR BRI R E KB R D
Mainland China. There are no other significant i
identifiable separate geographical segments.
2008 2007
—EENEF —ETF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Revenues e
Hong Kong e 35.4 213.8
Mainland China SiEilasi) 245.4 492.3
Others HAith 13.9 -
294.7 706.1
Segment revenue is allocated based on the region 7 B ER TR AR 5 P PR A & 5 B o
in which the customers are located.
2008 2007
—ET)NF —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
Segment assets SEEE
Hong Kong & 181.1 251.4
Mainland China R A 11,786.2 8,578.1
,,,,,,, 11,967.3 | ..88295
Associated companies and BEAFREEANTH
jointly controlled entities
Hong Kong B 28.6 47 .4
Mainland China R B A D 2,228.5 1,991.3
,,,,,,,, 22571 | . .2,0387
Unallocated assets KxowEEr 319.8 | 6,586.1
Total assets BESH 17,421.2 17,454.3
Segment assets are allocated based on where the DEPEETIRIBEEMME SR o
assets are located.
2008 2007
—ETNF —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
Capital expenditure % Y552
Hong Kong T 1.6 98.9
Mainland China R A 731.5 687.6
733.1 786.5
Capital expenditure is allocated based on where BEARMAZ IIRIBEEEMTHE DA o

the assets are located.
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OTHER INCOME

Net gain arising from the loss and
compensation of a piece of land
(Note a)

Negative goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary

Negative goodwill arising on

acquisition of an additional interest

in a jointly controlled entity
Write back of provision for
impairment loss on properties
held for sale (Note b)
Write back of provision
for impairment loss on
trade receivables
Fair value gain on financial assets
at fair value through profit or
loss, net

6. HMKkA

—fEtzBEREEES
Z Wz F e (fita)

WE—FMNBAREL L
BEE

WiE—HaE R
BmELAHE

TEHE MG ZMERERR
BB (o)

FEYR SR E R B
BB

BAHERBRRRIIRZ S/
BEZ N EREFE

2008 2007
—TE —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBIT BEATT

794.0 -

- 374.5
- 52.2
- 124.3
1.5 0.8

51.5 3.2

12.8 121

24.8 -

2.6 -

12.9 7.3

900.1 574.4

Property fee income MEBWA

Consultancy fee income REM B U A

Dividend income EUA

Others Efth

Notes: FfaE -
(@ On 26th March 2008, a piece of land originally held (@)

by the Group was offered by the local government
authority to swap for another piece of land. As a result,
with reference to the fair value of the new land on the
date of swap and as of 31st December 2008, a gain
of HK$794.0 million was recognised. Subsequent
to the swap of land, the land value has decreased
which constituted an impairment loss, resulting in a
loss of HK$265.0 million as included in Note 8 of the
consolidated financial statements.

In 2007, the Group agreed with the relevant local
government authorities to develop a parcel of land in
Jiangmen, which was vacant and undeveloped in prior
years, into a residential and commercial complex. As a
result, with reference to the valuation report prepared
by Knight Frank, the provision for impairment loss of
HK$124.3 million was written back for the year ended
31st December 2007.

RIZZNF=ZA-+"8 AEFREFEZ—EL
it F B REREAR RS — R - FA - 2%
R+ EARER RN SN \F+-A=1+—8
2 RAF{EE - HEFRT94,000,00078 7T 2 W o ¥4
% THEETE  ERRERA S ISRERW ST 2 5
B A5 R E518265,000,000/8 7T °

RIZTZTLF  AEEEABE S BRTRERZBREM
WIFEZEEZFREAAE Y — Ll BRKAE
EREERDL - Bl 2EFRBRRZEERSE R
HE_ZT+F+_A=+—RALFECEBERERIE
B 4%124,300,00078 7T °
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OTHER AND GENERAL EXPENSES 7. HitR—RER
2008 2007
—zEnF | —EEesH
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Amortisation: 3
— prepaid land lease payments —FEN SR
(Note 18) (Pff7E18) (113.5) (16.3)
— intangible assets (Note 21) — | EE(HE21) (9.9) 0.4)
Fair value losses on derivative MTHEERMTA-EEZATE
financial instrument — options E18 - (3.0)
Net exchange losses b 5 B 1R FER (82.1) (41.8)
Pre-operating expenses: EBRIFAX ¢
— property development projects — Y ERIEE (4.5) (3.1)
— infrastructure projects —HZEB (3.5) (3.8)
Research and development expenses {25 & (6.9) -
Write down of inventories (Note 28) HWoRE & (M3E28) (19.7) -
Tendering costs FAZRL AR (3.1) ©.7)
Others HAtb (17.3) (15.2)
(260.5) (84.3)
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON ASSETS 8. BERERE
2008 2007
—zEnF | -
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Provision for impairment losses on B E B
— prepaid land lease payments, net — B LA E FFERE (1,052.3) -
— intangible assets —EREE (479.0) -
— goodwill —EE (375.7) -
— property, plant and equipment o E R Y (341.5) -
— other receivables — EAb AR (85.4) (32.9)
— trade receivables — FEURBR TR (1.1) (1.0)
(2,335.0) (83.9)

Note:

The critical accounting estimates for the purposes of above
impairment testing adopted by the Group are described in

BT -

KRS -

Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, administrative
expenses and selling and distribution costs are analysed

as follows:

Employee benefit expenses
(including directors’ emoluments)
(Note 12)

Employee share option benefits
(Note 12)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Construction costs

Corporate expenses

Cost of sales for infrastructure and
alternative energy

Cost of sales for properties sold

Cost of sales for inventories

Cost of sales for other operations

Direct operating expenses arising
from investment properties that
generate rental income

Donations

Amortisation
— prepaid land lease payments

(Note 18)

— toll road (included in cost of sales)

(Note 21)

Auditor’s remuneration
Operating lease payments
Transportation expenses
Advertising costs
Property management fees
Maintenance expenses on

investment properties
Printing expenses
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, administrative
expenses and selling and
distribution costs

9. BUEETZER

EERAMAX(BIEEEME)
(F&E12)

B BB REREF
(ftzE12)
ME - N REITE

FREERAN
nAEA
HE MEREERIEERA

BEEYEHERA

FEHEEMAK

H e 2 ER AR

MRS RAZ REMEES Y

EREEERY

BR

i

—JBN I EER
(Mf3E18)

—IREB AR (BIEHEKA)
(KizE21)

ZEEN NS

KR E IR

EnEA

BEERMAR

MEEIRE R

BEMEEIEER

ENfrI &
HAibFx

HERA  TTRERUK
SHE K SHAK N 8RR

B ABEERAN - THRERUREEREER A
DT

2008 2007
—EENF —ERLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEBTT HEBTT
(139.6) (92.0)
(69.0) (36.7)
(75.5) (32.2)
(67.6) (484.5)
(61.8) (49.7)
(23.3) (1.8)

- (82.8)

(51.9) -
(36.6) -
(11.6) (11.7)
(5.0) 0.7)

(1.2) (1.2)

4.3) -

(5.6) (4.6)
(17.8) 4.7)
(20.5) (13.8)
(2.5) (3.3)
(21.9) (19.8)
(15.3) -
(2.1) 4.7)
(73.8) (37.5)
(706.9) (881.7)
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10. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Interest expenses:

Bank loans wholly repayable
within 5 years

Bank loans not wholly repayable
within 5 years

Other loans wholly repayable
within 5 years

Other loans not wholly repayable
within 5 years

Less: capitalised in construction-in
-progress

Finance costs

Finance income — interest income

from bank deposits

Net finance costs

MEFX
RITER  ERAFAZIER

RITER - BARAFARE

i &

s
:\\\
X
H
‘H?r
oF
i
DWH
il
)

\|

L

N

L& - BARTFAREEE

B R IIEPEARME )

BB
A —RITERZ M BUA

BB AR
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10. BBV R BE R A

2008 2007
—EENF —EELHF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
(118.3) (93.2)
(137.4) (113.6)
(14.1) (39.9)

(6.4) (5.8)
(276.2) (252.5)
39.0 90.2
(237.2) (162.3)
63.2 81.4
(174.0) (80.9)




11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR . EEREREEEMNE
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

(a) Directors’ emoluments () EE#ME
The remuneration of every director for the year BEERHE_ZEENEFE+_A=+—HUIEE
ended 31st December 2008 is set out below: HEmT -

Employer’s

Salary & contribution

other Discretionary ~ to pension
Fees benefits bonus scheme Total

ek BINEEE
Name of directors/ex-directors BEE/HITEERS e Hi @A WERL  ZEFHK ki

HK$000 ~ HK§000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TAL TAT TAT TAT

OEl Tjie Goan BER 9.8 - - - 95.8
WANG Jun? TE 25.0 - - - 25.0
LI Xueming ZEAg 95.8 - - - 95.8
XU Zheng ixns 95.8 - - - 95.8
OEl Kang, Eric =] 95.8 8,325.0 - 12.0 8,432.8
CHEN Libo? PR 2 70.8 5,276.0 - 9.0 5,355.8
NG Chi Man, Michael? RENe 414 2,588.0 - 6.0 2,635.4
TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk RS 95.8 3,090.0 - 12.0 3,197.8
TANG Sau Wai, Tom @ 95.8 2,010.0 - 12.0 2,117.8
CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph BREISS 95.8 2,340.8 - 12.0 2,448.6
CHAU Wing Hing® k@ 316 12762 - 45 1312.3
SHI Jihua* it 316 1,179.2 - 45 1,215.3
WAN Ming Sun' FEAL 915 - - - 915
YEN Teresa ! 95.8 - - - 95.8
LIU Guolin e 95.8 - - - 95.8
FAN Yan Hok, Philip BLE 193.6 - - - 193.6
CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico ERE 193.6 - - - 193.6
CHENG Yuk Wo ggia 193.6 - - - 193.6
Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior ZEA 193.6 - - - 193.6

1,928.5 26,085.2 - 72.0 28,085.7
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
The remuneration of every director for the year

1. EERSHAEEEMNE @)

(a) EEM< &)
BEEREE_ZZtF+_A=1+—HLFE

ended 31st December 2007 is set out below: MBS mT
Employer’s
Salary & contribution
Special other  Discretionary to pension
Fees fees benefits bonus scheme Total
ek EheitE
Name of directors/ex-directors EEVAis £z e Syilkioka HibiaH BETL 2EZHEFT k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEL ThEL FhEL THL ThEL FHL
OFEl Tjie Goan BHR 50.0 - - - _ 50.0
WANG Jun I= 50.0 - - - - 50.0
LI Xueming ZEmH 50.0 - - - - 50.0
XU Zheng #®i 50.0 - - - - 50.0
OFl Kang, Eric Ml 50.0 - 5,201.7 5,795.0 12.0 11,088.7
CHEN Libo B 50.0 - 3,781.7 4,950.0 12.0 8,793.7
NG Chi Man, Michael REX 29.2 - 1,943.3 3,208.3 7.0 5,187.8
TSANG Sai Chung, Kirk LR 50.0 - 1,632.7 910.0 12.0 2,504.7
TANG Sau Wai, Tom #rE 500 - 1,855.7 4680 120 2,385.7
CHAN Kwok Fong, Joseph FRELH 25.3 - 854.4 985.8 6.1 1,871.6
CHENG Sum Hing, Sams B 247 - 921.3 - 59 951.9
YEN Teresa BEH 123 - - - - 123
LIU Guolin A 50.0 - - - - 500
FAN Yan Hok, Philip BB 125.0 100.0 - - - 225.0
CHUNG Cho Yee, Mico BRE 125.0 100.0 - - - 225.0
CHENG Yuk Wo gl 125.0 100.0 - - - 225.0
Albert Thomas DA ROSA, Junior  Z5iE 125.0 100.0 - - - 225.0
1,041.5 400.0 16,090.8 16,317.1 67.0 33,916.4
Notes: B FE

1.

Mr. WAN Ming Sun was appointed as a non-
executive director on 1st February 2008.

Mr. WANG Jun, Mr. NG Chi Man, Michael and Mr.
CHEN Libo resigned as executive director with
effect from 17th April 2008, 15th June 2008 and
30th September 2008 respectively.

Mr. CHAU Wing Hing was appointed as an
executive director on 15th June 2008 and resigned
with effect from 9th October 2008.

Mr. SHI Jihua was appointed as an executive
director on 15th June 2008 and resigned with
effect from 9th October 2008.

Mr. Cheng Sum Hing, Sam resigned as executive
director with effect from 29th June 2007.
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR 1. EERSREEEMS @
MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals b) EEMEES AL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include five (2007:
four) directors whose emoluments are reflected in
the analysis presented above. The emoluments
payable to the remaining one individual in 2007
was as follows:

FA - AEELEHEESALBRRER(ZEE
+H:WB)ES AMEFBEER LXK
e RZETHFREB—BATENAES
T

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ERLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT
Basic salaries, housing EAH < BEZEE -
allowances, share options, BEASHE - HabERL R
other allowances and B
benefits in kind - 2.5
Bonus TEAT - 0.9
- 3.4
The emoluments of the individual fell within the ZEZATHNENF T EE -
following band:
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ERLF
Number of Number of
Individuals individuals
A A
Emolument band B4 E
HK$3,000,001 - HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T —3,500,000/& 7T - 1
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12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Wages, salaries and other benefits

Employee share option benefits

Pension costs — defined contribution
plan (Note a)

(Provision for)/write back of
provision for unused annual leave

Capitalised in properties under
development

Capitalised in inventories

Charged as construction costs

Charged as cost of sales for
other operations

Charged to income statement
(Note 9)

Notes:

TE - #HohHMET
& BRI ER A
BRIRERA

— ER S G 8l (K iEa)
REMFR(BE), 5

ERERTMERTERN

ERFERETERN
B SRR AN R IR

B R EA A2 S A AN AR

EEBSE R (M5E9)

(@ The Group operates the MPF scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance

12. BERAIMAX

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBIT BEBTT
(161.1) (99.9)
(69.0) (36.7)
(0.6) (0.5)

(0.6) 0.1
(231.3) (137.0)

4.7 6.3

1.4 -

4.6 2.0

12.0 -
(208.6) (128.7)

B3 -

for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme
is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the
employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant
income of HK$20,000. Contributions to the scheme vest
immediately. The Group’s contribution to the employee
pension schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in
compliance with the requirements of respective municipal
government.

Contributions totaling HK$0.2 million (2007: HK$0.4
million) were payable under the MPF scheme at 31st
December 2008.
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the
Group has sufficient tax losses brought forward to
offset taxable profit for the year (2007: Nil). Mainland
China income tax has been provided on the estimated
assessable profits of subsidiaries operating in the
Mainland China at the rates ranging from 18% to 25%
(2007: 15% to 33%).

. FRBBESR, (i)

AR ANEEEE AR FRIBEERNIEEAFERESR
Fad  MUEgESHESHRELRE (=24
) o PR N FTS T BIRRES B A LB A R
ZEFERBER . BN TF18%225% 2 KR (—EF
+F  15%ZE33%) EH B -

2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HKS$ Million HKS$ Million
BHEBTT BHEBTT
Current income tax BIHART 1S AR
Mainland China income tax A B B P S (2.8) (6.2)
Over provision in prior years DAF FEFREE R 1.8 1.8
(1.0) 8.4)
Deferred income tax (Note 38) EIEFTSF(MI7E38)
Credited/(charged) to the RiBsE R A (FIBR)
income statement 112.5 (84.5)
Impact of new Corporate Income M ERBREZ &
Tax Law (Note (a)) (FfisE @) - (7.6)
112.5 (92.1)
111.5 (95.5)
Notes: BfaE -
(a) On 16th March 2007, the National People’s Congress @ RIZETEF=A+H 2BRARKRERGHEFE

ARHMBDZEMSTOE(HEEMSTE]D - i
PRSBUERBEIADRE(INERE) 2 B EREHERB3%

approved the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s
Republic of China (the new “CIT Law”). The new CIT Law

reduces (increases) the corporate income tax rate for
domestic enterprises (foreign invested enterprises) from
33% (15% or 24%) to 25% with effect from 1st January
2008. The new CIT Law also provides for preferential
tax rates, tax incentives for prescribed industries
and activities, grandfathering provisions as well as
determination of taxable profit. As a result of the new CIT
Law, the carrying amount of net deferred tax liabilities for
the year ended 31st December 2007 has been increased
by HK$7.6 million.

(16%324% ) FHEE25% - B —FTN\F—H AL
Moo MBEMSTATREEENRE  HEETERED
ZBIAEE BRI GRX NEEERBUS T o R
BRAEREE _TTEF+ A=+ RLFEZE
FERRIE B (E5 R AR £ A4 10 7,600,000/8 7T ©
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13. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b)  Share of income tax credit of associated companies
amounting to HK$7.8 million (2007: income tax expense
of HK$4.0 million) are included in the consolidated
income statement as share of losses less profits of
associated companies. Share of income tax credit of
jointly controlled entities is HK$18.5 million for the year
ended 31st December 2008 (2007: Nil).

The tax of the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the weighted average tax rate applicable to (losses)/
profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

(Loss)/profit before income tax and
share of results of associated
companies and jointly controlled
entities

Tax calculated at the domestic
rates applicable to losses/(profits)
in the respective countries IE

Expenses not deductible for TR0 2 B R
taxation purposes

Income not subject to tax BERBUMA

Tax losses not recognised RER 2 BIBREE

Utilisation of previously unrecognised &
tax losses

Effect on opening deferred tax of
change in tax rate

Over provision in prior years AR F S BRR RS
Tax credit/(charge) Figig e, (k)

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 23.7%
(2007: 17.7%).
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13. FIEHE R () (&

BieE - ()

(o) FEEEEARBETEEESA7,800,0008T(ZFZT
+F : FTSR X 14,000,000 7T) © L EMR 6%;—:@
BEBREFGAGEGEER REZEZZZNE+=
A=+—BLFE 8RR ZEMLAMBHERA
18,500,000 L (=TT F : &) ©

AEBMBRAEHAT(EE), 8 f 2 HE - SRR INET
BREmMERNGHEEEBR),Tafl 2 BHRHE - =

T
2008 2007
—EENF —ERELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEEIL BEBIL
Ak

(2,754.6) 917.7
651.9 (162.5)
(473.4) (93.9)
29.4 167.9
(98.4) (1.2)
0.2 -
- (7.6)
1.8 1.8
111.5 (95.5)

IR E B R A23.7%( —EZE+F - 17.7%) °



14. (LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO

15.

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company
to the extent of HK$809.0 million, including dividend
from a subsidiary of HK$200.0 million and provision for
impairment losses on investment in and amounts due
from subsidiaries amounting HK$838.5 million (2007:
profit attributable to equity holders of HK$288.5 million,
including dividend from a subsidiary of HK$350.0 million
and provision for impairment losses on investment in
and amounts due from subsidiaries amounting HK$0.5
million).

(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic
Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

(Loss)/profit attributable to
equity holders of the
Company (HK$ Million)

Weighted average number of

(B&EETT)

14.

15.

ARRIRR BT ARG (BE),ar

BT E B IEFIIH

ordinary shares in (B®)
issue (Million)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share  FRXEAR(EIE) BF|
(HK cents per share) (=FRE)

EARRRERRFE ARG (BR), &R

NN AR A A E (L B 18 7% 809,000,000 7%
JT ¢ B IE R U — RE BT B 2 &) IR B 200,000,000 7% JT
ERMBARZIEE REKRKE AR REBREEE
838,500,0008 L (=TT F : WEEZFE AL
& $1288,500,000/ 7T - BIEEWN —HH B Q&R E
350,000,000 T KA B R R & E REKKE R
AR IE R B E518500,0008 7T) © BEF AR B8 7% )
25 °

SR (ER) BRI

(@ EX
BREN(ER) /BFTHRE AR AR R ERR
BEAFEL(EE), e FIBRFEARNT BT EBER 2
RTHRGHE -

2008 2007
—EENE —EELF
(2,646.0) 834.6
8,131.5 5,296.2
(32.5) 15.8
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15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)
(b) Diluted

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated
by adjusting the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion
of all dilutive potential shares arising from the
exercise of the share options and bonus warrants.
A calculation is made in order to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired
at fair value (determined as the average annual
market share price of the Company’s shares)
based on the monetary value of the subscription
rights attached to outstanding share options and
bonus warrants. The number of shares calculated
as above is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options and bonus warrants.
For the year ended 31st December 2007, the
number of shares calculated as above is compared
with the number of shares that would have been
issued assuming the exercise of the share options
and bonus warrants.

15. BR(&E8) B @)

(b)

e
FhEE(ER) BN DERABREBRTERK
Zm%iﬁﬁ VAR 3% P A BRI 1T {52 48 P v TR AT 7
k% ﬁ?iZ%%/EkﬁﬁE%R%ﬁﬁ
° BRART B TIIRE i AR TTE R A S AL FIRR
%%%W%%%ZE%E@W&'%MEE%%
AAFE(BE/SARRBRN 22F FHAMBK
B)WEZBOEE - EXGIREZBROEE JIER
R AL M R E R TEME HT 2 IRMD
FRELR -BE_TTLFT_A=1t—HL
FE - ERFFEZRNOEE THEERRBE R RA
FRBIERTTEM BT 2R BB 1ELLE -

Profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company (HK$ Million)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue (Million)

Adjustment for share options and
bonus warrants (Million)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares for diluted
earnings per share (Million)

Diluted earnings per share
(HK cents per share)

Diluted loss per share for the year ended 31st
December 2008 is equal to the basic (loss)/

RARBERERFTA A

A (BEBEBIT) 834.6
BETE B 2 I8
(B8) 5,296.2
B NMAI N RRERAE(ES)
31.0
TESREERF 2
TRARNEFEHE(EE)
5,327.2
R EER T
(AN 15.7
m%imiﬁfﬂ%zﬁﬁﬂx@é&ﬁlﬂ A% i 7 AR

EREREBERRETY

CHMEBE_TTN\F

earnings per share as the share options and bonus
warrants outstanding during the year had anti-
dilutive effects on the basic loss per share.
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16. DIVIDENDS

Interim: R
Special dividend paid, of nil (2007:

HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share ZETLF

Interim dividend paid, of HK1.5 cents B ftH HIL &, lﬁﬁ =A% .5

(2007: HK8.0 cents)
per ordinary share

—EELF

Final: -

Special dividend paid, of nil (2007:  EREFRIERE. - BIRE

HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share (ZEZT 5
Final dividend proposed, of nil

(2007: HK1.5 cents)

per ordinary share

—TRLF:

The special dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share
and the final dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary
share for the year ended 31st December 2007, totaling
HK$283.7 million (2006: HK$288.8 million) was
approved at the annual general meeting held on 27th
May 2008 and paid in June 2008. It has been reflected
as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year
ended 31st December 2008.

The Company offered to its shareholders a scrip
dividend alternative. The details of scrip dividend
schemes were described in the Note 35(c) to the
financial statements.

Eﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ“ g BRE

BRI R, - E}HQ @Hxi%fﬂh

16. IRE

2008 2007
EESJIC =
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT
BT
- 108.7
121.6 434.6
BT
- 162.1
- 121.6
121.6 827.0

@i_??tiwL A=t RLFESRERKR20

AL BRI E R BREBAR.SHBIL 2 KBRS A H
283,700,00078 7T (=T Z /X4 : 288,800,000/&7T)
ER-ZFTN\FRA-TLHBTZRRBFASEL
o AERZFTNFAAIRN - ZEBEARIER
ERT) N\FHA=T-HUEFEZREEFDE -

ARATRERREHABRKE ZEE - AR SF8IFF
BB SRR RE35(C) °

BBER (ER) ARLARA-ZENFFR 137



17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

At 1st January n—H—H
Exchange differences M =50

Finance lease payments capitalised Bt &M E R E ML,

Transfer from construction-in- BEZITIREA
progress

Fair value adjustments N ERAE

At 31st December W+—_A=+—H

The investment properties were revalued at 31st
December 2008 by an independent, professional
qualified valuer Knight Frank. Valuations were based on
an open market value.

As at 31st December 2008, investment properties
in Mainland China of HK$1,215.7 million (2007:
HK$1,349.9 million) were pledged as securities for the
Group’s borrowings (Note 37).

The Group’s interests in investment properties at their
carrying values and the lease terms are analysed as
follows:

In Mainland China, held on:
Leases of between 10 to 50 years

KA B AR
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NTF10250F 2 HHE

17. REYE

Group

REE
2008 2007
—ZEETN\F —ZETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
2,922.2 2,193.4
160.8 192.0
105.6 -
111.8 -
(473.0) 536.8
2,827.4 2,922.2

REVMEHRBYEXSERMEMEIR _ZTN\F
TZA=1+—BEH - BERRFEHEET -

RZEENF+_A=+—HBH HEHRNMBEE
1,215,700,0008 7t ( ZEZ £ F : 1,349,900,000 /&
T ZEEME  BEAREERMEGRZER (T
37) e

REBERREMERZ B ERMERARINAT

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT BEET
2,827.4 2,922.2




18. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s interest in leasehold land and land use
rights represented prepaid operating lease payments
and their net carrying value are analysed as follows:

18. I L &K
AR BN TR e TR ot [ fE
W HREFESTAT :

Group
&
2008 2008 2007 2007
—ETN\F T NF —ETLF —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEATL ABAT BEBT
At 1st January »—A—H 2,259.8 224.6
Exchange differences MEH =58 243.4 72.1
Additions NE 1,408.1 7736
Acquisition of subsidiaries Ligi i) NG|
(Note 42) (Kt5E42) 2,909.8 1,189.0
Reclassification EHOE
— Transfer from properties —ES T HhfFE A
under development REEFERR
upon obtaining land use RZEE A
right certificates 1,220.3 -
— Transfer from a deposit — BYEEREIER
paid for a property ZBENEE
development project A - 16.5
— Transfer from construction-  — BAERETIZEA
in-progress (Note 19) (FF5E19) - 14.9
- Transfer to intangible assets —#EHEELEE
(Note 21) (fF7E21) (239.3) 981.0 - 31.4
Impairment losses (Note 8) S EEE (F3E8) (1,140.6) -
Disposals k== (573.0) -
Amortisation By
- Capitalised in properties —BEREBERTYE
under development =¥ \|d
(Note 20) (Bf3E20) (@.1) (5.6)
— Capitalised in construction-  — B RERE T2
in-progress =¥N|d - (7.8)
- Recognised as expenses —EERERX
(Notes 7 and 9) (FI7E7 %9) (114.7) (118.8) (17.5) (30.9)
At 31st December R+—_A=+—H 5,969.7 2,2590.8
In Hong Kong, held on: MNEBRE :
Leases of between 10 to NF10E50F 2
50 years FAEH 80.7 82.5
In Mainland China, held on: A g
Leases of over 50 years HBIBS0EZFE 1,077.0 1,240.3
Leases of between 10 to NF10=506F 2
50 years TS 4,812.0 937.0
5,969.7 2,259.8

Certain bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s
prepaid land lease payment with carrying values of
HK$190.9 million (2007: HK$18.8 million) (Note 37).

K £ B IR ™ (& 190,900,000 8 ;L ( — T T + F
18,800,000/ 7T ) Z FEN L E R MM AEEE T
IRITIEFR(PRER7) o
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. Y% - WBRRRE

Group
A5E
Electric utiity ~ Water utility Other
Construction- plant and plant and plant and
in-progress equipment equipment equipment Buildings Total
Eft
ERIR ZEHREE WKELRRE KEREE BF ek

HK§ Miion ~ HKSMilion  HK§Milion ~ HK$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion  HKS Millon
BEAT  BEET  BEAT  BBERT  BEAT  BEBER

At 1st January 2007 R-2Zt5—-A-H
Cost B 860.3 - 2358 46.1 16.4 1,158.6
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  2:H47E RJi(E - - (16.7) (28.5) (4.8) (50.0)
Net book amount RHYE 860.3 - 219.1 176 1.6 1,108.6
Year ended 31st December 2007 HE"ZZEE+ZH
=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount FURESE 860.3 - 219.1 176 16 1,108.6
Exchange differences ERER 65.7 (0.4) 16.1 0.4 06 82.4
Additions NE 544.9 - 0.2 239 321 601.1
Transfer to prepaid land lease E A
payments (Note 18) REF(HE18) (14.9) - - - - (14.9)
Reclassification ENNE (635.6) 635.6 - - - -
Disposals it - - - (08) - (08)
Depreciation g - 7.8) (17.4) 6.9) 0.9) (35.0)
Closing net book amount FREETE 820.4 627.4 218.0 322 434 1,741.4
At 31st December 2007 A-EZLE+ZA=1-H
Cost R 8204 635.6 254.1 68.0 492 1,827.3
Accumulated depreciation and imparment  2:H47& RJi(E - (8.2) (36.1) (35.8) (5.8) (85.9)
Net book amount FEFE 820.4 627.4 218.0 32.2 434 1,744
Year ended 31st December 2008 HECEBE)N\E+ZR
=t-ALEE
Opening net book amount FOEETE 820.4 627.4 218.0 32.2 434 1,741.4
Exchange differences ERESE 57.6 36.7 116 41 34 1134
Additions "E 644.3 1.9 - 442 1.5 691.9
Acaisition of subsidiaries (Note 42) WEEHB AR (HH42) 1423 - - 1773 1027 4223
Transfer to investment properties ENERENE (111.8) - - - - (111.8)
Transfer o intangible assets ENERVAE (1319.2) - - - - (1319.2)
Reclassification ENDE (67.4) - - - 67.4 -
Cost adjustments FXAE (5.9) (14.3) - - - (202)
Disposals HE - - - (1.5) - (15)
Depreciation & - (326) (189) (21.4) (45) (77.4)
Impairment losses (Note 8) HEEAS) - (80.0) - (165.1) (96.4) (3415)
Closing net book amount FREmTE 160.3 539.1 210.7 69.8 117.5 1,0974
At 31st December 2008 R-EENE+ZA=1+-H
Cost A 160.3 660.9 269.0 288.0 224.2 1,602.4
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  2:H7E RiiE - (121.8) (58.3) (218.2) (106.7) (505.0)
Net book amount REFE 1603 539.1 210.7 69.8 175 1,097.4
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19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

Depreciation expenses for property, plant and
equipment of HK$1.9 million (2007: HK$2.8 million)
have been capitalised in construction-in-progress
under property, plant and equipment and properties
under development which were included as part of
the additions. Depreciation expenses of HK$75.5
million (2007: HK$32.2 million) has been charged in
cost of sales, administrative expenses and selling and
distribution costs (Note 9).

Certain bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s
certain properties, plant and equipment with carrying
values of HK$612.1 million (2007: HK$446.9 million)
(Note 37).

20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development BRDYESRE
comprise:
Land costs T HbA AR
Construction costs and BEKARER
capitalised expenditure
Amortisation of prepaid land B E R
lease payments (Note 18) (FFzE18)

In 2007, a deposit amounting to HK$1,000.2 million
included in the properties under development was paid
to acquire land use rights of which the certificates were
yet to obtain as of 31st December 2007. The relevant
certificates were obtained in 2008 and reclassified as
prepaid land lease payments accordingly.

The properties under development are all located in the
Mainland China.

Certain bank borrowings are secured by the Group’s
properties under development with carrying value of
HK$320.9 million (2007: Nil) (Note 37).

19. ¥P% - MBI R ()

ME - BRERTEARTRPIWEZNERAX
1,900,000 T ( ZZZ+ 4 : 2,800,000/8 T ) & #1E
ME - WELRECERIRBZERNEAREZ —
2o - mITE R X 75,500,000 T( ZEZELF ¢
32,200,000 L) EERHEERE « ITHERAREER
DA ABR (BI5E9) ©

A £ B Bk {E 612,100,000 7 7T ( — T + F
446,900,000/ 7C) 2 B T ¥ - #4233 Kk B AR
BAETRITER(MIFEI?) -

20. BEPWE
Group
AEE
2008 2007
—ETN\F —EDLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
AEBTT AEBTT
- 1,139.6
X
620.2 213.6
5
4.1 5.6
624.3 1,358.8

RZEZLFEINAAZRERTYWEZES
1,000,200,000/8 7T * AAEREE L F A - RZTF
+tFEF+A=+—HEANSEBEE - BREFEREE
BERZZTNFHE  TEHHEAEMNLHHEER -

BRPMERZHBUNPEAM -

ATHRTEFAAERBRPYEELF  ZSHESD
) 2 AR T 8. /5320,900,000/8 7T ( —EE+4F © ) (M
37) e
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21. B EE

Group
NS
Concession Other
fights - toll Biomass intangible
Goodwil road technology assets Total
-
HE KERE  AEWERN HEtEVEE ek

HK$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion ~ HK$ Milion  HK$ Million
AEBT AERT BEBT BERT BEBT

At 1st January 2007 R-22+t%—A-H
Cost XA 6.3 336 - 23.7 63.6
Accumulated amortisation 2t - - - (0.3) 03)
Net book amount RE#E 6.3 336 - 234 63.3
Year ended 31st December 2007 HEBStEE
+ZAZ+-HLEFE
Opening net book amount EIREFE 6.3 336 - 23.4 63.3
Amortisation charge (Note 7) BEem(EY) - - - (0.4) 0.4)
Closing net book amount FIREREE 6.3 33.6 - 23.0 62.9
At 31st December 2007 A_ESEE+ZA=+-H
Cost A 6.3 33.6 - 23.7 63.6
Accumulated amortisation Rt - - - 0.7) 0.7)
Net book amount REHE 6.3 336 - 230 62.9
Year ended 31st December 2008 BE_ZZN\FE+ZR
=+—-BLEE

Opening net book amount IR FE 6.3 336 - 23.0 62.9
Additions NE - - 315 0.2 317
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 42) WM B AR (H42) 403.2 - - 29.8 4330
Transfer from construction-in-progress BEEEIREA - 1,319.2 - - 1,319.2
Transfer from prepaid land lease payments BN TR E HEE A - 239.3 - - 239.3
Amortisation charge (Notes 7 and 9) BESB(HATRI) - 4.3) (4.2) (5.7) (14.2)
Impairment losses (Note &) REBE(MS) (375.7) (444.3) - (34.7) (854.7)
Closing net book amount FREREE 338 1,1435 273 12.6 1,217.2
At 31st December 2008 N_EENE+ZA=1T-H
Cost A 409.5 1,592.1 315 53.0 2,086.1
Accumulated amortisation ZEEERAE

and impairment (375.7) (448.6) (4.2) (40.4) (868.9)
Net book amount REFE 338 1,1435 27.3 12.6 1,217.2

142 HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008



21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing
purpose to five individual cash-generating units
(“CGUSs”). These five individual CGUs each represents
the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes.

The carrying amounts and impairment of goodwill
allocated to business segments are as follows:

Infrastructure and alternative energy ~ ELi2 & 2L AER
— Ethanol plant — ZBER
- HKE —BABHEIR
— Other —HAh
Property development and sales EILRNEE
— Shanghai property — EBmE
Property investment and leasing MEREREE
- Beijing property — bR
Other operations E R
— Software development — B

For the purposes of goodwill impairment assessment,
the Group has calculated the value in use and fair value
less cost to sell for each of the above projects, where
applicable. Impairment losses, if any, were determined
based on the higher of which.

21.

BILEE (@)

AT R 1E )z
HERNEIRESBREIAERSELEN((RE
EAEA)) - RAAERRSEE B RAEER®
RHERAREREEZ RIEKT -

EOREXRB OB EREERERT

Carrying
amount
as at 1st Carrying
January amount
2008 or at Impairment as at 31st
the date losses for December
acquisition the year 2008
RZZZTNEF
—H—A RZEENFE
B FNz +ZA=+—8H
ZBRE{E HIEETE ZEREE
Note HKS$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
LiEzs BEAET BEAT BEAET
(i) 98.3 (98.3) -
(i) 118.5 (118.5) -
6.3 (6.3) -
(iii) 110.6 (110.6) -
(iv) 33.8 - 33.8
v) 42.0 (42.0) -
409.5 (875.7) 33.8

SR EREREMS - ARECEH DA SHE A EER
BELRAHEREEKRAER) - XRE iR SE
EEREsE(mE) -
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21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

(i)

(i)

Ethanol plant

Following a significant drop in commodity prices
in the last quarter of 2008, the demand of
ethanol was impacted negatively. This resulted
in an impairment loss recorded on goodwill of
HK$98.3 million which was determined based
on an assessment of the Group’s ethanol plant’s
fair value less cost to sale. In arriving the fair
value of the most significant assets (namely
land, property, plant and equipment and trade
receivables), management has taken reference to
the valuation report prepared by Knight Frank in
respect of the land and the estimated recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and
trade receivables. Management believes that any
reasonable possible change in the key assumptions
on which the ethanol plant’s recoverable amount
is based would not cause ethanol plant’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

HKE

Following the decline of equity market in 2008,
the market value as of 31st December 2008 of
Hong Kong Energy Limited (“HKE”) (formerly
known as J.I.C. Technology Company Limited),
a listed subsidiary in Hong Kong, has significantly
decreased compared with the Group’s acquisition
price paid during the year. This constitutes an
indication of impairment loss for the goodwill
associated with this unit. As a result, management
has assessed the recoverable amount of HKE
based on a value-in-use calculation which
has mainly been determined with reference to
HKE’s cash and cash equivalents on hand. The
Group has made a goodwill impairment loss of
HK$118.5 million based on the above value-in-
use assessment. Management believes that any
reasonable possible change in the key assumptions
on which the HKE’s recoverable amount is based
would not cause HKE’s carrying amount to exceed
its recoverable amount.
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21.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Property development and sales — Shanghai
property

The Shanghai property market has declined
following reaching its peak in mid 2008. This
has resulted in an impairment loss of HK$110.6
million on goodwill being recorded which was
determined based on the Group’s Shanghai
Guangtian’s fair value less cost to sale. In arriving
the fair value of the piece of land included in the
Shanghai Guangtian, management has taken
reference to the valuation report prepared by
Knight Frank. The value of which was made by
reference to comparable transactions and have
also taken into account the construction costs that
will be expended to complete the development.
Management believes that any reasonable possible
change in the key assumptions on which the
Shanghai Property’s recoverable amount is based
would not cause Shanghai Property’s carrying
amount to exceed its recoverable amount.

Property investment and leasing — Beijing property
The recoverable amount of Beijing property
has been determined based on a value-in-
use calculation. That calculation is based on
a projected net cash inflow from the property
leasing units with reference to the valuation report
prepared by Knight Frank. The property interest
of valuation is based on profit rent originated from
the lease term interest and its right in sub-letting
and/or transferring the lease term interest of the
property.

The value-in-use calculation uses pretax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 12-year period cash
flow, based on a discount rate of 5.75% taking into
account the risk level of the business unit. Other
key assumptions relate to estimation in sales,
gross margin and operating cash outflows, based
on the business unit’s past performance and
management expectations for future development
of the market and the business. Management
believes that any reasonable possible change
in the key assumptions on which the Beijing
property’s recoverable amount is based would
not cause Beijing property’s carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

(v)

Other operations — software development
Following the outbreak of the global economic
crisis, the demand of software development
services has decreased. This has resulted in an
impairment loss of HK$42.0 million recorded
on goodwill which was determined based
on an assessment of the Group’s software
development’s value-in-use calculations. The
value-in-use calculation uses pretax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period
cash flow beyond the next five financial years
extrapolated by an annual growth rate, based on
a discount rate of 17.79% taking into account
the risk level of the business unit and an annual
growth rate of 4.0% which does not exceed the
industry average long-term growth rate. Other
key assumptions relate to estimation in sales,
gross margin and operating cash outflows, based
on the business unit’s past performance and
management expectations for future development
of the market and the business. Management
believes that any reasonable possible change
in the key assumptions on which the software’s
recoverable amount is based would not cause
the software development ’s carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount.
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21.

22,

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment test for concession rights - toll road
Following the commencement of the toll road in Guilin
during the year, the actual traffic flow has recorded a
lower than expected traffic flow which was projected
during the tendering phase in 2004. This has resulted in
an impairment loss of HK$444.3 million being recorded
based on the latest value in use assessment.

That value-in-use calculation uses cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five year period. Cash flows beyond the
next five years extrapolated based on a discount rate
of 10.5% taking into account the risk of the business
unit and on 12.0% annual growth rate of which does
not exceed the industry average long-term growth
rate. Management believes that any reasonable
possible change in the key assumptions on which the
concession right’s recoverable amount is based would
not cause the concession right’s carrying amount to
exceed its recoverable amount.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT

Put option RonHARE

The balance represents a put option right to sell the
Group’s 45% interest in Hong Kong Construction Kam
Lung Limited, an associated company which was fair
valued at 31st December 2008 and 2007 .
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REAEE - B REEE444,300,0008 7T ©

BRAGEREEAENEEAREEEBIEREDEF
EzUBEE s ReRnETEA - HEREFE BN
B DEZEEIEBEM 2 ERBIKTE  #10.5% 280
WERNEBITERPTHERE 2 FIERE12.0%H
- BEIRENRE  FATRATRE B T 2MERATES

RZEMEEE ISR REERBR D ETKE
SFE o
TTHEE®MIA
Group
REE
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
AEBT AEBT
5.0 5.0

BREER NS ASE RN — B2 2 5 Hong Kong
Construction Kam Lung Limited 45%# %5 2 5208 B
ERZZEENFR_ZBET+F+T_A=+—HEAFE
518 o

BBER (ER) ARLARA-ZENFFR 147



CATEGORY

Group

Assets as per consolidated
balance sheet
31st December 2007

Available-for-sale financial assets
(Note 24)

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 30)

Derivative financial instrument
(Note 22)

Other non-current receivables

Amounts due from associated
companies (Note 26)

Trade and other receivables (Note 31)

Restricted cash (Note 33)

Cash and cash equivalents
(Note 34)

Total
31st December 2008

Available-for-sale financial assets
(Note 24)

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 30)

Derivative financial instrument
(Note 22)

Amounts due from associated
companies (Note 26)

Amounts due from jointly controlled

entities (Note 27)

Trade and other receivables (Note 31)

Restricted cash (Note 33)
Cash and cash equivalents
(Note 34)

Total

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

GAUEARE
ZBE
RZBT+E
+-A=1+-H
AHHESREE
GEZ)
BRATEEBSER
NEZemEE
(Pfi+E30)
TEERMIA
(PisE22)
HitEmaris
JE U &N R F0A
(Pft3E26)
FEUEE R I E A R U
(P3E31)
TREEE
(FfH3£33)
BeREESEY
(PizE34)

st

RZZENE
+-A=1+-H
AEHESHERE

(Pfi5E24)
BAFEEBRR
NEZEmEE
(Fft5£30)
THEERMIE
(Mﬁzz)
NG
(Pi3E26)
JERAZARIFE
(Fftsx27)
JEUREBR K

H ot EUER (FFE31)
RRHR S (5333)
BeMAELEED
(Pi534)

a5t
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23. BRERE D 2EMTA

Assets at
fair value
through Derivative
Loans and the profit financial Available-
receivables or loss instrument for-sale Total
BATER
R EERIE (3
RIEWGK LEE SRIA e @5t
HK$ Milion  HK$ Milion  HK$ Milion  HKS$ Milion ~ HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
- - - 25.8 25.8
_ 93.3 - - 93.3
- - 5.0 - 50
37.0 - - - 37.0
687.7 - - - 687.7
978.2 - - - 978.2
1,508.9 - - - 1,508.9
4,416.0 - - - 4,416.0
7,627.8 93.3 5.0 25.8 7,751.9
- - - 23.8 23.8
- 391.4 - - 391.4
- - 5.0 - 5.0
658.3 - - - 658.3
10.9 - - - 10.9
443.8 - - - 443.8
674.9 - - - 674.9
1,836.9 - - - 1,836.9
3,624.8 391.4 5.0 23.8 4,045.0




23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

23. BRI 2EMT A @)

CATEGORY (continued)
Liabilities at
fair value  Other financial
through profit liabilities at
orloss  amortised cost Total
BEAEE pirg 5!
Bz AR E
FfRcBafE HMemAasE MEt
HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEAT AEET BEBT
Liabilities as per consolidated FeEEERERZ
balance sheet &R
31st December 2007 R-ZTEEL+F+_-A=1+—H
Other non-current payables HiIEmshER = - 112.7 112.7
Trade and other payables FERTBRZR I B FE A 2R
(Note 39) (M45E39) - 720.6 720.6
Borrowings (Note 37) &R (F5E37) - 2,789.2 2,789.2
Total st - 3,622.5 3,622.5
31st December 2008 R-EENF+_A=1+—H
Other non-current payables HiIEmsER = 237.9 61.4 299.3
Trade and other payables FERTBRZR N B FE A 2R
(Note 39) (M45E39) - 1,154.6 1,154.6
Borrowings (Note 37) &k (F15E37) - 3,596.1 3,596.1
Total #Et 237.9 4,812.1 5,050.0
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)
Company

Assets as per balance sheet
31st December 2007
Amounts due from subsidiaries
(Note 25)
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 30)
Other receivables (Note 31)
Restricted cash (Note 33)
Cash and cash equivalents
(Note 34)

Total

31st December 2008
Amounts due from subsidiaries,
net of provision (Note 25)
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (Note 30)
Cash and cash equivalents
(Note 34)

Total

23. RERE D 2B T A

b N
Assets at fair
value through
Loans and the profit
receivables or loss Total
RAFERT
BmRIIER
B R ERGR ZLEE wmEt
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBIT BEET
aﬁﬁlﬁizaﬁ
RIZEZTLF+-A=+—H
FEUH B R A2 F B (M7E25)
8,164.0 - 8,164.0
BATEEERRIE
Z &g E (MEEs0) - 81.3 81.3
Hob R (B REST) 0.7 - 0.7
MR HI3R 2 (Ki5E33) 440.8 - 440.8
ReRBEEED
(M$3E34) 1,933.2 - 1,933.2
et 10,538.7 81.3 10,620.0
RZBEZENF+-A=+—H
BB R E R E 1A B
MEAR A (H7E25) 9,451.2 - 9,451.2
BATEEERERYIERZ
©FE E (F13E30) - 63.5 63.5
fﬁ%&ﬁA”*F*«*@(MTufsm
131.1 - 131.1
HBET 9,582.3 63.5 9,645.8
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

23. BRI 2EMT A @)

Company (continued) ADE ()
Other financial
liabilities
at amortised cost
RS ANETE 2
EtemaE
HK$ Million
BEBIT
Liabilities as per balance sheet SERRBRRZAR
31st December 2007 RZZEE+F+-A=1+—H
Other payables and accruals (Note 39) E bt R A (F3E39) 3.1
31st December 2008 RZZEZENF+_A=+—H
Other payables and accruals (Note 39) H bR kg & B (M5E39) 741
Amount due to a subsidiary (Note 25) FEF— R B A B IE (M RE25) 96.4
Total Bt 170.5
24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 24, AIMtHESREE
ASSETS
Group
REHE
2008 2007
—EEN\F ZETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEBTT HEBTT
1st January —A—H 25.8 4.1
Exchange differences PN =5 1.1 -
Additions INE 5.6 21.5
Net (losses)/gains transfer between — Bz 7 (F518) W E5E
equity (Note 36) (Mg5E36) (8.7) 0.2
31st December +=-—A=+—H 23.8 25.8
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESMEERIE
including the following: TEIEIE
Unlisted securities ELEMES
Equity securities — PRC R AR FE % — 18.7 21.5
Club debentures @& 5.1 4.3
23.8 25.8

BFRER (ZR)BERIRA-ZZN\FFR 151



24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 24. I ESREE (®)

ASSETS (continued)

The net losses associated with available-for-sale
financial assets do not consider as prolonged or
significant decline in fair value. As a result, there was
no impairment loss provision being provided for the
available-for-sale financial assets as at 31st December
2008 (2007: Nil).

Available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in
the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar BIT
Renminbi AR

The fair values of unlisted securities are based on
discounted cash flows with reference to market interest
rate and the risk premium specific to the unlisted

HAHESHEERUZEBERFETSHEARY
SEHAFEARETE - At RZEENE+ A
Zt+—AERATHEE SR EEETRERERE
TETE ).

AHEHESREENTIIEEHE

2008 2007
—ETN\F BT F
HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBTT BEBTT
4.2 3.3

19.6 22.5
23.8 25.8

ARETEHRZ RFHEIZEMSNERKLIELTEFEE
ZEBRE RN REFH -

securities.
25. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 25. RIBARIZRE

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEBIT
Unlisted shares, at cost FE LTI » IRAKK 181.1 150.0
Provision for impairment loss BEBERE (162.7) -
18.4 150.0
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG R 10,127.0 8,164.0
Provision for impairment loss BB BB A (675.8) -
Amount due to a subsidiary FE—REMT B AT FIE (96.4) -
9,373.2 8,314.0

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest
free, and not repayable within next twelve months. Their
carrying amounts are not materially different from their
fair values.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are set out on
pages 194 to 202.
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26. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED 26. REIEARIZRE

COMPANIES
Group
EE
2008 2007
—ETNF —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
Group’s share of net assets REBELEEEFE 597.6 349.2
Amounts due from associated FEURBSE 5 N B FRIB
companies 658.3 687.7
Provision for impairment losses BB B (22.8) (22.8)
1,233.1 1,0141

Balances with associated companies are unsecured,
interest free and not repayable within next twelve
months except for the amounts due from associated
companies of HK$90.6 million (2007: HK$90.6 million)
which bears interest at the Hong Kong dollar prime rate
(2007: Hong Kong dollar prime rate).

The following financial information, after making
adjustments to conform to the Group’s significant
accounting policies, represented the Group’s aggregate
share of assets, liabilities, revenue and results of
associated companies, all of which are unlisted, are
summarised as below:

Assets BE
Liabilities afE
Net assets BEFE
Revenues g

PSR (E518), 8 F

(Loss)/profit before income tax

Income tax credit/(expense) FrigfisEe,/ (%)
(Loss)/profit for the year RNEE(FE), =5

kR /2%£90,600,0007% 7T ( ZFF 4 : 90,600,000 7T )
ZEEHERNRFERRBEETREENR(ZTTL
FOBTTRERNE)GEI - HEER
BE - 2B MBARNKRK T —EAREE -

B2 FERYE

THFBERDEABANAARBIZGHEE &
RAKEARBEBERF( ZEERIFLTRR)Z2E
AT -

2008 2007
—EEN\F TEELF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT AEBTT
2,707.8 1,833.8
(2,110.2) (1,484.6)

597.6 349.2

56.3 76.3

(93.3) 37.7

7.8 (4.0)

(85.5) 33.7

Details of principal associated companies are set out on
page 203.

s EAURERAM S - TR E QR ZHITHNF203
Ho
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27. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 27. 8 A RKRE

ENTITIES
Group
&
2008 2007
—ET)NF —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Group’s share of net assets REBELEEEFAE 1,018.4 1,041.8
Amounts due from/(to) jointly UL (B & E A RIIEFE
controlled entities, net 10.9 (11.9)
Portion due within one year, —FREESEAERDEENI S
classified as current assets - (0.8)
Provision for impairment losses BB EEE (5.3) (5.3)
1,024.0 1,023.8

The following financial information, after making

THFBERTEHABUANAARBEIZGHEE &

adjustments to conform to the Group’s significant MAREFRESEELEAEZEATIZEE  BE - Wi %EE
accounting policies, represented the Group’s aggregate BT

share of assets, liabilities, revenue and results of jointly
controlled entities are summarised as below:

2008 2007
—zEnF | —EEeF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBIT

Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,103.9 1,027.3
Current assets ENEE 106.2 91.0
1,210.1 1,118.3

Liabilities BE
Non-current liabilities EREEE (18.1) -
Current liabilities BB E (173.6) (76.5)
(191.7) (76.5)
Net assets BEFE 1,018.4 1,041.8
Loss before income tax FiSfi Al Es 18 (99.6) (6.2)
Income tax credit FrigHiie 18.5 -
Loss for the year KEEFEE (81.1) (6.2)
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27.

28.

29.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (continued)

Notes:

(@) Balances with jointly controlled entities are unsecured,
interest free and not repayable within next twelve months.
Their carrying amounts are not materially different from
their fair values.

(b)  There are no material contingent liabilities relating to
the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled entities and
contingent liabilities within the respective entities.

(c) Details of principal jointly controlled entities are set out on
page 204.

INVENTORIES

Ethanol manufacturing 7 BEgli
Raw materials B
Finished goods UK
Consumables and others JHE G M EAD

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. The cost of inventories recognised as
expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted to
HK$54.5 million (2007: Nil).

Following the drop in ethanol sales prices, a provision
of HK$19.7 million (2007: Nil) has been provided and
included in the other and general expenses.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

At 31st December 2008, properties held for sale that
are carried at net realisable value amounted to HK$9.1
million (2007: HK$7.1 million).

27.

28.

290.

EEQNTRE®HE
Pt -

@ BEZEQAMZERLEER  PERBARAKKT =
BEAREE BHRAEREAFELBERER -

) YEBEXREBAKEMEALARAEENRARE M
RS E RIS BRETELAARE -

© TI2AEARZHIEHNFE204E -

w5
2008 2007

—EENF —EETALF

HKS$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT HEET

26.3 -

5.4 -

31.7 -

11.5 -

43.2 -

TF & TR R B A S B8 SR E 51 BR 2 K& T B - TR A
AW Er Al EEKA | 27 E KA 554,500,000 7T
(ZZT+FT) -

JBEBTKE - BE1FEH19,700,0008 T(—EZ+
FoE) BB AEME—RER -

fESHERZR 2 W
RZZEZEN\F+ZA=+—10  HEHERABRZME
A IR FESR - H$ % A9,100,0008 T(ZEE+
F : 7,100,000/87CT) °
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30. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

30. RAFEEBERIIBREHEE

Group Company
REE FiN/NC]
2008 2007 2008 2007
—ETNF —ETLF —EENF —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBTT BEBT BEBT
Equity securities: MR 75
— Listed in Hong Kong at — BB L™
market value HmhE 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.3
— Unlisted —JEET 391.3 93.0 63.4 81.0
391.4 93.3 63.5 81.3

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recorded in other income in
the consolidated income statement (Note 6).

The fair value of equity securities is based on the current
bid price quoted in the market at the balance sheet
date. The fair value of unquoted securities are based
on arm’s length transactions and discounted cash
flow analysis which are prepared based on a variety of
methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at the balance sheet date.
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Trade receivables

Less: provision for
impairment of
receivables

Trade receivables — net

Bills receivable

Retention receivables (Note a)

Other receivables and
deposits, net of provisions

Deposit paid for a property
development project

Gross amounts due from
customers for contract
works (Note 32)

Amount due from a jointly
controlled entity (Note c)

Amounts due from related
companies (Note c)

Notes:

31. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

& AR R
B FEUERAR
B

FE U BR R EE

FEUs 2= HE

FEMAR BB 7EE (FfT sEa)

H iR Rk s
(B HBREE)

YEERIER 2
BftES

A e
SRIAHBAEE
(M43E32)

fEdy —RA &
AaElFRE (MisEe)

FEUL RN A
FIE (MsEe)

(@ At 31st December 2008, retention receivables amounting
to HK$32.6 million (2007: HK$51.5 million) were included
in current other receivables (2007: included in non-
current receivables and current other receivables),
depending on their expected date of receipt.

31. PR R R E fth B W =K

Group Company
REH ZN/NG]

2008 2007 2008 2007
T NF s —EENEF ZETLF
HK$ Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET AEET ABEAT BEATT

72.7 115.9 - -

(13.3) (19.8) - -

59.4 96.1 - -

23.4 10.7 - -

32.6 16.4 - -

185.4 539.8 - 0.7

- 69.7 - -
140.9 237.5 - -
- 0.8 - _

21 7.2 - -
443.8 978.2 - 0.7

@ RZZEZNF+-ZA=+—B EREZARER
32,600,000/ 7T (= F L4 : 51,500,00087L) * B
RRIGHNR A 5 AR AR BB (—FTLF : D515

RIEMENEM A R E MR B IR ©
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31. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)
(b)  The ageing analysis of trade receivables at year end, net
of provision for impairment of receivables, was as follows:

0 to less than 2 months Z=L2(@A
2 to less than 6 months 2 D6 fE A
6 to less than 12 months 62121 A
12 months and more HBiE121E A

The Group’s credit terms for the contracting business
are negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with its trade customers. Various
group companies have different credit policies depending
on the requirements of their markets and the businesses
which they operate. Retention money receivables in
respect of contracting services are settled in accordance
with the terms of respective contracts.

There is no concentration of credit risk with respect to
trade receivables, as the Group has a large number of
customers.

(c)  Amounts due from a jointly controlled entity and related
companies are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed
terms of repayment.

(d)  Depending on the line of business, trade receivables that
are less than 12 months past due are not considered
impaired. These relate to a number of independent
customers for whom there is no recent history of
default. As at 31st December 2008, trade receivables of
HK$7.9 million (2007: HK$69.4 million) were past due
but not impaired. No other receivables were past due or
impaired.

As at 31st December 2008, trade receivables of
HK$13.3 million (2007: HK$19.8 million) were subject to
impairment provision. A total provision of HK$13.3 million
was provided for the receivable. The balance was aged
over 12 months.
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. BUWARR R

( i )
(®)

H o FE W R

RELER - BINBEREIURE R EEERIER 2 R
DITEAT -

Group

REH
2008 2007
ZZT)\F ZETEF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEET
46.9 24.9
1.8 1.5
2.8 0.3
7.9 69.4
59.4 96.1

ZIKEIL“’\?’J%A“*ZF,JIﬂtanizzﬁ”*ﬂxP*ﬁ%ﬂ%?X
BEPB#ENER] - RBZEEBREARETS
FR RS %i‘%ﬁ'ﬁﬁ FREEA K RTE 2 FEURIR B R
ZRERE D Z FREE -

HRAEEZFPRHETD  MEEERLEBEEED 2
J—wnno

B —FEa g Ra REEE
B FE B SRR o

RBZFBREERR 28R

MEBHEME - P 1218 8 A2 2 BUYERRE AR
B SEERERATEORRRLHELBLEFE
RN _ZEZTN\F+_A=+—H SBHEEREZ
JE U AR 7R 457,900,000/ 7T ( ZEZ+4F : 69,400,000/
JT) o W E MR E B R IRRE -

RZZFZNF+A=+—H  EBRIEKK13,300,000%
TL(ZZFZ 45 : 19,800,000/ 7T ) AfE HFE R © %
HRUGREVER A 2513,300,0008 7T + A8k ARiik 8
@12faAa -



31. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(continued)

()

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong dollar BIT
Renminbi NN
US dollar Ei

Movements on the provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

At 1st January ®n—A—AH

Exchange differences &N =5

Provision for trade receivables U BR TR B B
impairment

Write back of provision for B R R o

impairment loss

Trade receivables written off during £ Al #4 A A U [E] 7 fE I BR 7K

the year as uncollectible

At 31st December R+-—A=+—H

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of each class of receivable
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.

31. PR R R E fth B W =K

(#])
) AEE 2z EWR R HAMEBGR 2 EETIA T
SR -
2008 2007
ZZT)\F —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEBT BEAT
183.7 241.9
258.4 658.4
1.7 77.9
443.8 978.2
) EUEFREREZESNT
2008 2007
ZZT)\F —TELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEETT
19.8 18.8
1.1 0.8
11 1.0
(1.5) -
7.2) 0.8)
13.3 19.8

@ RImEEHzESEERRA L

BREEW 2

FREE - AEBEYERTSBEFAERR -

BFRER (EZR) BRARA-ZEEN\FER
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32. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN

PROGRESS

Contract costs incurred plus
attributable profits recognised
less provision for foreseeable
losses

Progress payments received
and receivable

Representing:

Gross amounts due from customers
for contract works included in
trade and other receivables
(Note 31)

Gross amounts due to customers
for contract works included
in trade and other payables
(Note 39)

B KPR DN E HERR R A 4 )R
AEREERE

B R M E A R

RE

SRR TR N EL A R 2
W EFEHTIIRRIBRE
(Bf=E31)

FTAEM R R HAL Bz
FERNEEPA#H TIRZIA®RRE
(FI5E39)
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32. EEBIREN

Group
EE
2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BHEABTT BEAT
3,000.3 2,970.3
(2,904.0) (2,769.2)
96.3 201.1
140.9 237.5
(44.6) (36.4)
96.3 201.1




33. RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash represents:

Deposits placed with banks
— for securing banking facilities
granted to certain buyers of
properties of the Group

— for securing performance bonds

and guarantees in respect of
alternative energy projects
— for securing certain bank loans
Deposit placed with a bank
—in the court procedure of
preservation of property
— for issuing performance
guarantees to certain
third parties in respect
of a property project
Escrow accounts relate to
- the acquisition of a property
— the pre-sale deposits held for
a property resettlement
scheme

RBHBR L :

FRRERBITZHER
—RAKEET
MEBERER
RITRE
—ETEREERER
BEEHRE
KRR
—EUSE TRITER
TERUA —FRRTT 2 5K
—ERETHERST
R ERIEF
—BEMEEER
BTE=RET
[E#RE

AERESR
—WE-EE
——EYFEEEE

ZRETE

33. ZRFEE

Group Company
rEE VNG

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZTENF —EELF ZETN\F ZETHF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEET BEAT
6.9 4.4 - -
48.1 47.9 - -
292.2 565.4 - -
73.7 - - -
190.0 - - -
- 891.2 - 440.8
64.0 - - -
674.9 1,508.9 - 440.8

BFRER (EZR) BRARA-ZEEN\FER
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34. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents BeRESEEY

comprises the following: BREATEIE :
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHEES
Short-term bank deposits RHRITIER

Less: Restricted cash (Note 33) i : R %3RS (Fi:X33)
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4. BRERBEEEEY

Group Company
rEE AT

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENF ZETLF —ZEETN\F —ETLF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT BEAT BEAT
1,032.1 1,271.8 3.3 19.3
1,479.7 4,653.1 127.8 2,354.7
2,511.8 5,924.9 131.1 2,374.0
(674.9) (1,508.9) - (440.8)
1,836.9 4,416.0 131.1 1,933.2




34. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

4. RERBESEEW @)

Group Company
rEHE ¥iN/NE]!
2008 2007 2008 2007
—EEN\F —ETEF —EE)N\F —ETLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEATT BHEBTT BEBT
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RIBEEEY
(@) Placed in banks in the @ RPBEFERITFE:
PRC:
— denominated in —UARBEE
Renminbi 1,009.7 1,5612.9 - -
— denominated in —LAUBTLEE
Hong Kong Dollar 717.5 592.1 - -
— denominated in —AETHEE
US Dollar 20.1 - - -
(o) Placed in banks in (o) MEBZRITFE -
Hong Kong:
— denominated in —LAUBTLEE
Hong Kong Dollar 762.5 3,692.5 131.1 2,374.0
— denominated in —AETHEE
US Dollar 2.0 127.4 - -
2,511.8 5,924.9 131.1 2,374.0
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date REERB 2 BEBRFENT -
were as follows:
2008 2007
“EFTN\E e g2
HKS Us$ RMB HKS Us$ RMB
B = ARE B e AEE
Short-term bank deposits RERTTIE R 0.05%-2.05% 1.15% 0.36%-3.51% | 1.5%-3.9% 50%  0.7%-4.2%

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of the cash and bank balances
stated above.

The short-term bank deposits of the Group and the
Company have original maturities of three months or
less.

REERARREBRITERZRZIHA S =187 5N
e
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. ®A
Number of Ordinary
shares shares
e LA
Note (Million) HK$ Million
FI5E EB8) BEAT
Authorised EE
At 1st January 2007 R-EE+F—F—H 10,000.0 100.0
Increased on authorised shares SETFE R 10 @) 20,000.0 200.0
At 31st December 2007, R-_ZEZ+F+-_HA=+—8 -
1st January and —A—BRZZTNF
31st December 2008 +—-—HA=+—H 30,000.0 300.0
Issued and fully paid BRITREE
At 1st January 2007 R-ET+F—F—H 3,646.0 36.5
Shares placements F e AR5 (b) 4,301.4 43.0
Issue of scrip dividend LAREAR B 52 ©) 274.3 2.8
Repurchase during the year FERELE @ (8.9) 0.1)
Exercise of bonus warrants TIEATF R ©) 0.1 -
Exercise of share options GRed e (f) 2.2 -
At 31st December 2007 R-EE+F+-A=+—H 8,215.1 82.2
At 1st January 2008 H-EEN\F—H—H 8,2156.1 82.2
Issue of scrip dividend VARG, B 52 ©) 148.7 1.4
Repurchase during the year ERELE @ (113.8) (1.1)
Exercise of bonus warrants TIEATF R E ©) 0.3 -
Exercise of share options T RERR A (f) 4.5 -
At 31st December 2008 A—EBENE+-A=+—H 8,2564.8 82.5
Notes: BeE -
(@) By an ordinary resolution passed on 23rd November @ RIZETEF+—AZ+=ARBTEREER  #L

2007, the authorised share capital of the Company
increased to HK$300,000,000 by the creation of an
additional 20,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each,

ranking pari passu with the existing share capital of the

Company.
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#20,000,000,000/% FIXEIE0.01 8 T 2 BEINE D (%2
BPEARNRIRERAZ RS - #MEARQ RN
T IR 7R 11 Z=300,000,000/8 7T ©



35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(b)  During 2007, the Company entered into certain placing
agreements pursuant to which a total of 4,301,399,000
new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued

35. B ()
) —ZTLFR - ARRRITETEEmHR Bt - &3
4,301,399,000/% SR EEO.01E T 2 H L BREEITT
ETHIREERTIEZER - FRBTZAEZENK

to certain independent investors and substantial MPEKFEGEEHIRERNDZE RS -
shareholders. All these shares issued during the year
ranking pari passu in all respects with the then existing
shares.
Number of Issue price Gross
new ordinary per ordinary proceeds
Issue date shares issued share received
21T (s el o U ER TS
EITHE i EiREE BITE FIELERE
HK$ Million
BEET
12th February 2007 —EE+F-_R+=H 729,927,000 HK$1.377%8 7T 1,000.0
12th March 2007 —TE+F=A+=H 437,595,000 HK$1.3778 7T 599.5
23rd August 2007 —EEEFNAZ+=AR 450,000,000 HK$2.807% 7T 1,260.0
23rd October 2007 —EEHF+A-+=H 1,997,560,000 HK$2.057% 7t 4,095.0
23rd October 2007 —EE+F+HA-+=H 686,317,000 HK$2.2737% 7T 1,560.0
4,301,399,000 8,5614.5
(¢)  The Company offered to its shareholders a scrip dividend © ARFTMERFEZUARNKEEE - Bt - BRERART

alternative under which the shareholders could elect to

PR S B R HiEE B W E IR {E0.01/8 TT 2 & EAUIA

receive ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in lieu of cash REREKE - WEREZSHERITEER -
dividend during the following dividend declaration and
ordinary shares were issued under these schemes:
All shares issued in 2007 ranking pari passu in all RIEZEFRT 2 MERMES T ESHEERBEER
respects with the then existing shares. NEEREER -
Number of Issue price
new ordinary per ordinary
shares issued share  Issue date
BT SBRLTERZ
iiE=gtlie 8 BITE  BTRH
Interim dividend for the year ended HE-ZTZ+F+-_A=+—H HK$2.703  20th November 2007
31st December 2007 IFFEZHHRE 96,025,788 2703  ZEEtHFT—AZTH
Final dividend for the year ended HEZTTAF+ZA=1+—H HK$1.59  29th June 2007
31st December 2006 IFFEZRERKRE 178,229,608 1.59%7C —TELFRAZTNE

All shares issued in 2008 ranking pari passu in all
respects with the then existing shares.

Interim dividend for the year ended

31st December 2008 IFFEZPHEE

BE_ZT/\F+-A=t—H

274,255,396

ST N\ERTZ ARG ES S EERYERERD
THRSES -

Number of Issue price
new ordinary per ordinary
shares issued share Issue date
BET SRRk
g mkE s BB BITRHE
HK$0.347 3rd December 2008
03477 —TENEFE+=-A=H

148,692,266

BFRER (EZR) BRARA-ZEEN\FER
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
(d)  For the year ended 31st December 2007, the Company
repurchased a total of 8,858,000 of its own shares on
SEHK, all of which have been cancelled as follows:—

Month/year
A/
August 2007 —TTHENA

For the year ended 31st December 2008, the Company

repurchased a total of 113,785,000 of its own shares on
SEHK, all of which have been cancelled as follows:—

Month/year

A/ F

January 2008 —ZTN\F—A
March 2008 —ZENF=A
September 2008 —ETN\FNA

(e)  On 30th November 2007, the Company issued
821,279,383 warrants on the basis of one warrant for
every ten existing shares of the Company held by the
shareholders (“bonus warrants”). The holders of bonus
warrants are entitled to subscribe at any time during 30th
November 2007 to 30th November 2009 for fully paid
shares at a subscription price HK$2.05 per share (subject
to adjustment). During 2007, 111,173 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the exercise
of 111,173 units of bonus warrants.

For the year ended 31st December 2008, 302,245 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the
exercise of 302,245 units of bonus warrants. As at 31st
December 2008, 820,865,965 units of bonus warrants
remained outstanding.
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35. BA @)
@ BE-PBLFT-A=+—BILFE ARARHR
R & #0805 0008 - S ST DO
EES - BT

Purchase price
per share

SRBNEEE

Number of Total
shares purchase price Highest Lowest
repurchased HK$ Million HK$ HK$
HERRHEE HEEE 55 &K
BEBT BT BT
8,858,000 14.2 1.61 1.59

HEZZZN\F+_A=+—BILFE - FRARER
FRiE R E A S & $£113,785,0000 % 7 - 2FZFRHE

WEEEH - FFIBIT
Purchase price
per share
BRBRNEEE
Number of Total
shares purchase price Highest Lowest
repurchased HK$ Million HK$ HK$
FEER SR BEEE 8] 54/
BEAT BT BT
61,266,000 104.9 1.87 1.52
51,932,000 81.1 1.67 1.20
587,000 0.4 0.73 0.72
113,785,000 186.4

e RIZEZEF+—A=+H ARAREBRREFHE10
BERGJEFDRRER 2 &% - ¥£77821,279,383
D RIEE ([AIFREE D) - AFRIRIEFREAR
BER T+ E+—A=F+HE_ZTNF+—A=+
El,HHF'EJEﬂHqF'EJLAWEﬁ S AR 1D2.05/8 7T (7] %)
REBHRKD - —TTEF - 111,173 EREAE0.01E
mzﬁﬂﬁ EHXEE’VT@*JH 173D AT RICAE BB BT o

HEZZTTENF+= H +—HIEFE - 302,245 &
AR E{E0.01 78 T 2 3 i B AR 7 302,245 17 41 7| 7R AR A 75
EITEERT RZZEENF+-_A=+—8 ¥HAE
820,865,96510 4L MR RR HERE I ARTTIE ©



35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(

35. BRA< (&)

Share options are granted to employees, senior H ARBEAEERENIMAKEARKIREETEZES -
executive or officer, manager, director or consultant of SRITHAEHTEALS « K18 SELEHEREER
any members of the Group or any Invested Entity. 1o
The exercise price must be at least the higher of TEEESLAUTERE
()  the closing price of the shares as stated in the () ROREEBREBRAERARERMIWHE
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant;
(i)  the average closing prices of the shares as stated iy MEHOBERNRHASTAELEBEBIMEHER
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for BRAYIFHUHE : &
the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and
(i) the nominal value of a share. (i) FRDEME -
An option must be exercised within 10 years from the TERREANIZ T B IR 10F sk E B G ] LR X T
date on which it is granted or such shorter period as the Az BEHRARNTE - RERLE CERENBIRZA
Board may specify at the time of grant. An offer of the HRRBAT HEE X R IR NEE RN - BEMREAZ
grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance for a BITRAE ©
period of 10 business days from the date of offer and a
consideration of HK$1 must be paid upon acceptance.
Movements in the number of share options outstanding WMATEZERESE RE@EMNEFHITEEEH M
and their related weighted average exercise prices are as T
follows:
2008 2007
= AN S ZETF
Average Average
exercise price exercise price
in HK dollar in HK dollar
per share Options per share Options
RFH BRI
BITITEE RNk E BITITEE fENRE
At 1st January Rn—H—H 1.553 165,700,000 1.420 138,900,000
Granted B 1.656 214,900,000 2179 29,000,000
Exercised [mESRES 1.420 (4,500,000) 1.420 (2,200,000)
Lapsed B 1.732 (55,200,000) - -
At 31st December W+—-—A=+—H 1.593 320,900,000 1.553 165,700,000
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

Mr. CHENG Sum Hing, Sam, Mr. NG Chi Man,
Michael, Mr. CHEN Libo, Mr. CHAU Wing Hing
and Mr. SHI Jihua resigned as executive directors
of the Company with effect from 29th June 2007,
15th June 2008, 30th September 2008, 9th
October 2008 and 9th October 2008 respectively.
Details of the outstanding share options held by
them during the year ended 31st December 2008
were accounted and described under the heading
“Employees and other participants”. Such details
were previously accounted and described under the
name of the respective Directors in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31st December
2007 and interim report for the six months ended
30th June 2008.

The closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the options granted on 1st
February 2008 was HK$1.63.

The weighted average closing price of the shares of
the Company immediately before the date on which
the share options were exercised was HK$2.18.

The weighted average closing price of the shares
of the Company immediately before the dates
on which the share options were exercised was
HK$1.757.
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35. B4 (&)
Share options outstanding at the end of year have the RELRE M AR TE BRI 2 FHAGN T -
following terms:

Number of options

FERRESE
Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price 2008 2007
A Ef TR A TE(E —EENF —ETAF
HK$
BT
15th December 2006 15th December 2007 to 1.420 28,025,000 35,625,000
—EEXRF+-_A+HH 14th December 2016
—ZTTEF+-A+HEE
—E—R"Ft+ZA+mA
15th December 2006 15th December 2008 to 1.420 50,225,000 60,325,000
ZETRFT-ATAA 14th December 2016
—ZET)\F+-_A+HBEE
T R"FT+ZA+mA
15th December 2006 15th December 2009 to 1.420 34,750,000 40,750,000
—ETXRFE+-_A+HAH 14th December 2016
“FENFF+_ATHRHEZRE
—E-R"F+ZA+HA
7th June 2007 7th June 2008 to 1.948 - 3,330,000
—EELFRALR 6th June 2017
—TT)N\FAALRE
—E—tF,XAXAH
7th June 2007 7th June 2009 to 1.948 - 3,330,000
—ZTT+FNAEAR 6th June 2017
—ZETNFARALAE
—ZE—+FRARAE
7th June 2007 7th June 2010 to 1.948 - 3,340,000
—ZETLFNAEAR 6th June 2017
—ZT-TFRAERE
—T—tFRNANHA
3rd July 2007 15th December 2007 to 2.300 5,000,000 5,000,000
—EELFLH=A 2nd July 2017
“FELFF+ A TRHHEZRE
—T—+tFtA=H
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35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35. AN ()
RELE M RITRMBEZ F T - (D)

Share options outstanding at the end of year have the
following terms: (continued)

Date of grant Exercise period
FH B FT{REAR
3rd July 2007 15th December 2008 to
—TT+F+A=H 2nd July 2017
T N\F+ZAt+HAZE
—Z—+F+HZH
3rd July 2007 15th December 2009 to
—ET+FEA=H 2nd July 2017
ZEThF+-ATRAZE
—T—+FtHAZH
3rd July 2007 3rd July 2008 to
—EZHFLA=H 2nd July 2017
—Z2EN\FLA=HZE
—ZE—+F+HAH
3rd July 2007 3rd July 2009 to
—EELFLA=A 2nd July 2017
—ETNFLA=HZE
—E—+F+HZH
3rd July 2007 3rd July 2010 to
—ZTT+F+A=H 2nd July 2017
—E-ZFLA=HZ
—Z—+F+HZH
1st February 2008 1st February 2009 to
—ET)\F=-A—H 31st January 2018

—ZETNFA—HZE
—T-N\F—HA=+—H

1st February 2008 1st February 2010 to
—ETZ)N\F=A—H 31st January 2018
—2-ZF_A—-HZE

—T-N\F—-A=+—H
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Exercise price
1IEfE

HK$S

BT

2.300

2.300

2.300

2.300

2.300

1.656

1.656

Number of options

BhEsa

2008

“RENF

2,500,000

2,500,000

39,580,000

59,370,000

2,500,000

2,500,000

1,800,000

2,700,000

4,500,000



35. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35. AN ()

Share options outstanding at the end of year have the
following terms: (continued)

Date of grant Exercise period

$H B 171 A

1st February 2008 1st February 2011 to
—ZTT)\F=-A—H 31st January 2018

—T——FZA—HZE
2 \F—-A=+—H

At 31st December R+-—A=+—H

Using the Binomial Valuation model, the fair value of
214,900,000 share options granted on 1st February
2008 was HK$112.1 million for the year under review.
The significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$1.64 at the grant date, exercise price of HK$1.656,
volatility of 56.0%, dividend yield of 6.3%, an expected
option life of 10 years and risk-free interest rate of 2.6%.
The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
continuously compounded share returns is based on
statistical analysis of weekly share prices over the last 12
months. The vesting period is between 1st February 2008
to 31st January 2011. The value of the share options
is subject to a number of assumptions and with regard
to the limitation of model. Therefore, the value may be
subjective and difficult to determine. The assumptions
of calculation of fair value of HK$56.6 million granted
on 15th December 2006 were described in Note 11 (c)
of the annual financial statements for year ended 31st
December 2006. The assumptions of calculation of fair
value of HK$19.7 million of share options granted on 7th
June 2007 and 3rd July 2007 were described in Note 10
(c) of the annual financial statements for the year ended
31st December 2007.

RS M RITIEERE FHMT « (B)

Number of options

ek iR

Exercise price 2008 2007
TE(E —EENF ZZTEF

HKS$

T
1.656 98,950,000 -
320,900,000 165,700,000
EA_BAAGEREFE RZZZENF-_A—H

I 2 214,900,000 R EREBEFAN 2 QA FER
112,100,000/ T » B AZIER M E XS EUAR R L B 5
ZPRRE1.6487T ~ 1T{E(E1.656/8 7T * H1E56.0% - %8
£6.3% -« FBREBEHFI10F - TIRERKRT K262
FTE o UEERARMESRE 2 IZEREFE R
BEBE+—ERAZTEARBRTHITE - BEHA
—EEN\F-_A-—AE-_ZET——F—A=-+—H - - BR
EZEBERIZERE M EERXBEHATZE - Al

HEBAAERTIERHEUNETE - st ER TR F+=
B+ R B#EEZEREZ N F(E56,600,00078 TTEFFTIE
BRECHINHEE_ZERNF+_A=Z+—HLFEZ
FEMBEHREMTI10C) - FATERZZTZTLFAEEK
—EEHFHAZ AR ZEREZ AF(E19,700,000
B EBRSEHARNEBEE ST +tE+ A=+ —
HIEFE 2 FEHEHREME10(C) °
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36. RESERVES

Group

Balance at 1st January 2007

Fair valug gain on avalable:for-sale
financil assets

Exchange oifferences

Release of reserves upon disposal of
associated companies

Employee share option bengfits

Issug of shares

Issue of scrip dlvidend

Exercise of bonus warrants

Exercise of share options

Share issue expenses

2006 final dividend

2007 interim dlvicend

Repurchase of shares

Released on further acquisttion of
aslbsidary

Reclassffcation of captal
reduction reserve

Proft for the year

Balance at 31st December 2007

Retained by:

Company and subsidiaries
Associated companies
Jointly controlled enttes

Representing:
Reserves at 315t December 2007
2007 proposed final and special dvicend

36. f#E

£E
Capial Capitl Employee Avalable-
Share  reducton  redemption share-based for-sale
premium fesene T6SeVe Capital  compensafion ~ Exchange  investments Retained
(Notea) (Note b) (Notea) resenve reserve Tesenve reserve eamings Totdl
Rir4E HiEe  ARERE WRBRH e
(Hita) k) (ita) ErER  EEMIRR ik RERE REEH a5
HKSMilon — HKSMilon — HKSMilon — HKSMllon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKS Milon
EEGp BgEn BEET BEAL BBET BgET BERT ELGp BgET
RIBECE-F-DER 13663 7841 146 1613 92 572 15 14827 38069
it ESRAR, ATENE
- - - - - - 02 - 02
EjizE - - - - - 4286 - - 4286
HERENTR
BhER - - - - - %62 - - 3.2
EEERER - - - - %7 - - - %7
Bkt 84715 - - - - - - - 84715
PUEHE ! 5402 - - - - - - _ 509
R AER 02 - - - - - - - 02
fikERE 31 - - - - - - - 31
iR (53] - - - - - - - (53]
“ITERERE - - - - - - - (0888) 2888
“ERCERERE - - - - - - - (5433) (5433)
Bl (f41) - - - - - - - (141)
RE-SUEHBATRER
- - - 89) - - - - 89)
hntlRtEENAE
- (1900) - - - - - 1900 -
KERRH - - - - - - - 8346 8346
e i o e 103119 5041 146 1474 459 5220 17 1612 133128
TiiRE:
FLAARMEAR 103119 5941 146 174 459 4687 17 15647 131390
BENR - - - - - 46 - 103 1149
2807 - - - - - 87 - 02 589
103119 5941 146 174 459 5220 17 16102 133128
&
RoETtETA=T-RrfE 13,0291
“IRCERERAREIRS 2837
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Group

Balance at 1st January 2008

Fair value loss on avaiale-for-sale
financial assets

Exchange differences

Employee share option bengfits

Issue of scrip dvidend

Exercise of bonus warrants

Exercise of share options

2007 final vidend

2008 interim dlvicend

Repurchase of shares

Loss for the year

Balance at 31st December 2008

Retained by:

Company and subsidiaries
Assoicated companies
Jointly controlled entiies

Representing:
Resenves at 31t December 2008

36. RESERVES (continued)

R-FEINE-A-RER
THHEeRAR A TRER

EizE
ERRNERT
HERE5HE
fHREE
fifehE
“IRLERERS
“IR\EHHRS
el
TERER

HNoEENETZA=T-Res

WoBENET-A-T-R Bk

36. i (#)

£H
Captal Capitl Employes Avalble- Retained
Share  reducton  redemption share-based for-sale gamings/
premium fesene eee Capital  compensation ~ Exchange  investments  (accumulated
(Note g) (Note ) (Note) T8SE1Ve 1BSENe resene ST losses) Total
RAEE  BEHAEE  ASEERE IR THEE  REE)/
(Hta) (W) (Hita) AnBE  EEMRER Bk HERE  (ZHER) ]
HKSMllon — HKSMion — HKSMilon — HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKSMilon  HKS Milon
RERT RERT BERT BEET RERT BEET BEET BB RERT
103119 5941 146 1474 459 5220 17 16752 133128
- - - - 67) - (7)
- - - - 5628 - - 5628
- - - 69.0 - - 69.0
504 - - - - - 501
06 - - - - - 06
64 - - - - - 64
- - - - - (2837 (2837 )
N - - - - (1216) (121.6)
(1853) - - - - - (1653)
- - - - - [0o60)  28460)
10,1837 5941 146 1474 1149 1,0848 70) (1,3761) 10,7564
10,1837 5941 148 1474 1149 65 [o)  (3170) 106712
- - - - 181 - 19 400
- - - - 1202 - (10) %2
10,1837 5941 148 1474 1149 10848 [o)  (3161) 107564

10,7564
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36. RESERVES (continued) 36. A (@)

Company |
Employee
share-based
Share  compensation Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
VAR 2 54
BihaE (EEMEEE RE T e
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEET BEET BEBT
Balance at 1st January 2007 RZZTZ+F—-H—R&H# 1,366.3 1.5 878.2 2,246.0
Employee share option benefits B8 E%Hﬂzgﬁﬂ - 36.7 - 36.7
Issue of shares BITRG 8,471.5 - - 8,471.5
Issue of scrip dividend LARR AR B ETE] 540.2 - - 540.2
Exercise of bonus warrants AL R 75 0.2 - - 0.2
Exercise of share options ITE B 3.1 _ _ 3.1
Share issue expenses 17Hx1 Y EH (65.3) - - (65.3)
2006 final dividend “ETREREKRE - - (288.8) (288.8)
2007 interim dividend ZETLFAH ,Hﬁﬂx,u - - (543.3) (543.3)
Repurchase of shares BERG, (14.1) - - (14.1)
Profit for the year REERF - - 288.5 288.5
Balance at 31st December RZZTT+F
2007 +-A=+—B&% 10,311.9 38.2 334.6 10,684.7
Representing: RE:
Reserves at 31st December RZET+F
2007 +TZA=t—RAZEE 10,401.0
2007 proposed final and —ETCFRIRAE
special dividend MEERIRZ B 283.7

10,684.7
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36. RESERVES (continued)

Company

Balance at 1st January 2008 RZZZNF—H—R#&#H

e B R R ER

Employee share option benefits

Issue of scrip dividend AR B ETE
Exercise of bonus warrants TR AT R AR HE 2T
Exercise of share options TTERE AR A
2007 final dividend ZETEFERERE
2008 interim dividend ZET ) N\FHERE
Repurchase of shares EAEl)
Loss for the year KEEEE
Balance at 31st December RIZEENEFE

2008 TZA=T—H#&#%
Representing: K&
Reserves at 31st December N BT N\F

2008 +ZA=+—HZHE
Notes:

(@ The applications of the share premium account and
capital redemption reserve account are governed by
section 48B and 49H of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance respectively.

On 30th September 2005, by virtue of special resolutions
of the Company with the sanction of an order of the High
Court of the Hong Kong SAR, the nominal value of all the
issued and paid up capital was reduced from HK$1.00 to
HK$0.01 each, therby reducing the issued and paid up
capital of the Company b HK$2,305.1 million and such
amount was transferred to the Capital Reduction Reserve
Account.

(b) Last year, based on recommendations from Access
Capital Limited, financial adviser, the directors and
senior management had reviewed and assessed the
Capital Reduction Reserve Account with reference to
the outstanding amounts of creditors brought forward
from the date of sanction of the reduction of capital.
An amount of HK$190.0 million was considered to be
available for distribution as at 31st December 2007.
Accordingly, the amount was reclassified from capital
reduction reserve to retained earnings and available for
distribution.

In 2008, no amount was reclassified from capital
reduction reserve to retained earnings and available for
distribution.

36. f#iE (@)

AE]

Employee Retained

share-based earnings/

Share compensation (Accumulated
premium reserve losses) Total

R ER  REBEF
BRRE EEMeRHE (RFEHR) HEE
HK$ Million HKS$ Million HKS$ Million HKS$ Million
BEBT BEBT BEET BEET
10,311.9 38.2 334.6 10,684.7
- 69.0 - 69.0
50.1 - - 50.1
0.6 - - 0.6
6.4 - - 6.4
- - (283.7) (283.7)
- - (121.6) (121.6)
(185.3) - - (185.3)
- - (809.0) (809.0)
10,183.7 107.2 (879.7) 9,411.2
__ 9412

F5E

OEERMEABEOFEBR ZAEENNIZEER
16D 48B R 4OHIGFTE 5 o

o)

R-ZERAFAA=ZTH  RECESFRSSARE
SHEZRRRFRRER - IBERITRAREAZ
HEHEBEK1.008TTRE0.01EIT » Bt - ARFAIEE
17 R 8 R B AR, 1 2,305,100,0008 7T © BRI BEEREE
BRI R R -

?ﬁjE%W%EEFﬂilﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁE@ﬂf&ﬂjzgsﬁ P E
EREREEEKNEL2EG RN EBBREE Y
1%$¥Aﬂi1%‘z§¥klﬁ C BRI R AHERABIRFEER o K=

T+F+=ZA=+—8 " 2%%190,000,0005%%%%%
Tfﬁ“/ﬁe Hit - BRSHEARANYR#EREEF S
FEARBEF AL ﬁ’\/ﬂi o

R-ZT)N\F - UESHEABRANERREERENOEE
RE BN S A HDIK o
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37. BORROWINGS - GROUP

Non-current JETEN

Bank borrowings RITER

Other loans, unsecured HMER - EmEHR
Finance lease liabilities mEREaE
Loans from minority shareholders VEREER
Current E

Bank borrowings RITER

Other loans, unsecured EAEK - A
Finance lease liabilities BEHEAaEG
Total borrowings fEmEaE

Bank borrowings are secured by the investment
properties, prepaid land lease payments, properties,
plant and equipment, properties under development, toll
fee income, intangible assets, corporate guarantee and
pledged deposits of the Group (Notes 17, 18, 19, 20,
21 and 33).
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37. ER—&KH

Note
Fo5E

ONC

2008 2007
—BENF —TTLF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEBTT BEBTT
2,613.2 2,260.1

107.3 119.6

91.5 -

385.1 79.0

3,197.1 2,458.7
316.4 312.4
73.1 18.1
9.5 -
399.0 330.5
3,596.1 2,789.2

RITBEFAAREZREYE AN LHEER D
X MBEREE - BETYE  RELREA - B
BE - REERMERERERIR(HE17 21819

20~ 21}%33) °



37. BORROWINGS - GROUP (continued) 37. R — KB @)
(@ The maturity of bank borrowings and other loans as @ WITEFREMEFR=_ZEZNF+=_A=+—
at 31st December 2008 is as follows: HiE 2 BERAT
Secured Unsecured Unsecured
bank loans bank loans other loans Total
E}W ﬁ?ﬁﬁ BER
BhER BTER EfER 4%
2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
CERNE | CESE |ZEENE | ERLE |CEENF | CERE | ERNE | IERF
HkSMiion | HKSMiion | HKS Miion | HKS Miion | HKS Miion | HKS Miion | HKS Miion | HKS Milion
BEEL | A% | BE#n | BEEn | BZEn | REEn | BEEn| EEEn
Within one year R 316.4 280.2 - 322 731 18.1 3895 330.6
Inthe second year g2F 2055 1676 - - 191 181 2046 18.7
In the third to fifth year $-F3ETE 946.9 809.0 - - 575 544 1,0044 863.4
After the fifth year i 1,3908 12835 - - 30.7 471 14215 1,3306
29296 2,540.3 - 32.2 1804 1377 3,110.0 2,10.2
The carrying amounts of the borrowings B REAEEE N TERS
approximate their fair value.
(b) At 31st December 2008, the Group has finance b) RZZEENF+ZA=+—H0 mEEREH
lease liabilities (2007: Nil) as follows: EBE(ZETEE )T
2008
—EENF
HK$ Million
BEAT
Gross finance lease liabilities METHEREERE —SEKBEERE
— minimum lease payments
Within one year —FR 9.7
In the second year E_F 10.0
In the third to fifth year E=FZERF 31.7
After the fifth year £¢1§ 90.3
141.7
Future finance charges on finance leases MEHEZ AKBEERH (40.7)
Present value of finance lease liabilites FiFHESEABEZRE 101.0
The present value of finance lease BEHEAGBIRENT
liabilities is as follows:
Within one year —FR 9.5
In the second year FE_F 9.2
In the third to fifth year E=FZERF 26.3
After the fifth year AF& 56.0
101.0
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37. BORROWINGS - GROUP (continued)

(©)

The loans from minority shareholders are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet
date were as follows:

BITER
EER

Bank borrowings
Other loans

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are
denominated in the following currencies:

37. AR —KEH @)

(© BAIBBRZERSEER %5 REREEER

Hi o

(d) PEERZERMENT

2008
“TE\F

HK$ RMB

BT N

4.0% 5.94%-8.61%

- 2.82%-24.0%

HK$
B

5.11%-6.29%

2007

“EEtE

RMB
N

5.27%-7.83%
2.82%-5.0%

@

)

B BREEIR OIS HEHE

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

The Group has the following

undrawn borrowing facilities:

Floating rate
— expiring within one year

2008 2007
—ETNF —ETHF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
AEBTT BHEET
BT 138.8 142.0
AR 3,457.3 2,647.2
3,596.1 2,789.2
KEBEE THIAREHA
EREER:
SFEFIE
R—F R EIE] 339.7 225.2
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38. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES

The major deferred income tax liabilities recognised and

movements are as follows:

At 1st January 2007

Exchange differences

Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 42)
Charged to income statement (Note 13)
Impact of new CIT Law (Note 13)

At 31st December 2007

At 1st January 2008

Exchange differences

Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 42)

Credited to income statement (Note 13)

At 31st December 2008

RZEZ+F—-H—H

R a

A ENSIEETY)

REREME (E13)

MEEMERECZE
(Ezak)

RZEZ+F+-A=1—H
RZETN\F—A—H
EREEE
L= EZY)
FTABER(HE13)

RZEZNE+-A=1—H

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses

38. ELEFSBIARE

BRI IBREMEHABREZSNT

Group
P2
Fair value Fair value
adjustments on adjustments on
investment prepaid land
properties lease payments Total
REME ARt EER
NEHE ATEHE it
HK$ Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEBT BEAT
18.3 - 18.3
26.3 13.0 39.3
- 2818 281.8
84.5 - 84.5
76 - 7.6
136.7 294.8 431.5
136.7 294.8 431.5
24.6 24.6 49.2
- 408.7 408.7
(99.8) (12.7) (112.5)
61.5 715.4 776.9

HEREEBRRERB RS AR T AN D E

carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefits through the future taxable profits are
probable. The Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of HK$193.2 million (2007: HK$128.0 million)
in respect of tax losses of HK$1,006.5 million (2007:
HK$734.0 million) to carry forward against future taxable
income. These tax losses have no expiry dates except
for the tax losses of HK$318.5 million (2007: HK$20.8
million) which will expire at various dates up to and
including 2013 (2007: 2012).

B AgRAECHEBERRELCHEELEE - K
& B 3 4 Bt 77 1E E5 48 1,006,500,0008 T ( Z 2 ZT +
F : 734,000,000 70 ) MEREEMEHIEELE
193,200,000/ 7T (ZZFZ+4F : 128,000,000 7T ) A 1E
s ALARIE AR BRI « R EHIEE B &
HAR - 318,500,000/ (= ZFZ L4 : 20,800,000/
T ZBEEEFEREE T —=F(ZTTtF: = F
—ZF) IERE A EEE -
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39. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables FETBR IR
Retention payables FEHRE 3R EE

Other payables and accruals
Gross amounts due to

customers for contract
works (Note 32)

Hub R BT E R
[ENEPAY TR
4a=E (BMI5E32)

At 31st December 2008, retention payables for
contracts in progress amounting to HK$35.7
million (2007: HK$84.6 million) were included in
non-current payables and current other payables,
depending on their expected date of payment.

The ageing analysis of trade payables at year end
was as follows:

0 to less than 2 months ZEPR2fE A
2 to less than 6 months 2E L R6ME A
6 to less than 12 months 6ZE HM21E A
12 months and more BiE121E A
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39. BRRA R E LR K

Group Company
rEE AT

2008 2007 2008 2007
ZEENF ZETF ZEENF —ETLF
HKS$ Million HKS$ Million HK$ Million HKS$ Million
BEET BEET BEBT BEBT
55.6 89.4 - -
30.4 27.5 - -
1,024.0 567.3 741 3.1
44.6 36.4 - -
1,154.6 720.6 74.1 3.1

@ RIZEZN\F+_A=+—H HEEIREY
2 FERTIR B 30 5835,700,0008 L ( Z 2T F ¢
84,600,000/ 7T ) B 5 AR FIREA KA - 5 =IE
TRENFET R R H MR B FETEK o

b) MFEHR - BRI ZERONAT -

Group

AEE
2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
10.3 24.9
0.6 7.2
5.1 6.7
39.6 50.6
55.6 89.4




39. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and
other payables are denominated in the following
currencies:

BT
ARE

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

(c) Included in non-current payables is a financial
liability at fair value through profit or loss being
entered into during the year. A change in fair value
amounting HK$88.3 million has been reflected as
part of the impairment losses on prepaid land lease
payments. As of 31st December 2008, the net
carrying amount is HK$237.9 million (2007: Nil).

40. COMMITMENTS
(@) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but
not yet incurred is as follows:

39. BIRRA R E ALY (80

AEBERNERREGEN R ZEEERZRATE

Y
2008 2007
—TE/\F e
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEHET BEBT
172.8 258.1
981.8 462.5
1,154.6 720.6

€ FTANERBENZZESEAERFRILZEATF
EEBEaRIEzemEaE - B &kBE88,300,000

B AFERZE - (EREN LT

BB ER

Brz—HD RZTEEN\F+_A=+—H"
A FE 5237,900,0008 0( — T4 1 &) o

40. EiE
(a) EXEE

REEAEABERREE 2 BRI

Group
PN S
2008 2007
ZEENF e
HKS Million HKS$ Million
BEAT BEAT
(i) Capital commitments () FTEBZELEE
undertaken by the Group
(@) Property, plant and equipment @M% - s RRE
— Contracted but not provided for — BRTAVEREE 752.3 186.6
(o) Property development projects (o) EFEIE B
— Contracted but not provided for — BETRERERE 382.7 631.9
(c) Capital contribution to joint venture C)REREREEEBTE
projects in alternative energy
— Contracted but not provided for — BRTAVEREE 243.0 -
1,378.0 818.5
(i) Capital commitments undertaken (i) A& RFZEX
by the jointly controlled entities TRIE
Property development projects VISR IE B
Contracted but not provided BRI ERSAEER
for the Group’s share FE(EZR (D VERE S 74.2 28.3
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40. COMMITMENTS (continued)
(b) Commitments under operating leases
The aggregate future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect
of land and buildings are as follows:

No later than 1 year —FR

Later than 1 year and —FERF
no later than 5 years

Later than 5 years HBBRAF

(c) Future minimum rental receivable
The future aggregate minimum rental receivable
under non-cancellable operating leases are as

follows:

No later than 1 year —FR

Later than 1 year and —FERF
no later than 5 years

Later than 5 years jiizp o Rakaa

The Group leases out investment properties
under operating leases. The lease runs for an
initial period of one to ten years, with an option to
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated.
Lease payments are usually increased annually to
reflect market rentals. None of these leases include
contingent rentals.
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40. AE-£BE @)
(b) REBLKEHE Z&KE
BEAEL M RETY FAHNELEE YRR

RERSABIT
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETLEF
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEATT BEAT
1.2 3.1
32,5 1.4
58.2 -
101.9 4.5

() ARZEEWHAE
RETAREEEEEZ RARRER KBS EE
W

2008 2007
—EEN\F TEBELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

BEET BEBIT

93.4 53.3

180.5 34.5

31.7 5.9

305.6 93.7

AEBERBELEHOBREMELE - BONE
AP-—E=+F YHEAREEBEAIHARESR
ERARROAENRRE He—REBFL
AARBRTISEE - BOL A eFEAEE



41.

42.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES - GROUP

The Group’s investment property located in Shenzhen,
the PRC is subject to housing facility fund pursuant
to ORI E R & EEE WX E E 5 5]) adopted on
1st November 1994. Contingent liabilities of RMB75.8
million (equivalent to approximately HK$86.0 million)
(81st December 2007: RMB75.8 million (equivalent to
approximately to HK$81.3 million)) arising in this respect
have been assessed by management with reference to
a legal opinion. Management has requested relief from
the relevant local government authorities on the grounds
that certain amounts of maintenance costs were
already spent for the purposes as specified under the
requirement of housing facility fund, hence no further
provision for the fund is considered necessary.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

()  On 4th March 2008, the Group completed to
acquire 74.99% equity interest in HKE, a company
listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, at a cash consideration
(including the professional fees) of HK$413.4
million. HKE is currently engaged in the businesses
of alternative energy and software development.

The acquired business did not significantly
contribute to the Group’s revenue and profit for
both the period from the date of completion to
31st December 2008 and the year if the acquisition
had occurred on 1st January 2008, except for
the amount of HK$42.0 million (the Group’s share
amounted to HK$31.5 million) represented by the
write off of goodwiill.

Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

Purchase consideration — cash paid
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below)

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary,
recognised as intangible assets

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of net assets acquired reflected the normal
premium paid for such listed entity at the then
market situation.

41.

42.

ZREE-KE
BRER—NNAMNF+—A—BEA{ ORI ERRE
EREMEEREL) AEBRFRRY 2 —EHEED
(¥XRREEL AR EEAES - CREEBEESEAE
ERBFERLELA 2 A B E A ARKET5,800,0007T
(#)/H& 7286,000,0008 L) ( ZEZ+tF+ A =1+—
B : AR® 75,800,000t (448 & 7 81,300,000 /&
L)) c BREREBEEEARRMEEAESHTERMIET
BN ETFREAASE  EREC EBE BT
WERNERER  AERABAEHESEE — P&
1 o

EBast

() RZBEENFZANA  AEEZHKKERSE
BHASSHARATER M ZEETEER
27499%KHE - BReRE(PRRBEEXEER) A
413,400,000/ 7T - EEHMELIR B BB REEIR
MR 5 -

B 42,000,000 & 7T 2 KA (A & @ E 5 &
31,500,00078 7T ) PAM S P B RS - BRERZ TR
BER-_ZTN\F—A—BET FMREBERYL
BERAEBA K KBERE ST N\F+_A
=t AHRRAFE Z Wam MafHERENE

PriBEEFEZFFIRIT -

HK$ Million

BEBT

WERE-ENRE (413.4)

B EERMEC A FE (RTX) 294.9
WE—RNBARELEZEE

EHRARETLEE (118.5)

WERABHAMEBEERA T FEZ BRI
ERTARZ EMERS N —HR(E
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are

42, ¥ E6t@)
WiEELE  BERBENT -

as follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying

amount Fair value
WU ST 2 BREE NS
HKS$ Million HKS$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Property, plant and equipment Y% - HEs ki 1.3 1.3
Intangible assets B EE 29.8 29.8
Other receivables H iUk 1.8 1.8
Goodwill [EES 42.0 42.0
Cash and cash equivalents WERIIRESEEY 338.2 338.2
Trade payables FETERIR (4.2) (4.2)
Bank borrowings RITIER (7.0) (7.0)
Deferred tax liabilities FRERIBEE (7.2) (7.2)
Income tax liabilities FisiasE (1.4) (1.4)
393.3 393.3
74.99% of net assets acquired FrUs B874.090% & & #E 294.9
Purchase consideration — cash paid WERE-BNBEE (413.4)

Cash and cash equivalents FrusBEp B A el 23R &
in subsidiary acquired MIREEEY 338.2
Net cash outflow on acquisition IhE 2 30 & i F5E (75.2)

(i

On 26th May 2008, the Group completed to
acquire an aggregate 60% equity interest in
Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate Development
Limited (“Shanghai Guangtian”) and certain
shareholders’ loans at an aggregate cash
consideration of approximately RMB1.5 billion
(equivalent to approximately HK$1.7 billion).
Shanghai Guangtian is a property company
engaged in developing a parcel of land located at
No. 4 Sichuan North Road of Hongkou District of
Shanghai Municipality.

The acquired business did not significantly
contribute to the Group’s revenue and profit for
both the period from the date of completion to
31st December 2008 and the year if the acquisition
had occurred on 1st January 2008.
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(i)

RZZBZNFAAZ+RE  AEETKKE L
BEAEMERBEERAR (I LEER]) & H
B0%ERETHRER  BREEREBHARK
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 42, £S5t @)

Details of net assets acquired are as follows: T EEFE BT
HK$ Million
BEBT
Purchase consideration — cash paid WERE-—PNIRE (1,694.9)
Less: Consideration for shareholders’ W B ERRERRE
loans assigned 1,078.7
616.2)
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below) i EEFE s AFE (RT3 505.6
Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, WE—RMBAREEZEE -
recognised as intangible assets EERARLEE (110.6)
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value WEER A BT IEE EA T FEZ B RMIZERT
of net assets acquired reflected the normal premium MBRZMEBR AR 2 —Bn(E -
paid for such property development company at the
then market situation.
The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisition are WEEEZEERBRBNOT :
as follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying
amount Fair value
WU g 2 BRE{E NE
HKS Million HK$ Million
BEAT BEAT
Property, plant and equipment s - MBS R R 1.1 1.1
Prepaid land lease payments FEfT L FHE R 1,230.8 2,836.8
Other receivables H b B R 0.4 0.4
Cash and cash equivalents He RINSEEY 111.6 111.6
Other payables HihER TR (1.0) (1.0)
Shareholder’s loan RERER (1,078.7) (1,078.7)
Other loans HA B (625.9) (625.9)
Deferred tax liabilities BELEHIBAEE - (401.5)
(361.7) 842.8
60.0% of net assets acquired FTUBE60.0% & E/FE 505.6
Purchase consideration — cash paid WERE-—E2MRE (1,694.9)
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired ~ FrUiEEMIB AR v RS RIBS%EY 111.6
Net cash outflow on acquisition Wig 2 IR m it FEE (1,583.3)
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(i) On 11th April 2008, the Group completed to
acquire 100% equity share in Clear Concept
Holdings Limited which holds an effective interest
of 70.65% of Chongqging Huangiu Petrochemical
Company Limited (“Chongqging Huangiu”). The
aggregate cash consideration was RMB163.4
million (equivalent to approximately HK$180.8
million). Chongaging Huangiu is currently engaged in
the manufacture, production and sale of industrial
ethanol.

The acquired business did not significantly
contribute to the Group’s revenue and profit for
both the period from the date of completion to
31st December 2008 and the year if the acquisition
had occurred on 1st January 2008.

Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

Purchase consideration — cash paid
Fair value of net assets acquired (see below)

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary,
recognised as intangible assets

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of net assets acquired reflected the premium
paid for the prospects for fuel ethanol in the
Mainland China.
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42, EXEH @)

(i)

WERE-SNRE
FriiE B EFME 2 RFE(R T

R-ZEENFNA+—B  AEEZKKWERSE
EERHACBRETAR(ERERE])70.65%
BERES ZHEIIZERER A R100%ERBMD -
B REHARE163,400,0007C (HHEE R
180,800,000 T) - EEIRIKE It E&E - &£
ERHETXRIE -

BREZBRBER -_"FFTN\E-B—HE&T I
WEEHEESAREE K KWERRE—_FTF
NF+ZA=+— B HAERAFE 2 Wat Kog
HREBRER °

PIRIBEEFEZFITIT

HK$ Million
BEATT

(180.8)
180.8

WE—XMBARELEZEE
CHRARETLEE -

WEKABHABEEAPFEZSBRRN S
B A B R IA S 2 B S 2 (B



42. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)
(i) (continued) (iii)
The assets and liabilities arising from the
acquisition are as follows:

42, ¥ &6t
()
WS E Ly BEREENT

Acquiree’s

carrying
amount Fair value

WU 2
FREE AE
HKS Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEBT
Property, plant and equipment YIS - RN ERE 277.0 277.0
Prepaid land lease payments B T HEER 73.0 73.0
Inventories FE 3.2 3.2
Other receivables Hub Uiz 5.3 5.3
Goodwill [EESS 98.3 98.3
Cash and cash equivalents HE RIS ZEEY 36.5 36.5
Trade and other payables FERTBR SR R B Ath AT 50 (31.7) (31.7)
Bank borrowings and other loans RITIER R EMER (216.7) (216.7)
Minority interest DER R (64.1) (64.1)
180.8 180.8
Net assets acquired FriE EEFE 180.8
Purchase consideration — cash paid WERE-—B RS (180.8)

Cash and cash equivalents in

subsidiary acquired BB ARz e MIREEEY 36.5
Net cash outflow on acquisition WeBE 7 30 4 H FEE (144.3)
(v) On 18th January 2008, the Group completed vy RZZEZENF—A+N\A  AEBETKKED

to acquire an effective interest of 70.9% in The AREREERERAR(THEKRE)709%E

Legation Quarter Limited (“Legation”) at a cash
consideration of US$10.4 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$81.0 million). Legation is
currently engaged in the catering and leasing
business.

The acquired business did not significantly
contribute to the Group’s revenue and profit for
both the period from the date of completion to
31st December 2008 and the year if the acquisition
had occurred on 1st January 2008.

iz - &R EA10,400,000% T (L HEE B
81,000,000/ 7T) - WA KRE BRI EIREER R
HEHS -

REZABBER _FTN\FE—-F—HET A
WEEHBEEAAEEETKKERRE—TZ
NE+ZA=+—BHRARAFE 2 W K&g
HREXNER °
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42. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

(iv) (continued)
Details of net assets acquired are as follows:

42, EXEH @)
(v) (#&)
PR L R E 2 BT ¢

HK$ Million

BEBT

Purchase consideration — cash paid WIERE-BNES (81.0)

Fair value of net assets acquired (see below)  FrUtEEEEFE Y AFE (RTX) 47.2
Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, U8 —FKHE R FEA 2 2

recognised as intangible assets ERRABLEE (33.8)

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair
value of net assets acquired reflected the normal
premium paid for such a property investment
company.

The assets and liabilities arising from the

WERABHBEER P HEZSRRRAZ M ER
BRAXNZ EFRE

WREL2EERAENT

acquisition are as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Construction in progress
Properties under development
Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables

Bank borrowings and other loans

70.9% of net assets acquired

Purchase consideration — cash paid
Cash and cash equivalents in
subsidiary acquired

Net cash inflow on acquisition
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Acquiree’s

carrying
amount Fair value

WUEE T~
IRMEE NFE
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBIT BEBIT
YIS - MR R 0.6 0.6
FETE 142.3 142.3
BHREAYE 33.3 33.3
H Ath U 2.6 2.6
RERBEEED 147.7 147.7
FE(F AR IR N B A A 3R (68.1) (68.1)
RITIERREMER (191.8) (191.8)
66.6 66.6
FrusB870.9% 4 &= FE 47.2
WERE-ENBRE (81.0)

g B a2 e RIREEEY

147.7
WhE 2 IR e mAFRE 66.7



43. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The significant material related-party transactions during
the year were:

43. BEALTRS

FRETZERFEALRZWT ¢

2008 2007
—ZEETN\F ZETLF
Note HKS$ Million HKS$ Million
hEs BEAT BEAT
Income from/(expense to) entities WAKRE /(B ER) AT
controlled by key management FTEEEER—BRER
and a shareholder (and his families) B2 R P EEE
of the Company:—
— Management fee income received — B e EE(KE)
from Jinguang Property BRARCEBBRA
(Chengdu) Limited (@ 1.6 1.2
— Income from supply of water to —RamamEe e
Jinhai Paper and Pulping HEFR AT
Industrial Company Limited #Hok Z A (o) 30.3 24.7
— Interest paid on shareholders’ loans —BNREEZRFE
— Creator Holdings Limited —BEEEBR AR © (2.7) (44.0)
— Genesis Capital Group Limited —EgEEERAA @) (5.3) (26.1)
~ OEl Kang, Eric — &Ml (e) - (6.6)
(8.0) (76.7)

(@ On 4th July 2007, the Group entered into a project

@ RN-TTLFLAMAB  AEEEEXRKREE

management agreement with Jinguang Property
(Chengdu) Limited (“Jinguang”), a company
indirectly controlled by the Oei family for a period
of 18 months commenced from 1st July 2007 for
a total service fee of RMB2,180,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$2,439,000). Income from
Jinguang was conducted on terms as set out in
the agreement governing this transaction. The
agreement was ended at year end.

The Group entered a water supply agreement with
Jinhai Paper Pulping Industrial Company Limited
(*Jinhai”), a company indirectly controlled by the
Oei family, for a period of 3 years commencing
from 1st January 2006. Income from Jinhai was
conducted on terms as set out in the agreement
governing this transaction. The agreement was
ended at year end.

On 12th January 2009, the Group entered into the
supplemental agreement with Jinhai for extending
the term of the water supply agreement for a
further 3 years from 1st January 2009.

TH S HBEKE)BRARN(EHXEE]DE]
VEBEEWSE A _TTt&F A —HREAH
1818 A » @RS E A ARK2,180,000 T (4HEE
72,439,000 7T ) © JEW & KB 2 WA THIRE
BNz HHEMEIGARET - EEAHNENF
RBFAETR o

AEBEEXFEREEN 2 8HSBREES
RAR(T&& DRIk B -—FTRF—
A—BEASH=F - BB 2WATIRRE
WR5Z HHEABIGRETE - BEAHNEREFR
RRAER ©

RZZEZNF-—A+ZH  AEEESEITUH
R SHKBEZEFRE _TTNAF—A—
HRERBEIMER=F °
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43. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(©)

The Group entered into various loan agreements
with Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”), one
of the substantial shareholders, under which
the Group might borrow up to HK$800.0 million
or its equivalent in other currency from Creator
during a period of 36 months from the date of the
agreement. The loan was unsecured and interest
bearing at HK dollar prime rate plus 2.0%. There
was no outstanding amount due to Creator by the
Group as at 31st December 2007 and 2008.

On 8th October 2007, the Company entered into
a revolving loan agreement with Genesis Capital
Group Limited (“Genesis”), one of the substantial
shareholders, under which the Group might borrow
up to HK$1,000.0 million for a period of 36 months
from the date of such agreement. The loan was
unsecured and interest bearing at HK dollar prime
rate plus 2.0%. There was no outstanding amount
due to Genesis by the Group as at 31st December
2007 and 2008.

On 17th July 2007, the Group entered into an
assignment agreement with Mr. OEl Kang, Eric
(“Mr. Oei”), an Executive Director of the Company,
and a local bank under which the bank agreed to
and make available to Mr. Oei a term loan facility of
up to US$150.0 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,170.0 million) for a period of 3 weeks from
the date of the assignment agreement. Mr. Oei
had on-lent the loan of approximately HK$1,170.0
million to the Group for business development.
The loan was unsecured and interest bearing at
HK dollar prime rate plus 2.0%. The assignment
agreement was expired on 7th August 2007 and
the shareholder’s loan concerned was fully paid in
2007.

Key management compensation

Director’s fees vk
Salary and other benefits e REARER
Discretionary bonus B TEAT

Employer’s contribution to
pension scheme
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43. BEALTR S (@)

(©)

®

BAEFEIZ BEHR

AREBHFTERERZ —BIZEEBERAR (A
Z IV ZEER DG Bt AEEARA
i AR ccEANEARAEGEARS
800,000,000/ T Hith & 2 E&E - ZFEER B
EIEAR IR T RERFEN2.0%E - AEE
R-EEL+FRN_EENF+_A=F+—HBTE
R M RIEE TRIZE Y 5/IE -

R-ZEZ+F+AN\B ARFEFTERERZ —
ZAlEBBERAR([EA DIIVEBRER W
B NEB R R AR BT 361E B HAR
A A EAIE A &S 1,000,000,000/8 7 © :ZFEER
BERBRIRETRERFEIN2.0%TE - K&
BR-_ET+FN_TEENF+_A=+—B1
BRI AREERE TERZFRIE -

RIZET+FELA++H KEBEKRQRNIT
EEERAA(TELE]) B —MAMIBITE L8
Eha o B 2BTRERAELERHE—%
% % 150,000,000 2 7t ( 49 #8 & # 1,170,000,000
BIL)ZEHERRME  BEEMEAHES
HZEH BEERAEBREHZEERY
1,170,000,0008 TLVEX K ER AR - ZEEX A
EIAR IR T RERFEN2.0%E - EiEH
FONR_ETHFENALtHER  BEBRRER
BR-ETFEE -

TEEREKEZHE

2008 2007
—EENF —EELF
HK$ Million HK$ Million

AEBTT BEET
1.9 1.4

26.1 16.1

- 16.3

0.1 0.1

28.1 33.9




44. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

44, LERERERMEE

STATEMENT
(@ Reconciliation of operating (loss)/profit to net cash (@) (BB, SRR EgSEBrARe FE Y
used in operations B
2008 2007
—ZTNE “ZTtE
HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEBT BEAT
(Loss)/profit before income tax RETERAT(ER) /BH (2,921.2) 945.2
Finance income BERA (63.2) (81.4)
Depreciation and amortisation nEREH 204.4 50.1
Employee share option benefits EERIRERR 69.0 36.7
Negative goodwill released to income statement  #ElBzmKR 7 BEE - (426.7)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HETHIER 2 (W) /BB
- property, plant and equipment - WRLRE (0.1) 0.3
- Associated companies VN - (181.2)
Net exchange losses [EREETE 82.1 418
Net gain arising from the loss and E-RHitEEREEES Y
compensation of a piece of land ey (794.0) -
Fair value adjustments on investment properties &M% A TERHE 473.0 (536.8)
Provision/(Write back of provision) for impairment  {E$5%& ik 2 W1 2 BEEE
loss on properties held for sale BE/ (BERM) 0.2 (124.3)
Impairment losses on assets (Note 8) BEREEE (M) 2,335.0 -
Net (write back of provision)/provision for EURE R E R E
impairment loss on trade and other receivables  E518 (B f&EE) / BiE T E (1.5) 0.2
Write down of inventories GEMR 19.7 -
Fair value losses on derivative fTESBTIANTERE - B
financial instrument — option - 3.0
Fair value gain on financial assets BRATERERRIIR 2 RBE
at fair value through profit or loss, net N FHERE T (51.5) (32)
Dividend income REHA (2.6) -
Finance costs RERAK 2371.2 162.3
Write off minority shareholders receivables s DU R e MR - 32.9
Share of losses less profits of [E(LEE R BB B R
associated companies 85.5 (33.7)
Share of losses less profits of jointly [ElEA & DB ERET
controlled entities 81.1 6.2
Operating loss before working capital changes ~ 2E& & BAIELEIE (246.9) (108.6)
Increase in properties under development ZRAPMEELM (406.6) (1,213.1)
Increase in prepaid land lease payments TaR LA E g m (41.1) (575.7)
Decrease in properties held for sale {EHERBZMERD - 82.4
Decrease in other non-current receivables =Bt [N e P 37.0 63.3
Increase in inventories GEEN (51.3) -
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables JEUIBE TN R Bt EUZUR A/ (38 10) 472.2 (501.8)
Increase in other non-current payables and trade it 3ERENEN FUA R EMBE T R Kt
and other payables R TuE jju 604.0 105.8
(Decrease)/increase in minority interest DERRER(RD) /0 (1.9) 0.8
Cash generated from/(used in) operations EEME/(MR)RE 365.4 (2,146.9)
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44. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (continued)
(b) Acquisition of subsidiaries

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment
Construction in progress
Properties under development
Prepaid land lease payments
Intangible assets

Inventories

Other receivables

Goodwill

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
Bank borrowings and other loans
Deferred tax liabilities
Shareholders’ loan

Other loans

Minority interest

Goodwill on acquisition
Minority interest

Satisfied by:
Cash consideration
Shareholders’ loan

(c) Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of acquisition of

subsidiaries

Cash consideration
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

(d) Non-cash transactions

The significant non-cash transaction was related to
a piece of land held by the Group with net carrying
amount of HK$573.0 million which was swapped

(b) WIEKHIELT

PriE & EHE
ER I
2Tz
BRPYE

AN TSR
BIVEE

7E

H At FE YR

A

Re MRSEEY
JE SRR AR N Bt A 3R
BIEAFT S AE
RITER R E AL E K
EIERABE
PBRER

HAib &K
PR R

WHEE L 2 B8
PR R

PV ES -
Re(E
BRER

RerE
FrER e KRS EEY

d) FBREXH

in exchange for another piece of land offered
by local government authority. Details could be

described in the Note 6(a).
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44. FERERBRMEE (@)

2008
—EENF
HK$ Million

BEET

280.0
142.3
33.3
2,909.8
29.8
3.2

10.1
140.3
634.0
(105.0)
(1.4)
(415.5)
(408.7)
(1,078.7)
(625.9)
(64.1)

1,483.5
262.9

(455.0)
1,291.4

2,370.1
(1,078.7)

1,291.4

) RUBHBRARZRERREEEYWRLF
BT

2008
—ET)N\F
HK$ Million

BEBT

(2,370.1)
634.0

(1,736.1)

BEAEBRERZERAEBN—IREEFEA
573,000,000/ 7T 2 £ 3 # 55 — 0 5 BR AT
Rt 2 b o FEIBEAMIFE6(a) ©




45. EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE

(@)

On 15th April 2009, the Company and its non-
wholly owned subsidiary, Hong Kong Energy
(Holdings) Limited (“HKE”), each of them
proposed to make a bonus issue of warrants to
their respective shareholders on the basis of 1
bonus warrant for every 10 shares held. Their
respective subscription prices will be determined
on 22nd April 2009 at a discount to the average
closing price of their respective shares for the 5
consecutive trading days (up to and including 22nd
April 2009).

There are no significant financial effects to the
Company and HKE upon the grant of such bonus
warrants.

On 15th April 2009, the Company proposed
to reduce certain amount in its share premium
account and transfer the reduced amount to
the credit of its contributed surplus account for
distribution to its shareholders on the basis of one
HKE bonus warrant for every approximately 144
Company’s shares held, which will be satisfied
wholly by way of distribution in specie of the bonus
warrants to be issued by HKE to be held by the
Company. The proposed reduction of certain
amount in its share premium account and the
distribution will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the special general meeting of the
Company to be convened.

There is no significant financial impact to the
Company arising from the distribution.

46. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain comparative figures as set out in the
consolidated financial statements and the related notes
thereto have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentations which was changed largely
due to the adoption of new accounting standards.

45. HEERHEEE

(@)

RZZZNFOATERB  ARm REFE2EN
BRAEEFERZERBRARSEER [
HEBZBRRETANRBRESE  BERERE
10BN DAL AR BAERE - RBERN —F
ENFHA-—T-_BERERAZENDBE-_FTT
NEMA-+-H(BRE%ZA) LEESERZAF
BT EZITEETE °

RHOABANRBEEZLBEHARRBNEEHEE
IRERENEANBZE -

RZZZNFOATRERB - ARREZHIRERK
aEBERAETE2H  UHER SREREE
BABKRE  UDRTEHER  EEREBHALN
144 R R 3 — (D BB R L IRALH R AhE
& DIRBAENDIRT A2 BARRREELT
ZEBHERATNRBIAERIEL - EZHRRD
HERANETEREDRAFRRRNGEMZ
ARBRREFRAE LHUER - HAEE -

DKL EH AR BBREATGHE

46. LEEBF
L AMBEREREENH NS THRETEEHH
5 U AAREEERMT S e KBS 2 2%
I
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Listed below are the principal subsidiaries, associated
companies and jointly controlled entities which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net assets
of the Group.

1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(@)

Name

4

Investment holding

REER

China Galaxy Holdings Limited*#
REIEERR DR

China Harvest Holdings Limited+

PITRERR AR

Dorboy Investment Limited*
BEREBRAR

Eden Investment Group Limited+#
FaREEEER A

HKC (China) Management
Company Limited#™
BARR(PE)ERERAR

HKC Guilin Expressway Company
Limited*
BERFENSRREERAR

HKC Infrastructure (Holdings)
Limited (formerly known as
Hong Kong Infrastructure
Limited)+*

BB R AR (1K)
BRRAR(AEEELR
BRAE)

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Bz
LR

ERERRL

Hong Kong
BE

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ HE

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ HE

British Virgin Islands/PRC
EBEAEE/TE

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

hE

WEBERE

Hong Kong/PRC

BE/

British Virgin Islands/PRC
RERTEE/TE
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TR EERRYAEBEER SEEFEFEN

FEZIZMEAR

Principal activities

TREH

Investment holding

BERR

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

REER

Provision of management
services in the PRC
R R E I R

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding
REEKR

FEMBLA

BENRIREER

Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

EBIRA/
EfFHER

HKS$1
AT

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000/ 7T

HK$1,000
1,000%7C

US$1
Ev

US$4,000,000
4,000,000% 7T

HKS1

T

US$1
E

A3 -

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
FrstEs
EfMER
BA

100%

75%

%

80%

100%

100%

100%

100%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@)

Name

e

Investment holding (continued)

REER(E)

HKC (Nanxun) Holdings Limited*
BAER(RE)BMMER
BRAEN

HKC Property Investments
(China) Limited+*

BARRMERE(RE)
BRAR

HKC Qingdao Investments Limited*
BARRBERERRAA

HKC Shenyang Heping
Investments Limited*

ERRREGNTRE
BRAR:

HKC Shenyang Hunan
Investments Limited*

BRERFEGERRE
BRAR:

HKC (Yangpu) Water Supply Limited*
ERERCEM) BKERARY

HKE (Chongaing) Holdings Limited+*

HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited*
BAMR(ERN) R ARAR)!

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Baliiz vy
g
EREREN

Hong Kong/PRC
it/

British Virgin Islands/PRC
EREREE/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ H

Hong Kong/PRC
Bt/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ H

Hong Kong/PRC
BA/

British Virgin Islands/PRC
EERTEE,/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ H

1. EEMBLQT @)

Principal activities

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

BEEK

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

BEEK

Investment holding

BERR

Issued Percentage
share capital/ of equity/
Paid up Paid up
registered registered
capital capital held
st 3574
BEIRE/ EFNFHER
ENMER BAL
HK$2 100%

2B
US$1 100%

o
HK$1 100%

187
HK$1 100%

18T
HK$1 100%

187
HK$10,000 100%

10,000 7T
US$1 100%

E
HK$1 100%

18T
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1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@)

Name

4

Investment holding (continued)

REZR(E)

Hong Kong Construction
(Interior Contracting) Limited*
BARR(REIR)ARAR)!

Hong Kong Construction Tianjin
Tuan Po Hu Investment Limited*

BERRREZERHRERRAR!

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings)
Limited+©
BAIRR (AR AR A R0

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings)
Limited+*
BEHRR(ER)BROA

Hong Kong New Energy
(Si Zi Wang Qi) Wind Power
Limited+

ERMAER(IF )R
BB

Hong Kong New Energy
(Si Zi Wang Qi Il) Wind Power
Limited*a
BEAMER(NTEE=H) R
BRDA

lvy Garden Investments Limited+#

Karbony Investment Limited*

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Bz
LR

ERERRL

Hong Kong/PRC

BB/ H

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ T

Cayman Islands/Hong Kong

REeRs,/ &4

British Virgin Islands/PRC
ERERES,/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ T

Hong Kong/PRC
EA/

British Virgin Islands/PRC
ERERES,/

Hong Kong/ PRC
BE/

196 HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2008

1. EEMEDE @)

Principal activities

TREH

Investment holding

BAEK

Investment holding

BERR

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

BERR

Investment holding

RARR

Investment holding
REER

Investment holding

BERR

Investment holding
REER

Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

EBIRA/
EfFHER

HK$10,000
10,0007

HKS$1
AT

HK$7,635,347.55
7,635,347.55/8 T

Us$1
Ev

HK$2
28T

HK$1,000
1,00047C

Us$1
Ev

HK$10,000,000
10,000,000 7

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
PSR,/
ENTFMER
BA

100%

100%

74.99%

100%

100%

74.99%

100%

100%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(@)

(b)

Name

e

Investment holding (continued)

REER(E)

Noble Quest Enterprises Limiteds#

Sinoriver International Limited+#

BIERER AR

The Legation Quarter Limited+2
MERBEEERRRAR

Property investment

NREE

Hong Kong Construction (China)
Engineering Company Limited*

BERR(FE)TIRBRAF

Karbony Real Estate Development
(Shenzhen) Company Limited+*
HREHERE(RY)ERAF

Lipmar Hero Limited+

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Baliiz vy
g

EREREL

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
EBRUES,/BE

British Virgin Islands/
PRC
EREREE,/

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ H

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

NEBERE

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

NEBEL%E

Hong Kong/ PRC
B/ H

1. EEMBLQT @)

Principal activities

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding

BRI

Investment in apartments
and shopping mall of
South Ocean Centre,
Shenzhen, the PRC

RERBRIIFEEHRLE
FESNRES

Investment in offices, apartments
and shopping mall of
Shun Hing Square,
Shenzhen, the PRC
RERERIIGEESH
WOE - FEEMRES

Investment in the parcel of
land in Jiangmen

RETFI—ELH
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Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

EBIRA/
EfFBER

US$1

Ev

US$1
e

HK$82,105,263

82,105,263/ 7T

US$85,500,000
85,500,000 7T

US$155,000,000
155,000,000 7T

HK$10,000
10,000/ 7T

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
st 3574
ENMER
BOt

100%

100%

70.9%

100%

100%

89.5%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

Name

e

Property investment (continued)

NERE(R)

Shenzhen Jing-Guang Development
Company Limited+"
R R RERER A

Sky Universe Limited?

Sweet World Limited*
REBRAR:

Toplan Company Limited*
ZEBRAF)N

RIABREE LR ERBRRF

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Baliiz vy
LR

ERERRL

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

IEBERE

British Virgin Islands/
Hong Kong
EREREE/FE

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ T

Hong Kong/PRC
B/ H

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

IEBERE
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1. TERBQF @)

Principal activities

Investment in offices, apartments
and shopping mall of
Jing Guang Centre,
Shenzhen, the PRC
RERBIRIFER L
BRLE - FEBN
RE%S

Property holding of
9/F., Tower 1
South Seas Centre,
Tsimshatsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
RRUNEBNENDERFPL
19 2 W%

Investment in apartment of
President Mansion,
Shanghai, the PRC

RETE HBERABR
FEEN

Investment in apartment of
South Ocean Centre,
Shenzhen, the PRC

RERERYFEROH
AEEN

Investment in property for restaurants

and retails in Beijing, the PRC
BRERRLRNRIFEERTE

Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

EEIRA/
EfHBER

HK$230,000,000
230,000,000/ 7

Us$1
Ev

HK$100
100787

HK$3
3BT

US$10,660,000
10,660,000 7T

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
iest: 574
ENMER
BOt

80%

100%

100%

100%

70.9%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(©)

Name

T

Property development
NERR(E)

Huzhou Nanxun International Building
Market Center Company Limited+#-

B ER AR AR

Shanghai Guangtian Real Estate

Development Company Limited+ao

LERAFMEREBR AR

Tianjin Jingang Real Estate

Investment Company Limited+#t

REMEBEFREBRAA

Tianjin Renai Properties Development

Company Limited+
REMCBEXERARRA

Tianjin Ruigang Enterprise

Management Company Limited-+#

REmEELEERARAF

BREX(ER)ARAF

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Baliiz vy
g

EREREL

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

NEBELE

PRC

Limited liability company

i
BREMERR

PRC

Limited liability company

hE
BREMERR

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

NEBELE

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

h

NEBERE

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

NEBELE

1. EENBAT @)

Principal activities

Development and operation of
a building market centre
in Huzhou, the PRC

A BN R RSB
[k Ly

Real estate development in
Hongkou District in Shanghai,
the PRC

R B BT N ERERE

Real estate development in
Nankai District in Tianijin,
the PRC
RABEXETEREREEE

Real estate development in
Tuanbo Lake of Jinhai County
in Tianjin, the PRC

R B RE TR G E R
RERE

Real estate development in
Tianjin, the PRC
RABREREFEHE

Real estate development at Nanjing

North Road in Heping District in
Shenyang, the PRC

R EEG TN R R
RERE
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Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

BEITRA/
EfEMER

US$48,000,000
48,000,000% 7T

RMB900,000,000
AR #900,000,0007T

RMB500,000,000
AR #500,000,0007T

HK$304,200,000
304,200,000/ 7T

HK$529,000,000
529,000,000/ 7T

HK$500,000,000
500,000,000/ 7T

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
FrstEs/
EfTMER
BOl

100%

60%

75%

*%

100%

100%

100%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
Name kind of legal entity
Ak,
LEmER
At EHEREL

(c)  Property development (continued)

MERE ()

EEEX(EB)BR AR PRC
Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise
h
NEBERE

BEER(BR)EXARAAM PRC
Wholly foreign-owned

enterprise
H
NIEERE
(d) Infrastructure and alternative energy
HERERLR
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) PRC
Company Limited+#t Sino-foreign equity joint
SNEAEERAT)BRAF venture
h
POEERE

Chongaing Huanaiu Petrochemical ~ PRC

Company Limited+#0 Limited liability company
EERIRALERAR- H
BREMERTA

HKC (Guilin) Expressway Company ~ PRC

Limited+o Wholly foreign-owned
EMBERRARERAR enterprise
i
WEBERE
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1. EEMEDE @)

Issued

share capital/

Paid up

registered

Principal activities capital

BEIRA/
TBXEH EfEMER

Real estate development at Ningbo HK$928,000,000
Road in Heping District in Shenyang, 928,000,000/ T
the PRC

R ERE AT R SRR

REEE
Real estate development RMB200,000,000
in Qingdao, the PRC AR #200,000,0007T
RPEESRERE
Construction and operation of HK$100,000,000

a 30 megawatts wind-powered 100,000,000/ 7T
electricity generating station
in Heilongjiang, the PRC
R BRI EREREE
—{H3¥E2:230,000F Rt

ZRNBEER

Investment in ethanol energy RMB180,470,000
business in Chongaing, ARH180,470,0007T
the PRC

ROEEERELEERER

Construction and operation RMB543,900,000
of a toll road in Guilin, AR 543,900,0007T
the PRC on a Build-Operate-

Transfer contract

REBZE—CE—8Y
EREREREE
e Gl E NS

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
Pt/
EffEmER
BOH

100%

100%

86%

70.65%

100%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(d)

Name

A

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Baliiz e
g

EREREL

Infrastructure and alternative energy (continued)

ERREBRER(H)

Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling)
Company Limited+0
BERNRE(BR)BRAR

Yangpu Water Supply Company
Limited+
EREKERET AR

BRITLRNT ERELER AT

BRATELRI T IR A AR A R

PRC
Sino-foreign
equity joint venture
i
RIRERE

PRC
Sino-foreign
equity joint venture
i
RIRELE

PRC
Sino-foreign
equity joint venture
i
RRERE

PRC
Sino-foreign
equity joint venture
i
RIRELE

1.

Principal activities

Construction and operation of

a 30 megawatts wind-powered

electricity generating station
in Heilongjiang, the PRC
R BRI EREREE
— A% E 830,000 T R
ZRANBER

Operation and maintenance of
raw water supply facilities
and water supply services
in Yangpu Economic
Development Zone

REBEBEREREER
RERKBRERIEA R
KBRS

Construction and operation of a

FEME QT (#)

Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

BEITRA/
ENEMER

HK$150,100,000
150,100,000/ 7T

RMB181,285,714
AR#181,285,7147C

RMB166,480,000

49.5 megawatts wind-powered A R #166,480,0007T

electricity generating station in

Inner Mongolia, the PRC
ROBERRARER EEREE

249,500 T R 2 BN EHER

Construction and operation of

RMB8,824,056

a49.5 megawatts wind-powered A E#8,824,0567T

electricity generating station in

Inner Mongolia, the PRC
RPBEARLERERESEREE

$#49,500T LAs 2 AN EER
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Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
st 274
ENMER
BOt

86.6%

65%

100%

74.99%



1. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(e)

Name

4

Construction/property services

BE/MERYE

Hong Kong Construction
(Hong Kong) Limited
ERER(BR)IRERAR

Hong Kong Construction (China)
Engineering Company Limited+*
ERRR(PE) IRERAR

Shenzhen Kumagai Property
Management Company Limited+*
R EANEEBERAA]

Place of
incorporation/
operation and
kind of legal entity
Baliiz v
g
EREREN

Hong Kong
BE

PRC

Wholly foreign-owned
enterprise

i

IEBERE

PRC
Sino-foreign
equity joint venture
h
PIRERE
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1. FEMBELQTR @)

Principal activities

Provision of construction service

AR RS

Provision of construction service

AR RS

Provision of property management
service

REDEEERY

Issued

share capital/
Paid up
registered
capital

BEITRE/
ENEMER

HK$150,000,000

150,000,000/ 7T

US$85,500,000

85,500,000% 7T

HK$60,000,000
60,000,000/ 7T

Percentage
of equity/
Paid up
registered
capital held
FrstEs/
ENMER
BOt

100%

100%

100%



2. PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

(@

(b)

O]

Name

#TE

Property
LIES

Hong Kong Construction SMC Development
Limited+*
HEERERERER QA

Hong Kong Construction (Investment) Limited+#

FroEk (EX) ARAR

Hotel management and operation
EEEERESE

Hong Kong Construction Kam Lung Limited+*

Alternative energy

BREER

CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power
Company Limited+#0

hETREER(H R RN BERRAF

CECIC HKC Wind Power Company Limited+#o
FETREA R ) EE (RIL) BRAR]

Linyi National Environmental New Energy
Company Limited+#
P RIRFTBERB IR AR+

2. TEBELQT

Issued

share capital/
registered
capital
BEITIRA,
A%

HK$10,000,000

10,000,000/ 7T

HK$10,000

10,000/ 7T

HK$100,000
100,000/ 7T

RMB189,317,900
AR #5189,317,9007C

RMB545,640,000

AR #E545,640,0007T

RMB100,000,000
A #100,000,0007T

Place of
incorporation/
operation
Rl AV
AR B,

Hong Kong/PRC
B,/

Hong Kong
s

Hong Kong/PRC
Ee s

PRC
F

PRC
i

PRC
i
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Group’s equity
interest
REBZ
ity

40%

20%

45%

40%

40%

40%



3. PRINCIPAL JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES

Name

Sy

Property development

YIRER

Shanghai Jingang North Bund Real Estate
Company Limited+#o

EBEBILINEBERBER DA

Notes:

I

Form of Place of

business structure/ establishment/ Group’s equity

Kind of legal entity operation interest

EBEBEA REBZ

EREREL PRAL$8 e i Bh MR A

Sino-foreign equity PRC 25%
joint venture =8

RINEERE

Wi

ke

Unofficial English transliterations or translations for
identification purposes only

Interest held by subsidiaries
Not audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
Newly set up or acquired in 2008

Hong Kong Energy (Holdings) Limited is listed on the
SEHK of which the stock code is 987.

On 3rd April 2009, the Group disposed of its entire
shareholding in China Galaxy Holdings Limited to an
independent third party. The management opined that
the disposal will not cause any potential benefits or
liabilities to the Group.

The companies are considered as wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group from the accounting
perspective, as the 25% shareholders of such companies
are not entitied to receive any future dividends and
sharing of residual interest.
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FEEAR T T2k EleE - (E M5

BRmEARFE
WIFhERRCB ST RN ERMERX
R-TTN\FHAIHEE

BRHER(ER)BR AR N LT - RIORER
987 -

RZZTZNFWOA=R  FEERBUE=FHEER
TRIEEERARZ2HRN - ERERE - LREE
PERAEETREFMEENRKAE -

B % 5 R B2 25 % A SR A YR A AR R SR AR B K JE A
FIEE UREHAENE  ZFRARREALEE
ZEEMBAT -



2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
“TE)N\F e e ZEERF —EERF —EEMF
HKS$ Million HK$ Million HKS Million HK$ Million HK$ Million
BEET BEAT BEAT BEAT BEET
Consolidated income statement {FRERFK
Revenues Wz 295 706 396 248 1,007
(Loss)/profit before income tax FERiRT(E18) % H (2,921)] 945 574 340 259
Income tax credit/(expense) mEFER,/ (ZH) 111 (95) 4 20 (5)
(Loss)/profit for the year REF(ER)/EF (2,810)f 850 578 360 254
Minority interests PEBRR R 164 (15) 1 8 -
(Loss)/profit attributable to equity AR FIMREREREEA
holders of the Company FEfE(B8) /S HH (2,646)| 835 579 368 254
Dividends %8 122 827 419 116 -
Consolidated balance sheet FEEEARR
Net current assets/(liabilities) TEEE/(BE)FE 1,833 5,938 787 137 (264)
Non-current assets IEREEE 14,022 10,450 5177 3,344 2,657
Non-current liabilities FRBERE (@,273) (3,003) 2,124) (1,359) (796)
Net assets including minority interests & & %48 (835
DEREF ) 11,582 13,385 3,840 2,122 1,597
Share capital [N 83 82 37 23 1,948
Reserves s 10,756 13,313 3,867 2,071 (241)
Minority interests DY R 743 (10) (64) 28 (110)
Total equity G g 11,582 13,385 3,840 2,122 1,597
2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
T N\E e 3 ZTTRF ZTTREF —TTNE
HKS HKS HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
(Loss)/earnings per share B (EE),/BF
- basic —HAR (0.33)I 0.16 0.22 0.16 0.13
— diluted —#E (0.33) 0.16 0.22 0.16 0.13
Dividend per share BIREE
- attributable to the year —FEEL - 0.135 0.1 0.05 -
Return on total equity R EZE )RR (24.3%)| 6.4% 15.1% 16.9% 15.9%
—
Notes: 5T

1

Return on total equity represents the current year’s profit/loss
for the year expressed as a percentage of the closing total
equity for the year concerned.

The comparative figures of the results of the Group for
the year ended 31st December 2004 and the assets and
liabilities of the Group as at 31st December 2004 have been
restated as a result of the adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

1.

PR EREERRE AAF RN, FRNERFEFRRR
RSB LZANL

BHRRAE BT ASRGNE LW BWEER  BEGT
EARRE  AEBRBE—TTMF+ A=+ —RILFEN
EEURRZZTNE+ A=+ —HNEERBBEOHLERY
FE&B -
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES #&&¥%

Location Existing use Term of lease
2 BRIAE T E A
The shopping mall, all car parking spaces and various apartment units Commercial/Residential Medium
South Ocean Centre R FE HHj

Dongmen Road Central,
Shenzhen, the PRC
BYES - EEES
REREFEEA

R ELRY

RPIPER

[E2is3asRNN

The shopping mall, all car parking spaces, various apartment units Commercial/Residential Medium
and 1/F, 2/F, 42/F, 52/F and 58/F offices mEMEE T
Shun Hing Square, Di Wang Commercial Centre

No. 5002 Shennan Road East,

Luohu, Shenzhen, the PRC

BYRS - FrEEES -

ZAF=EE N

118 - 218 - 4218 .

5212 RSB A E

Hh BRI 2848

IR R K 500255

S EEIS T EP L

The shopping mall, all car parking spaces, various apartment units Commercial/Residential Medium
and offices [CEY4EES HHER
Jingguang Centre

Yanhe Road North,

Luohu, Shenzhen, the PRC

B - REE®RS

ZEEEEMLRPAE

R B R 31| 28 48

Eazlblaicy

RET L

Various units for restaurants and retails Commercial Medium
No. 23 Qianmen [HES  EA
Dong Dajie
Dongcheng

Beijing, the PRC
ZEEREBREENEL
LR
SRR A PIER R 12355%
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PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRPYZE

Site area GFA Attributable
Location Intended use Shareholding (sq.m.) (sq.m.) GFA (sg.m.)
[EEIEE
B ETE BHAZRR ZER
i FEAE R D, (FHXK) (F7XK) (F7XK)
1 A parcel of land located in the north Office, hotel and retall 25% 56,670.0 250,000.0 62,500.0
side of the International Passenger WAE BERTE
Transportation Terminal of
Hongkou District, Shanghai
fIR ST DR BB EESN
bz —tEtH
2 Anparcel of land located at No.4 Office and commercial 60% 26,820.0 164,420.0 98,652.0
Sichuan North Road, WAERMEE
Hongkou District, Shanghai
fiz R I ORI RR4%%
b
3 A parcel of land along the eastern Residential 100% 804,000.0 836,938.0 836,938.0
shore of Tuanbo Lake, F=
Jinhai County, Tianjin
IR R ET R RRRRED
mE—EL
4 Aparcel of land located south of Residential 75% 77,961.0 150,000.0 112,500.0
Hongqi South Road, F=
Nankai District, Tianjin
(i AR % T R R R AL R & e R
Z—fELi
5  Aparcel of land located at Residential and retail 100% 67,786.0 270,800.0 270,800.0
Ningpo Road, FERTE
Heping District, Shenyang
(7 B5 AT R B B
Z MRt
6  Aparcel of land located at Office and commercial 100% 7,105.0 92,000.0 92,000.0
Nanjing North Road, WAERMEE

Heping District, Shenyang
fiz &R AT R B R
Z— MRt
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PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRPYE @

(continued)

Site area GFA Attributable
Location Intended use Shareholding (sg.m.) (sg.m.) GFA (sg.m.)
FEGIEE
MAEETE BHRLZER ZEkE
btk BERE RN (FFHXK) (FHXK) (F7XK)
7 A parcel of land located at Mix-use complex 100% 270,628.0 400,000.0 400,000.0
Nanxun Economic FERR
Development District,
Huzhou City,
Zhejiang Province?
0Ny Pl
HERERER
2 — VB
8  Anparcel of land located at Residential and commercial 89.5% 101,343.3 202,686.6 181,404.5
north of Hong Kong-Macau Pier, TEREE
Jiangmen, Guangdong Province
IR ERE TP
RIS SEIL A
Z— i

2,064,794.5

#  The Nanxun project is expected to complete in the first half of ~ * MSEEEAENAFE L ¥FxK - BRERBERRE
this year. Preleasing and presales have already begun. g
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HKC (HOLDINGS) LIMITED
FRER (BR)ARLQA

Q/F Tower 1, South Seas Centre, /5 Mody Road
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

BENERDEREMETSEFH O 1H912

www.hkcholdings.com
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